THESIS ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES B215

Spatiotemporal Niche-Partitioning of Bacterioplankton Community across Environmental Gradients in the Baltic Sea

PEETER LAAS



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Marine Systems Institute

This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Gene Technology on June 2, 2016.

- Supervisor: Dr. Inga Lips, Marine Systems Institute at Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia
- **Opponents**: Prof. Dr. Klaus Jürgens, Leibniz Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemünde, Germany

Prof. Dr. Ain Heinaru, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology at University of Tartu

Defence of the thesis: 5th of July 2016

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at the Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for doctoral or equivalent academic degree.

/Peeter Laas/

Copyright: Peeter Laas, 2016 ISSN 1406-4723 ISBN 978-9949-23-981-8 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-23-982-5 (PDF) LOODUS- JA TÄPPISTEADUSED B215

Bakterplanktoni koosluse ajalis-ruumiline nišijaotus läbi keskkonnagradientide Läänemeres

PEETER LAAS



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	8
1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
1.1 Bacterioplankton cell size and abundance	
1.2 Importance of bacteria through their functional roles ecosystems	
1.3 Microbial ecology – theory in the making	14
1.4 Microbial structuring of marine ecosystems	16
1.4.1 Ribosomal RNA as marker for BCC determination bacterial diversity	
1.4.2 BCC between the scales and gradients	17
1.5 The Baltic Sea and the Gulf of Finland	
1.5.1 The Baltic Sea	
1.5.2 The Gulf of Finland	
1.5.3 Bacterioplankton community via next generation technologies	
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	
3. MATERIAL AND METHODS	
3.1 Study area	
3.2 Sample collection and filtration	
3.2 DNA extraction and 16S rDNA amplification	
3.3 Sequencing	
3.4 Bioinformatics	
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1 Physicochemical structuring in the study area	
4.2 Bacterioplankton community composition	

4.2.1 Overview of dynamics of bacterioplankton	community
composition on bacterial class level	
4.2.2 Niches occupied core populations in the ecosystem	
4.2.3 Temporal dynamics above and below the oxycline	
4.5 Comparison with other similar ecosystems	39
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	
PUBLICATIONS	55
Paper I	55
Paper II	65
Paper III	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
ABSTRACT	
RESÜMEE	
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	
CURRICULUM VITAE	

1. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This dissertation is based on three papers, in the following referred to by their Roman numerals:

I <u>Laas, P.</u>, Simm, J., Lips, I., Metsis, M. (2014). Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). *Journal of Marine Systems*, 129, 127 - 134.

II Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Lips, U., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Redoxspecialized bacterioplankton metacommunity in a temperate estuary. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0122304

III <u>Laas, P.</u>, Šatova, E., Lips, I., Lips, U., Simm, J., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Near-bottom hypoxia impacts dynamics of bacterioplankton assemblage throughout water column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). *PLoS ONE*, 11(5), e0156147.

Author's Contribution to the Publications

 ${\bf I}-{\rm The}$ author was responsible for collecting and processing the samples, doing the molecular analyses, doing some of the statistical analyses and writing the manuscript.

II – The author was responsible for collecting and processing the samples, doing the molecular analyses, doing some of the bioinformatics analyses, doing the statistical analyses and writing the manuscript.

III – The author was responsible for collecting and processing the samples, supervising the molecular analyses, supervising the flow cytometry analyses, doing most of the bioinformatics analyses, doing the statistical analyses and writing the manuscript.

INTRODUCTION

Studying aquatic microbiology is like drilling into the very core of life on earth. For about two billion years, aquatic microbes were the single living organisms on the planet. The evolution and environmental impact of these microbes have started a beginning for the existence of complex multicellular terrestrial organisms that can breathe oxygen. However, despite having to share the planet with these "new kids on the block", the importance of aquatic microorganisms has not disappeared. They are still essential mediators of biogeochemical transformations that most other living beings are dependent on. One can consider microbes as a foundation for an ecosystem. We stand on the shoulders of tiny giants.

Ironically, along the investigations into aquatic ecosystems the outlines of "the full picture" of prokaryotic life in these ecosystems has started to emerge just recently. This fact that of microbiologists are late to the scene has been mainly caused by methodological limitations in the past – the technological capability to tap into the structural and functional diversity of microbial life has just gotten into the reach of researchers past couple of decades. Especially the emergence of molecular methods that enable cultivation-independent investigations of microorganisms. What a treat it has been - to find such multiverse of diversity and complexity. However, a long road lies ahead making sense of it all in an ecological context.

This thesis is about microbial life along gradients. The Baltic Sea offers many. On the evolutionary scale, the Baltic Sea just appeared with the melting of a giant ice block in North Europe some eight thousand years ago. For macro-organisms it is a limited period to adapt, and this is reflected by low diversity in mesohaline regions of the sea. In contrast, it cannot be said about microbial diversity in the Baltic Sea, as is discussed in subsequent chapters. The gradients of environmental parameters (e.g. salinity, temperature, concentrations of inorganic nutrients and dissolved oxygen) and seasonal changes make this interesting study area to investigate spatiotemporal dynamics of bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) in relation to these changes.

ABBREVIATIONS

BCC – bacterioplankton community composition BLAST - Basic Local Alignment Search Tool CFU - colony forming units DNA - deoxyribonucleic acid DOC - dissolved organic carbon DOM - dissolved organic matter HELCOM - The Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission, also known as Helsinki Commission HMW-high-molecular-weight LMW-low-molecular-weight NCBI - National Center for Biotechnology Information NGS – next-generation sequencing NMDS - non-metric multidimensional scaling OMZ - oxygen minimum zone OTU - operational taxonomic unit PCR – polymerase chain reaction POM - particulate organic matter rDNA - ribosomal ribonucleic acid gene

rRNA – ribosomal ribonucleic acid

TEA – terminal electron acceptor

1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1 Bacterioplankton cell size and abundance

In marine biology plankton is a very general term for a large variety of organisms suspended in the water column that are incapable of swimming against large-scale currents. Nekton - another very broad term for organisms that do have sufficient power for such locomotion (Lalli & Parsons, 1997). Bacterioplankton is the fraction of plankton contributed by members of domain *Bacteria*. In some cases, also *Archaea* are included in the bacterioplankton. Therefore, it is important to emphasize that at the present dissertation only bacteria are considered under the term. A logarithmic scale is used to divide plankton into size categories, ranging from femtoplankton (<0.2 µm) to megaplankton (>20 cm); most of the bacterioplankton fall into picoplankton (0.2-2.0 µm). Although, some bacteria, like many cyanobacteria or some sulphur-oxidizing bacteria, occur in larger categories (Munn, 2011). In this thesis 0.2 – 5.0 µm fraction is studied, so also part of nanoplankton (2.0 – 20.0 µm) was included.

In microbial world size not only is important, moreover, it also has many different aspects tied to it. As most of the ocean is oligotrophic (low nutrient concentration), uptake of nutrients is critical. Small cells can take up nutrients more efficiently than a larger ones – surface area/volume ratio is determinative (Munn, 2011). On the other hand, certain range of cell size can put cell populations under grazing pressure, depending on the predators (Jürgens & Matz, 2002). Likewise, filamentous bacteria and those attached to particles can be more resistant to predation (Jürgens & Matz, 2002; Šimek *et al.*, 2001).

In contrast to terrestrial ecosystems, microbes contribute the main bulk of biomass in the oceans. Every drop of "the clear blue water" contains millions of microbes (bacteria, archaea, viruses and protists) - out-ranking metazoan in abundance, biomass, metabolic activity, and structural and functional genetic diversity (Pomeroy *et al.*, 2007). The estimated number of prokaryotes (bacteria and archaea) in the aquatic habitats is little over 1.1×10^{29} , majority of which is contributed by marine ecosystems (Whitman *et al.*, 1998). About two-third of this number is contributed by bacteria.

1.2 Importance of bacteria through their functional roles in aquatic ecosystems

There is a saying that "money makes the world go round", there are many who would disagree, after all, the earth has been spinning for billions of years without a scent of a penny. However, it can be stated with full confidence that "microorganisms make the biogeochemical cycles go round" and following chapter is dedicated to summarizing this process in confines of domain *Bacteria*.

No other domain of life withholds so many types of metabolism than *Bacteria* (Gottschalk, 2012), this broad range of capabilities makes their role in biogeochemical cycles so pivotal. These types of metabolisms can be divided into two main groups by sources of energy: phototrophic bacteria that use light (Table 1); and chemotrophic bacteria that use chemical reactions (Table 2).

Туре	Electron donor	Carbon source	Examples
Photolithotrophy	H ₂ O	CO ₂	Cyanobacteria
	H_2S, S^0, H_2	CO ₂	Chromatiaceae,
			Chlorobiaceae
Photoorganotrophy	Organic	Organic	Rhodospirillaceae
	substrates	substrates	_

Table 1. Types of phototrophic metabolism (Gottschalk, 2012).

Cyanobacteria are the first and still important drivers of light-driven primary production (CO₂ fixation; Figure 1). Phytoplankton is accountable for little over half of the net primary production on planet Earth (Behrenfeld *et al.*, 2001), 10% (~4 PgC y⁻¹) of which is contributed by cyanobacteria (Rousseaux & Gregg, 2014). The proliferation of ancient cyanobacteria carrying out oxygenic photosynthesis brought fourth redox-revolution on the planetary scale about 2.5 billion years ago (Hamilton *et al.*, 2015). *Cyanobacteria* are also among few groups of organisms that are capable of fixing N₂, giving them an important role in the nitrogen cycle. Genus *Trichodesmium* is responsible for fixation of 240 Tg N₂ per year, which is over 40% of the total global nitrogen fixation (Berman-Frank *et al.*, 2003). Two filamentous cyanobacterium genera, *Aphanizomenon* and *Nodularia*, carry out most of the nitrogen fixation in the Baltic Sea (Larsson *et al.*, 2001).

The average depth of the ocean is 4000 m and light can reach up to only 300 m. Therefore, the body of water that is aphotic – is not penetrated by light – is massively larger $(1.27 \times 10^{18} \text{ m}^3)$ than the euphotic zone $(3.0 \times 10^{16} \text{ m}^3)$, where light-dependent primary production by phytoplankton can take place (Orcutt *et al.*, 2011). For a long time, it was believed that organic carbon reached this "dark ocean" only via biological and microbial carbon pump (Figure 1). However, in the 1970s when technology became advanced enough to overcome the extreme pressure to study these depths, species-rich ecosystems were discovered around hot springs on the Galapagos volcanic Rift at a depth of 2.5 km (Corliss *et al.*, 1979; Lonsdale, 1977). These ecosystems are supported by chemolithoautotrophic bacteria (and archaea) that fix CO₂ using energy derived from oxidation of reduced inorganic compounds (like ammonia, iron, sulphur, sulphide, manganese; Table 2). Moreover, these microbes can be divided as free-living and those in symbiosis with macro-organisms (Cavanaugh *et al.*, 2006).

Table 2. Types of chemotrophic metabolism and some specific examples (Gottschalk, 2012; Orcut *et al.*, 2011).

Type	Electron donor	Electron acceptor	Carbon source	Examples, comments
Chemoorganotrohy	Organic substrate	O ₂	Organic substrate	Heterotrophs, ' <i>Candidatus</i> Pelagibacter'
	Organic substrate	NO ₃ -	Organic substrate	Denitrifying bacteria, Comamonadaceae
	Organic substrate	SO4 ²⁻	Organic substrate	Sulphate reducers, <i>Desulfobacula</i>
	Organic substrate	Organic substrate	Organic substrate	Clostridia, lactic acid bacteria
Chemolithotrophy	H ₂	O ₂	CO ₂	Hydrogen-oxidizing bacteria
	H_2S	O ₂	CO ₂	Thiothrix
	H ₂ S	NO ₃ -	CO ₂	Sulfurimonas
	Fe ²⁺	O ₂	CO ₂	Acidimicrobium
	NO ₂ -	O ₂	CO ₂	Nitrospina
	NH ₃	O ₂	CO ₂	Ammonia oxidizing bacteria
	NH ₃	NO ₃ -	CO ₂	Planctomycetes (anammox)

Chemoorganotrophic (or heterotrophic) bacteria have been investigated till the early days of microbiology. However, their crucial role in marine ecosystems as degraders of particulate and dissolved organic matter (POM and DOM, respectively) was only fully accepted at the end of last century (Azam *et al.*, 1983; Pomeroy, 1974). The importance of degradation process is two-fold: firstly, inorganic nutrients are released (remineralization), which can be utilized again by primary producers; secondly, the organic matter is assimilated into bacterial biomass and thereby re-entered into the "classical food-web" via bacterivorous organisms – a pathway for POM and DOM referred as microbial loop (Azam *et al.*, 1983; Figure 1).



Figure 1. A simplistic visualization of the microbial loop. Photosynthetic phytoplankton species (green) produce organic carbon using CO_2 . Dissolved organic matter (DOM) and particulate organic matter (POM) is released by phytoplankton (e.g. via the viral shunt - viral-mediated cell lysis) and other organisms (e.g. sloppy feeding). A fraction of the heterotrophic bacteria is consumed by zooplankton (purple) directly or via protists and thereby carbon is transferred up in the food web. In addition, heterotrophic bacteria contribute to the remineralization of DOM and POM; thereby released inorganic forms can be taken up by phytoplankton. The biological pump refers to the export of phytoplankton-derived POM from the surface oceans to deeper depths via sinking. The microbial carbon pump refers to the transformation of organic carbon into recalcitrant DOC (dissolved organic carbon) that is highly resistant to further degradation and is sequestered in the ocean for thousands of years (modified from Buchan et al., 2014)

1.3 Microbial ecology – theory in the making

Theories of animal and plant ecology are well established. However, applying these same theories on microorganisms is in many cases questionable due unique aspects of their biology, as small size, vast abundance, rapid growth, short generation time, resting stages, great dispersal, and parasexuality (Prosser *et al.*, 2007). Even the concept of species promoted by Mayr (1957) is not suitable for asexual bacteria that are capable of homological recombination. Cohan (2002) proposed ecological species or "ecotypes", which are populations of organisms occupying the same niche and exhibiting behavioural, structural or physiological differences from other members of the species (Cohan, 2002).

The ecological theory of microorganisms on community level becomes even more complicated. However, there is an increasingly popular concept of metacommunities that has provided useful improvements on existing ecological thinking (Leibold *et al.*, 2004; Prosser *et al.*, 2007). Metacommunities are defined as a set of communities that are linked by dispersal of multiple potentially interacting species (Leibold *et al.*, 2004). There are four paradigms that each emphasizes different processes of potential importance in metacommunities: the species-sorting view, the mass effects view, the neutral view and the patch-dynamic view (Figure 2; Leibold *et al.*, 2004; Logue *et al.*, 2011). The latter approach assumes that habitat patches are environmentally homogeneous, and a relatively low dispersal of species occurs, but this is not well suited for the microscale marine environment and microorganisms. Therefore, only three paradigms are discussed below.

Species-sorting by the local environment has been shown to be one of the key processes driving assembly of bacterioplankton community (Jones & McMahon, 2009; Lindström & Langenheder, 2012; Logares *et al.*, 2013; Logue & Lindström, 2010; Östman *et al.*, 2010). In essence, the species sorting assumes that community composition is determined by the competition of species with different adaptions (niche requirements) to local abiotic and biotic conditions. This concept is linked to Baas-Beckin's (1934) famous statement "everything is everywhere, but the environment selects" and is an ecological concept considered for bacterial communities. The "everything is everywhere" part requires that bacteria due their minute size and high level of plasticity are able to spread globally, which is true, in fact, both *Bacteria* and *Archaea* have been shown intercontinental dispersal with transpacific winds (Smith *et al.*, 2013). Species sorting is, in fact, the perspective that most often explains assembly of bacterioplankton community (Lindström & Langenheder, 2012).



Figure 2. The depiction of the four metacommunity paradigms and areas of potential advances. The four formulated paradigms of metacommunity theory placed within a common framework, depicting their differences and overlaps along axes of the rate of dispersal, of the heterogeneity of habitat patches with regard to local environmental and biotic characteristics, and of the equivalence among species regarding niche and fitness. Abbreviations: ME, mass-effects; NM, neutral model; PD, patch-dynamic; SS, species-sorting (modified from Logue et al., 2011)

However, species sorting alone is insufficient, in some cases, another theory connected with dispersal and migration provides a better explanation - mass effect (Crump *et al.*, 2007; Lindström *et al.*, 2006). By this theory, demising bacterial populations can be stabilized via continuous inflow by migration (Shmida & Wilson, 1985). The vast and continuous spread of bacteria help explain why some bacterial populations can contribute a significant fraction of BCC in environments that they are not well adapted to. Nevertheless, there is some doubt cast upon mass effect being relevant in natural communities (Lindström & Östman, 2011; Logue & Lindström, 2010). Moreover, studies lacking data on dispersal (rates and/or frequencies) and community composition in connected systems have a hard time distinguishing between species sorting and mass effect (Logue *et al.*, 2011).

In some cases the community assembly mechanism can be better explained by neutral model; which assumes that species do not differ in their fitness or niche and local community assembly is a random process (Hubbell, 2001; Sloan *et al.*, 2006; Woodcock *et al.*, 2007). Along these investigations, there have been results which indicate a combination of several mechanisms (Eiler *et al.*, 2011; Langenheder & Székely, 2011; Ofiţeru *et al.*, 2010) and the relative importance of these mechanisms may be temporally variable (Langenheder *et al.*, 2012).

In summary, ecological theory suitable for microbial communities is much needed as its applications would be incredibly beneficiary (e.g. in fields of ecosystem management and conservation biology). However, this theory is still in the making and without a doubt offers a compelling intellectual challenge for ecologists.

1.4 Microbial structuring of marine ecosystems

1.4.1 Ribosomal RNA as marker for BCC determination and overall bacterial diversity

Previous chapters encapsulate what can be an overwhelming realization to any marine microbiologist or microbial ecologist, the ocean – largest living space on Earth (>95%) – is literally packed with tiny organisms that are basically running the planet (cumulative influence on biogeochemical cycles).

The traditional way to identify microbes is to cultivate them, for example using plate count agar (Massa et al., 1998). On Petri dish, the colony forming units (CFU) can be enumerated and isolated into pure culture (containing only one bacterial strain), which is then used for downstream analyses to identify phylogenetic and genotypic properties of the bacterium. However, direct counts (using a microscope or flow cytometer) have constantly produced much higher results, about the order of magnitude, than CFU counts using cultivation when analysing environmental samples, it was called "the great plate count anomaly" (Staley & Konopka, 1985). Consequently, Pace and colleagues (1985) developed the approach that would eventually offer the solution to the phenomena, about the same time. It involved cloning polymerase chain reaction (PCR) products from whole community amplicons, thereby bypassing the cultivation step entirely (Pace *et al.*, 1985; Schmidt et al., 1991). Small ribosomal subunit RNA gene (16S rDNA in case of bacteria and archaea; 18S rDNA in case of eukaryotes; Figure 3) was used for phylogenetic comparison as suggested by Woese and colleagues (Woese, 1987; Woese & Fox, 1977). These "environmental clone sequences" act as a marker for the organism when assigned to a location on a phylogenetic tree. This approach is now used in Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology - leading reference for prokaryotic taxonomy (George et al., 2001).

With the introduction of next-generation sequencing technologies (Azam *et al.*), similar approach became much more high-throughput (Jones, 2010; Margulies *et al.*, 2005; Vieites *et al.*, 2009). Consequently, the databases have been piling with ribosomal rDNA sequences (National Center for Biotechnology Information, NCBI, nucleotide database <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>). In such cultivation-independent phylogenetic studies, operational taxonomic units (OTUs) are generated via clustering sequences based on a certain similarity threshold. Usually, 97% similarity is used to generate species level units. In such sequencing based analyses, an OTU is tentatively assumed to be a valid taxon. It is estimated that the total number of bacterial species in the world could range from 10^7 to 10^9 , around 2 x 10^6 species of which could be associated with the marine environment (Curtis *et al.*,

2002; Dykhuizen, 1998; Pedrós-Alió, 2006). However, only around 1% of bacteria can be readily cultivated *in vitro* (Amann *et al.*, 1995; Hugenholtz *et al.*, 1998). Out of 61 bacterial phyla level taxa, based on 16S rRNA, 31 have no cultivable representatives (Hugenholtz, 2002).



Figure 3. The phylogenetic "tree of life" based on rDNA sequence. Only few of the known lines are displayed (modified from Pace, 2009)

1.4.2 BCC between the scales and gradients

Microbial interactions take place on the micrometer scale. Thus, there can be significant differences in community composition even within millimetres (Long & Azam, 2001). Seawater may deceptively seem like a homogeneous environment;

however marine habitats can be tremendously heterogeneous with a broad suite of discrete microniches divided on temporal and spatial scales (Azam & Malfatti, 2007). Nevertheless, on the other side, microbial ecologist seeks to understand the impact of microbial processes on the ocean biogeochemical cycles on a global scale (Falkowski *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, marine microbiology is a field that is caught between extremities of sales, and one of the end games is bringing these two together.

The ocean is filled with different physical and/or chemical gradients that force shifts in BCC: among others the oxic–anoxic interfaces, salinity, and the availability of inorganic nutrients, temperature, especially over oceanic fronts where different water masses "collide" (Baltar *et al.*, 2015). Most dramatic shifts in plankton and also macro-organisms are produced by the availability of terminal electron acceptors (Crump *et al.*), out of which oxygen is the only option for most of the marine organisms; they either die or leave the area (such as fish) (Stramma *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, oxygen-starved regions of the global ocean – oxygen minimum zones (OMZ) - are sometimes referred as "dead zones". These, often eutrophication-associated zones, have been expanding over the last half century and have been reported in 400 systems (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008).

However, calling these regions of the ocean "dead" is very misleading, since these areas provide many niches for micro-organisms that can use alternative TEAs. There is a hierarchy of terminal electron acceptors by Gibbs free energy potential $(O_2 \rightarrow NO_3 \rightarrow Mn^{IV} \rightarrow Fe^{III} \rightarrow SO_4^2 \rightarrow CO_2)$ and favoured microbial processes vary in the presence of different electron acceptors (Schlegel & Bowien, 1989). Therefore, oxygen, the most energetically favourable electron acceptor, is located at the top of this "electron tower" and CO₂ yields the least energy of all the electron acceptors. Thereby, major biogeochemical transformations are taking place in OMZ.

The depletion of TEAs alters ecosystem energy flow. Energy is increasingly diverted away from higher trophic levels into microbial community metabolism causing changes in carbon and nutrient cycling (Figure 4; Hawley *et al.*, 2014). Under oxygenated conditions 25–75% of the energy generated via oceanic primary production is transferred to mobile predators (Rosenberg, 1977). Prolonged periods and lower oxygen concentration result energy shift towards microorganisms. Over the last century decreased oxygen conditions in the ocean severely reduced valuable services that coastal ecosystems provide to humans. Expansion of oxygen-deficient waters cause the reduction of the potential fish yield and favoured noxious algal blooms (Carstensen *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 4. Conceptual view of how hypoxia affects ecosystem energy flow. The red–orange area indicates the range of energy transferred from the benthos to higher-level predators under oxic conditions (normoxia). The yellow–green–blue area indicates O_2 levels decline resulting in the suspension of higher-level predation, the continuance of benthic predation, and rapid increase in the proportion of benthic energy transferred to microorganisms. This energy is generated via microbial respiration using a defined order of terminal electron acceptors (TEAs) (Wright et al., 2012).

The zonation of different TEAs using bacteria is called redox-driven niche partitioning (Ulloa *et al.*, 2013; Wright *et al.*, 2012). Co-occurrence network analysis was carried out using 16S rRNA gene sequences from the Hawaii Ocean Time-series, the northeast subarctic Pacific, the Saanich Inlet and the eastern tropical South Pacific (off Peru and Chile), and non-random patterns of co-occurrence were identified among bacterial populations associated with oxic, dysoxic, suboxic or anoxic environmental conditions (Wright *et al.*, 2012).

Salinity is another important environmental parameter that strongly impacts bacterial community composition across different ecosystems (Lozupone & Knight, 2007). Estuaries are systems where freshwater and marine bacterioplankton communities mix and exhibit drastic spatiotemporal variability in community structure (Bernhard *et al.*, 2010; Bouvier & del Giorgio, 2002; Crump *et al.*, 2004; Herlemann *et al.*, 2011; Hewson & Fuhrman, 2004; Selje & Simon, 2003; Troussellier *et al.*, 2002). The spatial variability of BCC from river to estuary to ocean has been demonstrated to overwhelm seasonal shifts (Fortunato et al., 2012).

Moreover, salinity gradient also produces shifts in functional capacities of bacterioplankton (Dupont *et al.*, 2014).

Salinity, however, is not the only factor for influencing bacterial populations along estuaries. There are covarying parameters, including temperature, dissolved inorganic nutrients, and concentrations of dissolved and particulate organic matter, contributing to the variation among communities (Bernhard *et al.*, 2010; Bouvier & del Giorgio, 2002; Stepanauskas *et al.*, 2003). Marine particles have been identified as "hotspots" of high microbial abundance and activity (Azam *et al.*, 1994; Smith *et al.*, 1992).

Fortunately, the 16S rRNA-based investigations have unveiled wide distribution of certain bacterial clades, like candidate order "Pelagibacterales" (SAR11 clade), Prochlorococcus. Synechococcus, Roseobacter and SAR86 clade (of Gammaproteobacteria). While all these phylogenetic groups are divided between specific ecotype the unique traits possessed by these clades help to seek mechanistic explanations for spatiotemporal structuring of BCC (Buchan et al., 2005; Fuhrman et al., 2008; Mazard et al., 2012; Brown et al., 2014; Pommier et al., 2007). For example, members of the SAR11 clade represent 25% of the ocean surface layer (up to 200 m) bacterioplankton cells worldwide (Giovannoni & Stingl, 2005; Morris et al., 2002). Ocean surface waters are characterized by oligotrophic conditions, and experimental evidence suggests that possession of proteorhodopsin (light-driven proton pump) gene provides adaptation for carbon starvation (Steindler et al., 2011).

These revolutionary advances in DNA sequencing technologies (described above) helped to extract community composition in higher resolution (or sequencing depth) and thereby uncovered a "rare biosphere" that is formed by large amount of low abundance taxa and accounts for most of the observed phylogenetic diversity of bacterioplankton community (Galand *et al.*, 2009; Gibbons *et al.*, 2013; Sogin *et al.*, 2006). This reservoir of genetic and functional diversity acts as a "seed bank" out of which resuscitation of certain bacterial populations can be recruited when environmental conditions become favorable for them; however some of these bacterial populations may stay transiently rare (Figure 5; Lennon & Jones, 2011; Aanderud *et al.*, 2015; Lynch & Neufeld, 2015). The threshold between the "rare" and "abundant" is subjective, criterion most commonly used is 0.1% of the sequence counts in generated dataset (Lennon & Jones, 2011; Lynch & Neufeld, 2015). Most common and abundant bacterial OTUs have temporally defined niches, so they emerge from rare-biosphere (Gilbert *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 5. Hypothetical scenarios for microorganisms part of the rare-biosphere (Lynch & Neuman, 2015).

1.5 The Baltic Sea and the Gulf of Finland

1.5.1 The Baltic Sea

Following the Black Sea, the Baltic Sea is the second largest brackish water body in the world. It is semi-enclosed, water exchange with the North Sea is restricted through narrow and shallow Danish Straits; therefore, the Baltic Sea is characterized by long retention time (>25 years). It is a large estuary-like water body with both horizontal and vertical salinity gradients (Fennel & Seifert, 2008; Stigebrandt, 2001). The catchment area of the Baltic Sea is over 1.7×10^6 km² and habitat for over 85 million people (Commission, 2009). Both, the partly enclosed geography and anthropogenic influence, amplify effects of interconnected environmental problems such as eutrophication, oxygen depletion and climate

change (Andersson *et al.*, 2015; Carstensen *et al.*, 2014). Influence of higher temperature and anthropogenic forcing have resulted in a 10-fold increase of hypoxia in the near-bottom layer over past 115 years (Figure 6). Decrease in oxygen concentrations in lower layers impacts the whole ecosystem through loss of secondary production (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008), it has been estimated that about 30% of secondary production is lost in the Baltic Sea because of oxygen deficiency (Karlson *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 6. Snapshots of spread of hypoxia (red, $[O_2] < 2 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$) and anoxia (black, $[O_2]=0 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$) over time, based on yearly averages (modified from Carstensen et al., 2014)

There is a repeating seasonal variation in inorganic nutrient concentrations in the Baltic Sea upper layer: minimum values are measured in summer and maximum in winter. The winter level of inorganic nutrients impacts the phytoplankton spring bloom during which major bulk of annual primary production is carried out. The spring bloom in the Baltic Sea is co-dominated by diatoms and dinoflagellates, the relative abundance of these groups varies between years (Klais *et al.*, 2011). After the spring bloom, inorganic nutrients are mostly depleted in the euphotic layer, and strong stratification due the formation of the thermocline in the summer prevents vertical mixing with nutrient-rich deeper layers (Liblik & Lips, 2011). These conditions give an advantage to diazotrophic cyanobacteria (able to fix N₂) and dinoflagellates able to migrate vertically in the water column (Jephson & Carlsson, 2009; Lips & Lips, 2008; Lips *et al.*, 2011). Over the autumn, the water column is mixed down to the halocline or down to the bottom in shallow areas. In winter, the low light levels inhibit the growth of phytoplankton and due to that the nconcentrations of inorganic nutrients increase again in the upper layer.

1.5.2 The Gulf of Finland

The Gulf of Finland is an elongated estuarine-like basin. The salinity increases from east to west being about 2–6 in the surface layer and about 5–9 in the deep layer (Figure 7; Kullenberg & Jacobsen, 1981; Andrejev *et al.*, 2004). The residual circulation in the gulf consists of an outflow of fresher waters (originating from

river discharges, mainly the River Neva) in the northern part and an inflow of saltier waters from the Northern Baltic Proper along the southern coast (Alenius *et al.*, 1998). Vertical stratification of the water column and water exchange with the Northern Baltic Proper is characterized by high variability both in long-term (Liblik & Lips, 2011) and at synoptic to monthly scales (Elken *et al.*, 2003). The topography of the Gulf of Finland is complicated, in general, the northern slope of the gulf is shallower, and the bottom slope is about two times lower than at the southern side (Laanemets *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 7. A transect from central Baltic Sea to the Gulf of Finland, the salinity values (g kg⁻¹) are based on forty-year averages. The dark blue to dark red colors on the map give an indication of the topography(Maljutenko et al., Unpublished).

1.5.3 Bacterioplankton community via next generation sequencing technologies

Molecular-based approaches had helped to expand knowledge of BCC in the Baltic Sea long before application of NGS technologies and revealed strong influence of freshwater phyla (Kisand *et al.*, 2005; Pinhassi & Hagstroem, 2000; Pinhassi *et al.*, 1997; Riemann *et al.*, 2008). The first study that utilized pyrosequencing approach uncovered contrasting seasonal shifts and interannually repeating patterns in BCC (Andersson *et al.*, 2010). Even greater complexity and occurrence of short-lived "pulse-populations" were demonstrated via high-frequency sampling approach (Lindh *et al.*, 2015). Investigations of spatial variability of BCC in the Baltic Sea have shown structural and functional niche partitioning along the salinity (Dupont *et al.*, 2014; Herlemann *et al.*, 2011; Thureborn *et al.*, 2013). However, until undertaking current Ph.D. study, there were no spatiotemporal datasets available.

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

This Ph.D. study was undertaken to investigate spatial and temporal structuring of BCC in relation to main physicochemical parameters in the Gulf of Finland, to identify spatiotemporal niche partitioning of BCC in the context of metacommunity theory and regional invariance on a global scale in brackish estuaries with seasonal or permanent redoxcline. Following aims were set to meet this goal.

- 1) To develop methodology to collect whole-community DNA (metagenome) samples cost-effectively and minimize the probability of contamination.
- 2) To determine spatial variability of the BCC both vertically (different depths) and horizontally (different stations).
- 3) To determine temporal dynamics of BCC in entire water column;
- 4) To identify the key bacterial populations in the region and track isolation sources of their closest database affiliations, to resolve biogeography of these phylogenetic lineages.
- 5) To compare BCC structuring in the Gulf of Finland to community profiles recorded in other estuaries or estuary-like water bodies.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Study area

Water sampling aboard the RV Salme was performed on three transects in the Gulf of Finland from December of 2010 to October of 2012 (Figure 8; I, II, III). Westeast coverage was provided by NS-transect, north-south coverage by APand the KERI-transect, latter is located near the Island of Keri, which is the deepest location (>110 m) in the central area of the gulf.



Figure 8. Map of the study area and sampling stations in different years. The timeline of the sampling cruises is provided with corresponding color-codes.

3.2 Sample collection and filtration

A rosette sampler (M1018, General Oceanics) equipped with Niskin water samplers (volume 1.7 l) was used for sampling (I, II, III). The design of filtration system is presented in Figure 9. The target sample volume was 1.0 liters, but in some cases system clogged beforehand and therefore sample volumes varied between 0.5 and 1.0 liters.



Figure 9. Closed filtration system used in the present study. Sterile bottle (A) and serological pipette (B; upside down); pre-filter (5 μ m cellulose acetate syringe filter; C) and filter (0.2 μ m cellulose acetate syringe filter; D); tubing (F) with a sterile tip (E); and collecting tank (G) connected to a vacuum source (H).

3.2 DNA extraction and 16S rDNA amplification

Whole bacterioplankton community (0.2–5.0 μ m fraction) was extracted from 0.2 μ m filters using commercial kits (**I**, **II**, **III**). The bacterial 16S rRNA genes V1-V2 hypervariable regions (using universal bacterial primers BSF8 and BSR357) were amplified in one reaction in case of publication **III** and in two polymerase chain reactions (PCR) in case of publications **I** and **II**.

3.3 Sequencing

Next generation HTS technologies were used to analyse amplicons that were indexed with barcodes (Hamady *et al.*, 2008). 454 pyrosequencing on was used in publications I (Roche GS Junior System) and II (Roche GS FLX). Illumina MiSeq platform was used in publication III.

3.4 Bioinformatics

OTUs were defined using the average neighbor-clustering algorithm of MOTHUR (Schloss et al., 2009; I, II, III). The Ribosomal Database Project naïve Bayesian Classifier was used for taxonomic assignments (Wang *et al.*, 2007) and BLAST searched (Altschul *et al.*, 1997) against a NCBI nucleotide database (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>) (I, II, III). Statistical analyses and data visualizations were carried out with different packages in program R (I, II, III), mainly the "vegan" package (Oksanen *et al.*, 2007).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Physicochemical structuring in the study area

The sampling took place along three transects in the western and central part of the Gulf of Finland (Figure 8). The NS-transect from west to east provided horizontal salinity gradient of few g kg⁻¹ (I, II). At the same time the impact of the horizontal salinity gradient was overwhelmed by vertical gradient through permanent halocline in the study area (I, II, III). The salinity values below halocline varied between 8.5–12.6 g kg⁻¹, and at the surface layer (5 m depth) between 4.8 and 6.6 g kg⁻¹ along the transects, lower values during spring and highest in winter (I, II, III). The expansion of the hypoxic and anoxic area in the central Baltic Sea has a direct impact on the near bottom oxygen conditions in the Gulf of Finland. Due to the absence of a sill at the gulf entrance area and a direct inflow of saltier permanently hypoxic/anoxic Baltic Proper waters to the Gulf of Finland (Figure 6; Carstensen *et al.*, 2014) the oxygen conditions remained hypoxic for most of the study period, reaching as low as 0.1 mg L⁻¹ at the near-bottom layer along the KERI-transect in 2012 (I, II, III). Strong negative correlation between oxygen concentration and salinity remained for the whole period (I, II, III).

The temperature variation was minor below the halocline (3.5-5.8 °C) and contrarily, strong seasonal changes were observed in the surface layer above 40 m, ranging between 0.1 and 18.7 °C (I, II, III). In both studied years the thermocline started to form at the beginning of summer (at a depth of 10-25 m), and a well-pronounced temperature stratification was established by July (e.g. the year 2012, Figure 10; II, III). Hence, from mid-summer to mid-autumn, the gulf was strongly stratified into three layers – upper mixed layer followed by the seasonal thermocline, cold intermediate layer followed by permanent halocline in deep (over 60 m) areas, and water layer below the halocline (II, III).

A large fraction of the primary production in the Baltic Sea is carried out during spring bloom, also reflected well in the chlorophyll a measurements (Figure 10; II, III). Annual spring blooms are terminated due to the depletion of inorganic nutrients at the well-lit surface layer, and the summer phytoplankton bloom commences after the temperature rise high enough for the proliferation of diazotrophic cyanobacteria (Vahtera *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 10. Time series of temperature, chlorophyll a, salinity and oxygen concentration at station AP5 in 2012. Vertical scattered lines indicate the times of the measurements.

4.2 Bacterioplankton community composition

4.2.1 Overview of dynamics of BCC on bacterial class level

In the framework of studies carried out for this dissertation, a total of 240 samples were analysed using 1,058,888 partial rRNA gene sequences (30,371 in publication I; 73,494 in publication II; 955,023 in publication III). Alphaproteobacteria, Actinobacteria. Betaproteobacteria. Cvanobacteria. Epsilonproteobacteria. Gammaproteobacteria, Flavobacteria and Sphingobacteria contributed 85.2% of total sequences (Table 2). The brackish environment and long retention time of the Baltic Sea enable assembly of unique bacterioplankton community structure. The bacterioplankton community lacks some typical marine taxa and, on the other hand, the growth of typical freshwater groups is enabled, like Actinobacteria, Betaproteobacteria and Verrucomicrobia (Kisand et al., 2005; Riemann et al., 2008; Bergen et al., 2014; Herlemann et al., 2011). Baltic Sea environment offers habitat for bacterial populations that are specialized for the brackish environment (Herlemann et al., 2011; Hugerth et al., 2015a). These trends are reflected from results obtained in the framework of the present dissertation (I, II, III).

	Publication I	Publication II	Publication III	Mean
Alphaproteobacteria	28,9	31,2	40,8	33,6
Actinobacteria	14,6	17,8	12,8	15,1
Betaproteobacteria	5,1	8,9	6,7	6,9
Cyanobacteria	2	9,3	2,5	4,6
Deltaproteobacteria	0,7	0,5	0,7	0,6
Epsilonproteobacteria	25,9	5,8	11,1	14,3
Flavobacteria	3,2	8,7	5,7	5,9
Gammaproteobacteria	3,3	2,5	3,7	3,2
Sphingobacteria	1,1	1,6	0,4	1,0
Other	15,2	13,7	15,6	14,8

Table 2. Relative abundance (%) of predominant bacterial classes in each study.

Throughout the sampling period, *Alphaproteobacteria* and *Epsilonproteobacteria* contributed the largest fraction of BCC above and below the oxycline, respectively (I, II, III). Members of *Delta-* and *Gammaproteobacteria* and a group of unclassified *Bacteriodetes* also were mainly found in the hypoxic zone (I, II, III). Other relatively abundant bacterial classes displayed seasonal variability. The representatives of *Betaproteobacteria* and *Flavobacteria* were more predominant in spring, whereas relative abundance of *Actinobacteria* increased in late summer and peaked in autumn (II, III). Similar seasonal shifts have been demonstrated by

several previous temporal studies on dynamics of BCC in the Baltic Sea (Andersson *et al.*, 2010; Hugerth *et al.*, 2015b; Lindh *et al.*, 2015).

Members of *Cyanobacteria* displayed a strong correlation with temperature and became considerably more abundant in summer above the thermocline (II, III). The distribution of picocyanobacteria during summer bloom was patchy even along the same transect. However, class level analyses provide very low-resolution description of BCC, because species within one bacterial class can occupy different niches as was demonstrated by non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis (Figure 11; III). In general, the observed phylogenetic structure of the bacterioplankton community on the class level composed of groups routinely found in the Baltic Sea. Although, *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia* contributed considerably lower fraction compared to some other studies (Riemann *et al.*, 2008; Andersson *et al.*, 2010; Herlemann *et al.*, 2011; Thureborn *et al.*, 2013; Lindh *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 11. The non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis plot of abundant and common OTUs fitted with environmental parameters (stress score: 0.124). The black lines divide OTUs into three general groups.

4.2.2 Niches occupied core populations in the ecosystem

At species level (OTUs clustered with 97% similarity), the complexity of bacterioplankton community structure and variability was much higher. In studies I, **II** and **III** were identified 609, 1,557 and 4,692 of such OTUs, respectively. The observed number of OTUs in a sample was strongly correlated with a number of sequences used to analyse the sample (sequencing depth). Most of these OTUs could be categorized as part of the rare biosphere and occurred in low abundances. Less than a hundred OTUs could be considered relatively common or abundant (I, **II**, **III**). In 2012 only 17 OTUs could be referred as 'relatively abundant' (accounted more than 1% of total dataset each), cumulatively adding up 76% of the entire dataset (Figure 12: III). This trend of around twenty key populations could also be seen in first two studies (I, II) and therefore the sequences were unevenly distributed between these thousands of OTUs. Most of these relatively abundant OTUs were restricted to a distinct seasonal occurrence when they became abundant, in contrast, some remained transiently abundant throughout the investigated period. Corresponding OTUs represent the core populations of the studied ecosystem and are therefore also best adapted to most broad niches in this system.

Most of the *Alphaproteobacteria* were contributed by OTUs classified as "*Candidatus* Pelagibacter" (SAR11 clade, candidate order "*Pelagibacterales*"), these OTUs were transiently abundant in the oxygenated upper layer throughout all seasons, although relative abundance of OTUs varied (I, II, III). The candidate order "*Pelagibacterales*" is the most abundant bacterial order in ocean surface waters (Carlson *et al.*, 2009; Morris *et al.*, 2002; Rappe & Giovannoni, 2003). It has been demonstrated that there is a salinity-driven niche partitioning of representatives of SAR11 clade which results in overlapping populations throughout horizontal salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea (Herlemann *et al.*, 2011; Herlemann *et al.*, 2014). Results of the present study demonstrate clear seasonal shifts in relative abundance of populations specialized for certain salinity range (I, II, III). For example, the presence of fresh water associated (LD12 clade related) OTU only in the surface layer in spring (III). Moreover, the most prevalent members of SAR11 had their closest database affiliations to annotations isolated from brackish estuaries; however, this is further discussed in the following chapter.

Another alphaproteobacterial order, *Rhodobacterales*, was transiently present in oxygenated waters throughout all seasons (I, II, III). However, one OTU classified as *Rhodobacteraceae* contributed considerably larger fraction during spring blooms (II, III; Figure 12). This OTU (BSNS3149 in publication II and OTU4 in publication III) had an identical match with a sequence isolated from a coastal North Sea diatom bloom (Teeling *et al.*, 2012) strongly suggesting that this population occupies an important niche in degradation of spring phytoplankton bloom derived organic matter. There was also one *Rhodobacteraceae* (OTU85) that co-localized with picocyanobacteria, indicating another possible specialization (III).

Both groups, *Rhodobacteraceae* and "C. Pelagibacter", are known for photoheterotrophic lifestyle, which gives them a distinct advantage in carbon

limited waters (Brown *et al.*, 2014). Especially, when generated ATP can be in turn used to mediate the uptake of small molecules (Buchan *et al.*, 2014). These groups have been shown to possess and express ATP-dependent and independent transporters for low-molecular-weight (LMW) organic compounds (Teeling *et al.*, 2012; Hugerth *et al.*, 2015b; Voget *et al.*, 2015). Members of SAR11 clade withhold some traits (such as small cell size) that confer a competitive advantage in nutrient uptake (Giovannoni *et al.*, 2005). During spring bloom in the North Sea, the *Rhodobacteraceae* out ranked all other groups in expression of LMW transporters. Both these groups are also known to contribute to the conversion of dimethylsulfoniopropionate to dimethylsulfide, which is especially relevant to phytoplankton blooms (Howard *et al.*, 2006). Aerobic oxidation of LMW organic molecules is fast and high-yield energy source, and the prominent presence of these two phylogenetic lineages suggests they are well adapted to occupy this niche in the studied ecosystem.

Although the dominant picocyanobacterial population exhibited strong seasonal variability in abundance, it still should be accounted as a core population. Picocyanobacteria were present for the whole observed period in the euphotic layer, contributing about 3% in winter (I), but reaching up to 88.7% of BCC in the summer of 2011 (II). This OTU (NSD007, BSNS2840, and OTU5 in publications I, II, and III; respectively) was classified as *Synechococcus* and had an identical match to a sequence isolated from laminae of the Gulf of Finland sediments dating back 3000 years (to the Late Litorina Sea; Lyra *et al.*, 2013), hence this population is likely endemic to the Baltic Sea area (II, III). The *Synechococcus* populations in the Baltic Sea have also been demonstrated to possess unique clustering of the phycobiliprotein genes (type IIB, Larsson *et al.*, 2014). Unlike filamentous cyanobacteria, unicellular picocyanobacterial are not grazing resistant and provide a food source for higher trophic levels.

The oxic-anoxic interface in the near-bottom layer provides a niche for chemotrophic bacteria that utilize reduced substrates produced from "lower steps of the redox-tower" from the sediments (e.g. CH₄ and H₂S) and terminal electron acceptors from the oxygenated upper layer (e.g. O₂ and NO₃). Throughout the investigated period hypoxic water was overwhelmingly dominated bv representatives of genus Sulfurimonas (I, II, III). Most abundant of which had a nearly identical match to Sulfurimonas gotlandica (II). S. gotlandica is a key chemolithoautotrophic (H_2S oxidizing and nitrate reducing) taxa in the central Baltic Sea (Glaubitz et al., 2010; Grote et al., 2008). Investigations along the NStransect (west-east) in the Gulf of Finland revealed that this population exhibited strong negative correlation with longitude and therefore it is likely that this population is dispersed into the Gulf of Finland with the deep inflow from the Baltic Proper (I, II). S. gotlandica is probably the main nitrate reducing (denitrifying) and sulphide oxidizing group in the Gulf of Finland (as it is in the central Baltic Sea).

Methane, a powerful greenhouse gas, holds a global significance, and there is a widespread release of methane from the seafloor of the Baltic Sea (Schmale *et al.*,

2010). The abundance and activity of methane-oxidizing bacteria in the water column regulates methane emissions to the atmosphere. Results of the present study reveal vertical oxygen-driven niche partitioning of two dominant C1 substrate abundance of *Methylobacter* utilizing taxa The relative (genus of *Gammaproteobacteria*) increased towards oxygen depleted seafloor (II, III), where the methane concentrations are potentially highest (Schmale et al., 2012; Schmale et al., 2010). On the other hand, Methylophilus, a non-methane-oxidizing bacterial group, which can utilize other C1 substrates, was abundant also in the intermediate and surface layers (Figure 12; I. II, III; Kalyuzhnaya et al., 2008). The members of Methylobacter and Methylophilus have been shown to cooperate in methane utilization (Beck et al., 2013; Hernandez et al., 2015). Experiments with such methane-consuming communities suggested similar oxygen-driven niche partitioning between the two taxa, confirmed by the *in situ* results of the current study (Hernandez et al., 2015; II, III). These C1 substrate utilizing bacterial populations contributed a significant fraction of BCC throughout the observed period and therefore be considered as core populations.

Trace metals, like iron and manganese, are important carriers of oxidationreduction potential, in the central Baltic Sea, Fe(III)/Fe have been shown as dominant redox couple (Meyer et al., 2014). In the Baltic Sea "Mn and Fe shuttle" is generated at the interface between euxinic and oxic water (Dellwig *et al.*, 2010). When oxygenated, insoluble compounds form insoluble aggregates, which sink below the redoxcline, where these can be used as electron acceptors by bacteria or reduced chemically (Scholz et al., 2013; Tebo et al., 2004; Trouwborst et al., 2006; Weber et al., 2006). The results of present investigation points towards bacterial populations classified as Ilumatobacter (Figure 12; I, II, III), members of Acidimicrobiaceae (family of Actinobacteria) that presumably are involved in iron cycling (Itoh et al., 2011; Matsumoto et al., 2009). The occurrence patterns exhibited by two prevalent populations were different, which indicates separate survival strategies. One *Ilumatobacter* population peaked in abundance after the spring bloom at the near bottom layer (II, III), this group has been demonstrated to be involved in degradation of diatom bloom derived organic material in hypoxic conditions (Zakharova et al., 2013).

4.2.3 Temporal dynamics above and below the oxycline

The main bulk of photoautotrophic primary production in the Baltic Sea (and other temperate coastal ecosystems) is carried out during spring phytoplankton bloom, and the fate of corresponding organic matter is essential to biogeochemical cycles of the ecosystem; which gives occurrence and activities of bloom-associated 'specialists' a great significance (Figure 12). The bacterial populations responsible for degradation of corresponding POM and DOM clustered together (group B in figure 11; figure 9 in publication II; III). The spring is also the period characterized by a large inflow of freshwater and successful immigration of freshwater bacterial populations (Kisand *et al.*, 2005; Riemann *et al.*, 2008).

Consequently, prevalent spring bloom-associated OTUs, mainly members of *Actinobacteria*, *Betaproteobacteria*, and *Bacteroidetes*, had their closest database affiliations to annotations isolated from freshwater ecosystems and coastal ecosystems impacted with similar freshwater inflow (II, III).

The massively parallel sequencing of tagged 16S rDNA amplicons has revealed contrasting seasonal dynamics of BCC in the surface layer of the central Baltic Sea, especially in relation to phytoplankton community (Andersson *et al.*, 2010; Lindh *et al.*, 2015). High temporal resolution enables capturing short-lived "opportunistic pulse populations" that would be otherwise missed. However, without the context of community composition in the deeper layers, the transitions in assemblage in response to environmental parameters and shifts due exchange of water masses (e.g. vertical mixing) cannot be differentiated (Lindh *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the first spatiotemporal studies of BCC of the Baltic Sea undertaken in the the present study have provided new insight into phytoplankton bloom related shifts in deeper layers, especially in the hypoxic zone (**II**, **III**).

One powerful approach for unravelling the niche partitioning is analysing the colocalization of OTUs (Ruan *et al.*, 2006; Wright *et al.*, 2012). With this goal, NMDS analysis was used (**III**; Figure 11) and OTUs were clustered using correlation matrix (Pearson; **II**). The efficiency of approach applied was proven by the fact that OTUs related with database matches or phylogenetically close, clustered together, for example by isolation source (Table 4 in publication **II**). This approach is also complimentary to analyses using just environmental parameters because it helps to discriminate groups that occur in both extremities in relation to main structuring factors, for example, depth and oxygen concentration.

The occurrence of a dominant representative of *Rhodobacteraceae* (discussed in the previous chapter as a core population) was heavily influenced by spring phytoplankton bloom (Figure 12 and 13; **II**, **III**). It contributed with a large fraction at the surface, but also in the intermediate layer (40 m), in 2012 it reached high abundance in the hypoxic zone (Figure 12 and 13; **II**, **III**). However, the presence of *Rhodobacteraceae* in oxygen depleted waters sharply dropped at the beginning of summer (Figure 13). In contrast, some OTUs classified as *Flavobacteraceae* (*Bacteroidetes*) and *Comamonadaceaen* (*Betaproteobacteria*) reached maximum abundance by the end of spring bloom (Figure 13). These high abundances after the spring bloom could occur because of sedimentation and detachment from lysing phtoplankton cells in the hypoxic layer at the beginning of summer. However, members of *Comamonadaceae* are capable of denitrification (nitrates as TEA) in the hypoxic zone (Khan *et al.*, 2002; Li *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, at the same time, the relative abundance of *Sulfurimonas* decreased, which could indicate substrate competition.



(Continued on next page)


Figure 12. Occurrence patterns of top 17 OTUs (>1% of the dataset). OTUs are ordered by their co-localization and supplemented with oxygen concentrations. Adopted from publication III.

Certain representatives of *Bacteroidetes* are specialized degrading diatomderived organic matter and often prefer particle-attached lifestyle (DeLong *et al.*, 1993; Kisand & Wikner, 2003; Pinhassi *et al.*, 2004; Woebken *et al.*, 2007). During the spring bloom in the North Sea, this group was shown to be in the central role in the conversion of high molecular weight (HMW) compounds into LMW compounds (Teeling *et al.*, 2012). Some of the OTUs classified as *Bacteroidetes* in the present study occurred only in the hypoxic zone (**III**). Likewise, unclassified *Flavobacteraceae* contributed a large fraction of BCC in a deep and hypoxic layer of Byfjord, a Swedish fjord, before it was oxygenated followed by the drastically reduced abundances (Forth *et al.*, 2015).

Although the overall fraction of *Actibobacteria* increased in the autumn (III), certain OTUs classified as *Actinomycetales* and *Micrococcineae* were mainly found during spring bloom (II, III). Some of these were closely related to the freshwater AcI lineage (II). AcI group is characterized by small cell sizes, and their presence suggests indication of grazing pressure by bacterivorous nanoflagellates. A metagenomic study carried out suggests that populations of *Mycobacterium* are involved degradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (e.g. cellulose and chitin) in the near-bottom layer of Landsort Deep, the deepest location of the Baltic Sea in the Baltic Proper (Thureborn *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 13. Time series of chlorophyll a at station AP5. Pie charts indicate the relative abundance of OTUs that were associated with spring phytoplankton bloom. Note that the second surface community (2012-04-3, 5 m depth) was recorded at station AP2, not AP5. Scattered vertical lines indicate the sampling times.

Certain bacterial populations were associated with summer phytoplankton bloom, both in the surface and near-bottom layers (II, III). However, the important conclusion drawn from these observations is that presence of hypoxic zone provides a specific niche for phytoplankton bloom associated bacteria that are capable of switching to another TEA. Thereby combined effect of substrate- and redox-driven niche partitioning on the BCC was observed. As the hypoxic and anoxic zones are expanding in the Baltic Sea, the relative abundance and dispersal of these populations will probably increase.

4.5 Comparison with other similar ecosystems

One effective approach to better understand the processes underlying the assembly of BCC is to consider similarities between communities (Östman et al., 2010). The OMZs in the ocean are globally inhabited by same cosmopolitan phylogenetic lineages. They occupy similar functional niches and together cover the whole redox-tower - so the community assembly is divided by the redox-driven niche partitioning (Ulloa et al., 2012; Ulloa et al., 2013; Wright et al., 2012). Occupants along the redox gradient are involved in metabolite exchange and substrate competition forming a complex web of interactions (Hawley et al., 2014; Wright et al., 2012). Biogeochemically most important exchanges are concerning C-, N- and S-cycles. The niches in the oxygenated overlaying water are usually dominated by photoheterotrophic "Canditatus Pelagibacteria" and *Rhodobacterales*. with members Synechococcus being the most relevant picocyanobacterial taxon (Ulloa et al., 2013). The deeper layers usually have representatives of *Methylophilales*, SUP05 and SAR324 clades present (Wright et al., 2012; Ulloa et al., 2013; Fuchs et al., 2005).

It was found that some of the more relevant (by abundance) OTUs had their affiliations isolated from geographically distant, closest database but hydrographically close (temperate climate, brackish water, and partially oxygen depleted) estuaries, like the Chesapeake Bay and the Saanich Inlet (Crump et al., 2007; Zaikova et al., 2010). Also, the overall phylogenetic composition was similar to those microbial communities, except Sulfurimonas being dominant sulfur oxidizer in the Gulf of Finland (and in the Baltic Sea in general) and SUP05 clade members in those other estuaries. On the other hand, like in the Baltic Sea, Epsilonproteobacteria have been shown as dominant chemoautotrophic group of the Black Sea, the largest OMZ of the world (Grote et al., 2008). Both ecosystems have characteristic particulate Mn-Fe-P-shuttle at the redoxcline, which probably offers similar niches for trace metal oxidizing bacterial populations (Dellwig *et al.*, 2010). Same phylogenetic linages in similar ecosystems thousands of kilometers apart match well the species-sorting paradigm in metacommunity theory, and it is proposed that these local estuarine communities can be viewed as globally spread salinity- and redox-driven metacommunity (II, III).

The evidence connecting globally distant communities has been accumulating, genome level comparisons have revealed that some of the bacterial populations inhabiting the Chesapeake Bay and the Baltic Sea have a high genome-wide similarity (Hugerth *et al.*, 2015). The highest similarity was displayed by spring phytoplankton bloom associated *Flavobacteriaceae* (Hugerth *et al.*, 2015), which indicates very specific niche (combination of salinity-, substrate- and redox-driven

niche partitioning) and also cosmopolitan lineage occupying it. The phylogenetic matches displayed that Pelagibacteria could also be only salinity-driven, at the same time the impact of hypoxic conditions should not be underestimated. In Chesapeake Bay SAR11 members also persisted in hypoxic layers (Crump *et al.*, 2007), and their metabolic adaptations for anaerobic growth remain to be uncharacterized (Wright *et al.*, 2012).

Over past few years, the compelling amount of evidence has been published that supports an emerging pattern of cosmopolitan specialists. Similar bacterioplankton community structures have been reported all over the world, for example in Byfjord in Sweden (Forth *et al.*, 2015), Sendai Bay in Japan (Sakami et al., 2015), Pearl Estuary in China (Liu *et al.*, 2015) and Sydney Harbour in Australia (Jeffries *et al.*, 2015). Estuaries are coastal ecosystems that often suffer from anthropogenic impact, eutrophication and also oxygen depletion; this is a global problem in the context of ecosystem management. The fact, that there are similarities in BCC between distant ecosystems holds great significance because their impact on biogeochemical cycles and energy flow of the entire ecosystem (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008). Therefore, the results of oxygenation experiment carried out in Byfjord can give a good estimate for sifts in BCC in other estuaries, where similar natural or unnatural changes in oxygen concentration take place (Forth *et al.*, 2015).

CONCLUSIONS

This Ph.D. thesis investigated the spatiotemporal niche-partitioning of the bacterioplankton community composition in the western and central area of the Gulf of Finland, the easternmost sub-basin of the Baltic Sea. The Gulf of Finland is an estuary-like waterbody providing multiple natural gradients of physical, chemical and biological conditions; which all affect the bacterioplankton community assembly. Massively parallel tag sequencing of 16S rDNA was deployed to identify bacterioplankton community structure. The produced community profiles were compared to those recorded in similar ecosystems around the world to advance metacommunity theory in aquatic microbial ecology.

The main results of the present thesis can be summarised as follows:

- The unique closed filtration system (with syringe filters) was developed and used for sample collection.
- The core bacterioplankton populations transiently abundant or occupying an important seasonal niche, like members of "*Canditatus* Pelagibacteria" (SAR11 clade), *Rhodobacterales*, *Methylophilales*, *Ilumatobacteria Synechococcus* and *Sulfurimonas* were identified for the area.
- The vertical physicochemical structuring of the gulf had an immense impact on the bacterioplankton community assemblage. The covarying trio of depth, salinity, and oxygen concentration were put into a central role by all different analyses approaches. However, the community composition shifted according to redox-driven niche partitioning (users of alternative TEA in the hypoxic zone), thereby oxygen concentration could be considered as a main environmental factor shaping community structure.
- Present studies covered all seasons, including the first description of winter-• time pelagic bacterioplankton communities in the Baltic Sea. The seasonal changes of different interconnected physical, chemical and biological parameters were combined to determine their impact on a succession of BCC. Heterotrophic bacteria are substrate dependent, and organic matter produced by phytoplankton vary seasonally in quantity and chemical composition. Consequently, substrate-driven niche partitioning influenced bacterioplankton assemblage significantly. It is well established that freshwater associated bacterial lineages (members of Bacteroidetes, Betaproteobacteria, and Actinobacteria) have an important role in degrading high molecular weight organic substances during spring bloom, and there are shifts in BCC from start to collapse of the bloom. However, the present investigation demonstrated that in combination of substratedriven niche partitioning there is also redox-driven shifts taking place as POM sediments into the hypoxic near-bottom layer. The TEAs used to

decompose POM and DOM have an important role in biogeochemical cycles of the ecosystem.

- The investigated area remained into mesohaline salinity range, and the horizontal salinity gradient was only a few g kg⁻¹, so only a small fraction of surface water gradient of the Baltic Sea was covered. The effect of salinity on the BCC was noted mostly indirectly, as a large fraction of relatively abundant bacterial populations had their closest database affiliations to annotations isolated from brackish and freshwater ecosystems. Naturally, some of the key populations could be identified as endemic to the Baltic Sea. Most notably, *Sulfurimonas gotlandica* that is well-established species in the central Baltic Sea was found to be abundant chemolithoautotroph also at the redoxcline of central part of the Gulf of Finland. The dominant picocyanobacterial population *Synechococcus sp.* produced an identical match to annotation isolated from 3000-year-old sediments of the gulf that agrees with previous findings, which suggests this population to be endemic to the area.
- Some of the most predominant OTUs had their closest database affiliations • isolated from geographically distant estuaries, but with similar physicochemical structuring – brackish, (periodically) hypoxic and in temperate climate. Similarities in core bacterioplankton phylogenetic lineages were found with many other estuaries that also suffer from heavy anthropogenic influence and oxygen deficiency. These similar ecosystems provide specific niches and bacterial populations that thrive in have to be adapted to lower salinity range, be capable of temporarily persisting hypoxia/anoxia and in temperate climate be resilient to seasonal changes. These factors mentioned above create a highly specific environment that suits with the species-sorting paradigm of metacommunity theory. Therefore, a proposition to view habitats of these ecosystems as a metacommunity, which is defined as a set of local communities that are linked by dispersal of multiple potentially interacting species. This pattern has already been emerging in oxygen minimum zones, where closely related bacterial lineages figure and interact. Thereby, oxygen depleted estuaries can be considered as a salinity-driven subsystems of global redoxspecialized (covering all functional niches across the redox-tower) metacommunities

REFERENCES

- Aanderud Z, Jones S, Fierer N, Lennon JT. 2015. Resuscitation of the rare biosphere contributes to pulses of ecosystem activity. Frontiers in Microbiology 6.
- Alenius P, Myrberg K, Nekrasov A. 1998. The physical oceanography of the Gulf of Finland: a review. Boreal Environment Research 3(2):97-125.
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic acids research 25(17):3389-3402.
- Amann RI, Ludwig W, Schleifer K-H. 1995. Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. Microbiological reviews 59(1):143-169.
- Andersson A, Meier HM, Ripszam M, Rowe O, Wikner J, Haglund P, Eilola K, Legrand C, Figueroa D, Paczkowska J. 2015. Projected future climate change and Baltic Sea ecosystem management. Ambio 44(3):345-356.
- Andersson AF, Riemann L, Bertilsson S. 2010. Pyrosequencing reveals contrasting seasonal dynamics of taxa within Baltic Sea bacterioplankton communities. The ISME Journal 4(2):171-181.
- Andrejev O, Myrberg K, Alenius P, Lundberg PA. 2004. Mean circulation and water exchange in the Gulf of Finland-a study based on three-dimensional modelling. Boreal Environment Research 9(1):1-16.
- Azam F, Fenchel T, Field J, Gray J, Meyer-Reil L, Thingstad F. 1983. The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Marine ecology progress series Oldendorf 10(3):257-263.
- Azam F, Malfatti F. 2007. Microbial structuring of marine ecosystems. Nature Reviews Microbiology 5(10):782-791.
- Azam F, Smith D, Steward G, Hagström Å. 1994. Bacteria-organic matter coupling and its significance for oceanic carbon cycling. Microbial Ecology 28(2):167-179.
- Baas Becking LGM. 1934. Geobiologie of inleiding tot de milieukunde. Den Haag: W.P. Van Stockum & Zoon.
- Baltar F, Currie K, Stuck E, Roosa S, Morales SE. 2015. Oceanic fronts: transition zones for bacterioplankton community composition. Environmental microbiology reports.
- Beck DA, Kalyuzhnaya MG, Malfatti S, Tringe SG, del Rio TG, Ivanova N, Lidstrom ME, Chistoserdova L. 2013. A metagenomic insight into freshwater methane-utilizing communities and evidence for cooperation between the Methylococcaceae and the Methylophilaceae. PeerJ 1:e23.
- Behrenfeld MJ, Randerson JT, McClain CR, Feldman GC, Los SO, Tucker CJ, Falkowski PG, Field CB, Frouin R, Esaias WE. 2001. Biospheric primary production during an ENSO transition. Science 291(5513):2594-2597.

- Bergen B, Herlemann DP, Labrenz M, Jürgens K. 2014. Distribution of the verrucomicrobial clade Spartobacteria along a salinity gradient in the Baltic Sea. Environmental microbiology reports 6(6):625-630.
- Berman-Frank I, Lundgren P, Falkowski P. 2003. Nitrogen fixation and photosynthetic oxygen evolution in cyanobacteria. Research in Microbiology 154(3):157-164.
- Bernhard AE, Landry ZC, Blevins A, José R, Giblin AE, Stahl DA. 2010. Abundance of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and bacteria along an estuarine salinity gradient in relation to potential nitrification rates. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76(4):1285-1289.
- Bouvier TC, del Giorgio PA. 2002. Compositional changes in free-living bacterial communities along a salinity gradient in two temperate estuaries. Limnology and oceanography 47(2):453-470.
- Buchan A, González JM, Moran MA. 2005. Overview of the marine Roseobacter lineage. Applied and environmental microbiology 71(10):5665-5677.
- Buchan A, LeCleir GR, Gulvik CA, González JM. 2014. Master recyclers: features and functions of bacteria associated with phytoplankton blooms. Nature Reviews Microbiology 12(10):686-698.
- Carlson CA, Morris R, Parsons R, Treusch AH, Giovannoni SJ, Vergin K. 2009. Seasonal dynamics of SAR11 populations in the euphotic and mesopelagic zones of the northwestern Sargasso Sea. The ISME journal 3(3):283-295.
- Carstensen J, Andersen JH, Gustafsson BG, Conley DJ. 2014. Deoxygenation of the Baltic Sea during the last century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111(15):5628-5633.
- Cavanaugh CM, McKiness ZP, Newton IL, Stewart FJ. 2006. Marine chemosynthetic symbioses. The prokaryotes: Springer. p 475-507.
- Cohan FM. 2002. What are bacterial species? Annual Reviews in Microbiology 56(1):457-487.
- Cohan FM. 2002. What are bacterial species? Annual Reviews in Microbiology 56(1):457-487.
- Corliss JB, Dymond J, Gordon LI, Edmond JM. 1979. on the Galapagos Rift. Science 203:16.
- Crump BC, Hopkinson CS, Sogin ML, Hobbie JE. 2004. Microbial biogeography along an estuarine salinity gradient: combined influences of bacterial growth and residence time. Applied and environmental microbiology 70(3):1494-1505.
- Crump BC, Peranteau C, Beckingham B, Cornwell JC. 2007. Respiratory succession and community succession of bacterioplankton in seasonally anoxic estuarine waters. Applied and environmental microbiology 73(21):6802-6810.
- Curtis TP, Sloan WT, Scannell JW. 2002. Estimating prokaryotic diversity and its limits. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99(16):10494-10499.

- Dellwig O, Leipe T, März C, Glockzin M, Pollehne F, Schnetger B, Yakushev EV, Böttcher ME, Brumsack H-J. 2010. A new particulate Mn–Fe–P-shuttle at the redoxcline of anoxic basins. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 74(24):7100-7115.
- DeLong EF, Franks DG, Alldredge AL. 1993. Phylogenetic diversity of aggregateattached vs. free-living marine bacterial assemblages. Limnology and Oceanography 38(5):924-934.
- Diaz RJ, Rosenberg R. 2008. Spreading Dead Zones and Consequences for Marine Ecosystems. Science 321(5891):926-929.
- Dupont CL, Larsson J, Yooseph S, Ininbergs K, Goll J, Asplund-Samuelsson J, McCrow JP, Celepli N, Allen LZ, Ekman M. 2014. Functional tradeoffs underpin salinity-driven divergence in microbial community composition. PLoS One 9(2):e89549.
- Dykhuizen DE. 1998. Santa Rosalia revisited: why are there so many species of bacteria? Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 73(1):25-33.
- Eiler A, Hayakawa DH, Rappé MS. 2011. Non-random assembly of bacterioplankton communities in the subtropical North Pacific Ocean. Front Microbiol 2:140.
- Elken J, Raudsepp U, Lips U. 2003. On the estuarine transport reversal in deep layers of the Gulf of Finland. Journal of Sea Research 49(4):267-274.
- Falkowski PG, Fenchel T, Delong EF. 2008. The microbial engines that drive Earth's biogeochemical cycles. science 320(5879):1034-1039.
- Fennel W, Seifert T. 2008. Oceanographic processes in the Baltic Sea. Die Küste 74:77-91.
- Forth M, Liljebladh B, Stigebrandt A, Hall POJ, Treusch AH. 2015. Effects of ecological engineered oxygenation on the bacterial community structure in an anoxic fjord in western Sweden. ISME J 9(3):656-669.
- Fuchs BM, Woebken D, Zubkov MV, Burkill P, Amann R. 2005. Molecular identification of picoplankton populations in contrasting waters of the Arabian Sea. Aquatic microbial ecology 39(2):145-157.
- Fuhrman JA, Steele JA, Hewson I, Schwalbach MS, Brown MV, Green JL, Brown JH. 2008. A latitudinal diversity gradient in planktonic marine bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105(22):7774-7778.
- Galand PE, Casamayor EO, Kirchman DL, Lovejoy C. 2009. Ecology of the rare microbial biosphere of the Arctic Ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106(52):22427-22432.
- George MG, Julia A, Timothy G. 2001. Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology. Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI:48824-44320.
- Gibbons SM, Caporaso JG, Pirrung M, Field D, Knight R, Gilbert JA. 2013. Evidence for a persistent microbial seed bank throughout the global ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110(12):4651-4655.

- Gilbert JA, Steele JA, Caporaso JG, Steinbrück L, Reeder J, Temperton B, Huse S, McHardy AC, Knight R, Joint I. 2012. Defining seasonal marine microbial community dynamics. The ISME journal 6(2):298-308.
- Giovannoni SJ, Stingl U. 2005. Molecular diversity and ecology of microbial plankton. Nature 437(7057):343-348.
- Giovannoni SJ, Tripp HJ, Givan S, Podar M, Vergin KL, Baptista D, Bibbs L, Eads J, Richardson TH, Noordewier M. 2005. Genome streamlining in a cosmopolitan oceanic bacterium. science 309(5738):1242-1245.
- Glaubitz S, Labrenz M, Jost G, Jürgens K. 2010. Diversity of active chemolithoautotrophic prokaryotes in the sulfidic zone of a Black Sea pelagic redoxcline as determined by rRNA-based stable isotope probing. FEMS microbiology ecology 74(1):32-41.
- Gottschalk G. 2012. Bacterial metabolism: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Grote J, Jost G, Labrenz M, Herndl GJ, Jürgens K. 2008. Epsilonproteobacteria represent the major portion of chemoautotrophic bacteria in sulfidic waters of pelagic redoxclines of the Baltic and Black Seas. Applied and environmental microbiology 74(24):7546-7551.
- Hamady M, Walker JJ, Harris JK, Gold NJ, Knight R. 2008. Error-correcting barcoded primers allow hundreds of samples to be pyrosequenced in multiplex. Nature methods 5(3):235.
- Hawley AK, Brewer HM, Norbeck AD, Paša-Tolić L, Hallam SJ. 2014. Metaproteomics reveals differential modes of metabolic coupling among ubiquitous oxygen minimum zone microbes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111(31):11395-11400.
- Helsinki Commission. 2009. Eutrophication in the Baltic Sea—an Integrated Thematic Assessment of the Effects of Nutrient Enrichment and Eutrophication in the Baltic Sea Region.
- Herlemann DP, Labrenz M, Jürgens K, Bertilsson S, Waniek JJ, Andersson AF. 2011. Transitions in bacterial communities along the 2000 km salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea. The ISME journal 5(10):1571-1579.
- Herlemann DP, Woelk J, Labrenz M, Jürgens K. 2014. Diversity and abundance of "Pelagibacterales" (SAR11) in the Baltic Sea salinity gradient. Systematic and applied microbiology 37(8):601-604.
- Hernandez ME, Beck DA, Lidstrom ME, Chistoserdova L. 2015. Oxygen availability is a major factor in determining the composition of microbial communities involved in methane oxidation. PeerJ 3:e801.
- Hewson I, Fuhrman JA. 2004. Richness and diversity of bacterioplankton species along an estuarine gradient in Moreton Bay, Australia. Applied and environmental microbiology 70(6):3425-3433.
- Howard EC, Henriksen JR, Buchan A, Reisch CR, Bürgmann H, Welsh R, Ye W, González JM, Mace K, Joye SB. 2006. Bacterial taxa that limit sulfur flux from the ocean. Science 314(5799):649-652.
- Hubbell SP. 2001. The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography (MPB-32): Princeton University Press.

- Hugenholtz P, Goebel BM, Pace NR. 1998. Impact of culture-independent studies on the emerging phylogenetic view of bacterial diversity. Journal of bacteriology 180(18):4765-4774.
- Hugenholtz P. 2002. Exploring prokaryotic diversity in the genomic era. Genome Biol 3(2):1-0003.0008.
- Hugerth LW, Larsson J, Alneberg J, Lindh MV, Legrand C, Pinhassi J, Andersson AF. 2015a. Metagenome-assembled genomes uncover a global brackish microbiome. Genome biology 16(1):1-18.
- Hugerth LW, Larsson J, Alneberg J, Lindh MV, Legrand C, Pinhassi J, Andersson AF. 2015b. Metagenome-assembled genomes uncover a global brackish microbiome. bioRxiv.
- Itoh T, Yamanoi K, Kudo T, Ohkuma M, Takashina T. 2011. Aciditerrimonas ferrireducens gen. nov., sp. nov., an iron-reducing thermoacidophilic actinobacterium isolated from a solfataric field. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology 61(6):1281-1285.
- Jeffries TC, Schmitz Fontes ML, Harrison DP, van Dongen-Vogels V, Eyre BD, Ralph PJ, Seymour JR. 2015. Bacterioplankton dynamics within a large anthropogenically impacted urban estuary. Frontiers in Microbiology 6:1438.
- Jephson T, Carlsson P. 2009. Species-and stratification-dependent diel vertical migration behaviour of three dinoflagellate species in a laboratory study. Journal of plankton research:fbp078.
- Jones SE, McMahon KD. 2009. Species-sorting may explain an apparent minimal effect of immigration on freshwater bacterial community dynamics. Environmental microbiology 11(4):905-913.
- Jones WJ. 2010. High-throughput sequencing and metagenomics. Estuaries and Coasts 33(4):944-952.
- Jürgens K, Matz C. 2002. Predation as a shaping force for the phenotypic and genotypic composition of planktonic bacteria. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 81(1-4):413-434.
- Karlson K, Rosenberg R, Bonsdorff E. 2002. Temporal and spatial large-scale effects of eutrophication and oxygen deficiency on benthic fauna in Scandinavian and Baltic waters: a review. Oceanography and Marine Biology 40:427-489.
- Khan ST, Horiba Y, Yamamoto M, Hiraishi A. 2002. Members of the family Comamonadaceae as primary poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate)-degrading denitrifiers in activated sludge as revealed by a polyphasic approach. Applied and environmental microbiology 68(7):3206-3214.
- Kisand V, Andersson N, Wikner J. 2005. Bacterial freshwater species successfully immigrate to the brackish water environment in the northern Baltic. Limnology and oceanography 50(3):945-956.
- Kisand V, Wikner J. 2003. Combining culture-dependent and-independent methodologies for estimation of richness of estuarine bacterioplankton

consuming riverine dissolved organic matter. Applied and environmental microbiology 69(6):3607-3616.

- Klais R, Tamminen T, Kremp A, Spilling K, Olli K. 2011. Decadal-scale changes of dinoflagellates and diatoms in the anomalous Baltic Sea spring bloom. PLoS One 6(6):e21567.
- Koskinen K, Hultman J, Paulin L, Auvinen P, Kankaanpää H. 2011. Spatially differing bacterial communities in water columns of the northern Baltic Sea. FEMS microbiology ecology 75(1):99-110.
- Kullenberg G, Jacobsen T. 1981. The Baltic Sea: an outline of its physical oceanography. Marine Pollution Bulletin 12(6):183-186.
- Laanemets J, Zhurbas V, Elken J, Vahtera E. 2009. Dependence of upwellingmediated nutrient transport on wind forcing, bottom topography and stratification in the Gulf of Finland: model experiments. Boreal environment research 14(1).
- Lalli C, Parsons TR. 1997. Biological Oceanography: An Introduction: An Introduction: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Langenheder S, Berga M, Östman Ö, Székely AJ. 2012. Temporal variation of βdiversity and assembly mechanisms in a bacterial metacommunity. The ISME journal 6(6):1107-1114.
- Langenheder S, Székely AJ. 2011. Species sorting and neutral processes are both important during the initial assembly of bacterial communities. The ISME journal 5(7):1086-1094.
- Larsson U, Hajdu S, Walve J, Elmgren R. 2001. Baltic Sea nitrogen fixation estimated from the summer increase in upper mixed layer total nitrogen. Limnology and Oceanography 46(4):811-820.
- Leibold MA, Holyoak M, Mouquet N, Amarasekare P, Chase JM, Hoopes MF, Holt RD, Shurin JB, Law R, Tilman D and others. 2004. The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecology Letters 7(7):601-613.
- Lennon JT, Jones SE. 2011. Microbial seed banks: the ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. Nat Rev Micro 9(2):119-130.
- Li H, Xing P, Wu QL. 2012. Characterization of the bacterial community composition in a hypoxic zone induced by Microcystis blooms in Lake Taihu, China. FEMS microbiology ecology 79(3):773-784.
- Liblik T, Lips U. 2011. Characteristics and variability of the vertical thermohaline structure in the Gulf of Finland in summer. Boreal environment research 16:73-83.
- Lindh MV, Sjöstedt J, Andersson AF, Baltar F, Hugerth LW, Lundin D, Muthusamy S, Legrand C, Pinhassi J. 2015. Disentangling seasonal bacterioplankton population dynamics by high-frequency sampling.
- Lindström ES, Forslund M, Algesten G, Bergström AK. 2006. External control of bacterial community structure in lakes. Limnology and oceanography 51(1):339-342.

- Lindström ES, Langenheder S. 2012. Local and regional factors influencing bacterial community assembly. Environmental Microbiology Reports 4(1):1-9.
- Lindström ES, Östman Ö. 2011. The importance of dispersal for bacterial community composition and functioning. PloS one 6(10):e25883.
- Lips I, Lips U. 2008. Abiotic factors influencing cyanobacterial bloom development in the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). Hydrobiologia 614(1):133-140.
- Lips U, Lips I, Liblik T, Kikas V, Altoja K, Buhhalko N, Rünk N. 2011. Vertical dynamics of summer phytoplankton in a stratified estuary (Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea). Ocean Dynamics 61(7):903-915.
- Liu J, Fu B, Yang H, Zhao M, He B, Zhang X-H. 2015. Phylogenetic shifts of bacterioplankton community composition along the Pearl Estuary: the potential impact of hypoxia and nutrients. Frontiers in microbiology 6.
- Logares R, Lindström ES, Langenheder S, Logue JB, Paterson H, Laybourn-Parry J, Rengefors K, Tranvik L, Bertilsson S. 2013. Biogeography of bacterial communities exposed to progressive long-term environmental change. The ISME journal 7(5):937-948.
- Logue JB, Lindström ES. 2010. Species sorting affects bacterioplankton community composition as determined by 16S rDNA and 16S rRNA fingerprints. The ISME journal 4(6):729-738.
- Logue JB, Mouquet N, Peter H, Hillebrand H, Group MW. 2011. Empirical approaches to metacommunities: a review and comparison with theory. Trends in ecology & evolution 26(9):482-491.
- Long RA, Azam F. 2001. Microscale patchiness of bacterioplankton assemblage richness in seawater. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 26:103.
- Lonsdale P. 1977. Clustering of suspension-feeding macrobenthos near abyssal hydrothermal vents at oceanic spreading centers. Deep Sea Research 24(9):857-863.
- Lozupone CA, Knight R. 2007. Global patterns in bacterial diversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(27):11436-11440.
- Lynch MDJ, Neufeld JD. 2015. Ecology and exploration of the rare biosphere. Nat Rev Micro 13(4):217-229.
- Margulies M, Egholm M, Altman WE, Attiya S, Bader JS, Bemben LA, Berka J, Braverman MS, Chen Y-J, Chen Z. 2005. Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. Nature 437(7057):376-380.
- Massa S, Caruso M, Trovatelli F, Tosques M. 1998. Comparison of plate count agar and R2A medium for enumeration of heterotrophic bacteria in natural mineral water. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 14(5):727-730.
- Mazard S, Ostrowski M, Partensky F, Scanlan DJ. 2012. Multi-locus sequence analysis, taxonomic resolution and biogeography of marine Synechococcus. Environmental microbiology 14(2):372-386.
- Matsumoto A, Kasai H, Matsuo Y, Ōmura S, Shizuri Y, Takahashi Y. 2009. Ilumatobacter fluminis gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel actinobacterium isolated

from the sediment of an estuary. The Journal of general and applied microbiology 55(3):201-205.

Mayr E. 1957. The species problem.

- Meyer D, Prien RD, Dellwig O, Waniek JJ, Schulz–Bull DE. 2014. Electrode measurements of the oxidation reduction potential in the Gotland Deep using a moored profiling instrumentation. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 141:26-36.
- Morris RM, Rappé MS, Connon SA, Vergin KL, Siebold WA, Carlson CA, Giovannoni SJ. 2002. SAR11 clade dominates ocean surface bacterioplankton communities. Nature 420(6917):806-810.
- Munn C. 2011. Marine microbiology: Garland Science.
- Ofiţeru ID, Lunn M, Curtis TP, Wells GF, Criddle CS, Francis CA, Sloan WT. 2010. Combined niche and neutral effects in a microbial wastewater treatment community. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107(35):15345-15350.
- Oksanen J, Kindt R, Legendre P, O'Hara B, Stevens MHH, Oksanen MJ, Suggests M. 2007. The vegan package. Community ecology package 10.
- Orcutt BN, Sylvan JB, Knab NJ, Edwards KJ. 2011. Microbial ecology of the dark ocean above, at, and below the seafloor. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 75(2):361-422.
- Pace NR, Stahl DA, Lane DJ, Olsen GJ. 1985. Analyzing natural microbial populations by rRNA sequences. ASM American Society for Microbiology News 51(1):4-12.
- Pace NR. 2009. Mapping the tree of life: progress and prospects. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 73(4):565-576.
- Pedrós-Alió C. 2006. Marine microbial diversity: can it be determined? Trends in microbiology 14(6):257-263.
- Pinhassi J, Hagstroem A. 2000. Seasonal succession in marine bacterioplankton. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 21(3):245-256.
- Pinhassi J, Sala MM, Havskum H, Peters F, Guadayol O, Malits A, Marrasé C. 2004. Changes in bacterioplankton composition under different phytoplankton regimens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70(11):6753-6766.
- Pinhassi J, Zweifel UL, Hagstroëm A. 1997. Dominant marine bacterioplankton species found among colony-forming bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63(9):3359-3366.
- Pomeroy LR, Williams PJI, Azam F, Hobbie JE. 2007. The microbial loop. Oceanography 20(2):28.
- Pomeroy LR. 1974. The ocean's food web, a changing paradigm. Bioscience 24(9):499-504.
- Pommier T, Canbäck B, Riemann L, Boström K, Simu K, Lundberg P, Tunlid A, Hagström Å. 2007. Global patterns of diversity and community structure in marine bacterioplankton. Molecular ecology 16(4):867-880.

- Prosser JI, Bohannan BJ, Curtis TP, Ellis RJ, Firestone MK, Freckleton RP, Green JL, Green LE, Killham K, Lennon JJ. 2007. The role of ecological theory in microbial ecology. Nature Reviews Microbiology 5(5):384-392.
- Rappe MS, Giovannoni SJ. 2003. The uncultured microbial majority. Annual Reviews in Microbiology 57(1):369-394.
- Riemann L, Leitet C, Pommier T, Simu K, Holmfeldt K, Larsson U, Hagström Å. 2008. The native bacterioplankton community in the central Baltic Sea is influenced by freshwater bacterial species. Applied and environmental microbiology 74(2):503-515.
- Riemann L, Leitet C, Pommier T, Simu K, Holmfeldt K, Larsson U, Hagström Å. 2008. The native bacterioplankton community in the central Baltic Sea is influenced by freshwater bacterial species. Applied and environmental microbiology 74(2):503-515.
- Rosenberg R. 1977. Benthic macrofaunal dynamics, production, and dispersion in an oxygen-deficient estuary of west Sweden. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 26(2):107-133.
- Rosenberg R. 1977. Benthic macrofaunal dynamics, production, and dispersion in an oxygen-deficient estuary of west Sweden. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 26(2):107-133.
- Rousseaux CS, Gregg WW. 2014. Interannual Variation in Phytoplankton Class-Specific Primary Production at a Global Scale.
- Ruan Q, Dutta D, Schwalbach MS, Steele JA, Fuhrman JA, Sun F. 2006. Local similarity analysis reveals unique associations among marine bacterioplankton species and environmental factors. Bioinformatics 22(20):2532-2538.
- Schlegel HG, Bowien B. 1989. Autotrophic bacteria: Science Tech Publishers.
- Schmale O, Blumenberg M, Kießlich K, Jakobs G, Berndmeyer C, Labrenz M, Thiel V, Rehder G. 2012. Aerobic methanotrophy within the pelagic redoxzone of the Gotland Deep (central Baltic Sea). Biogeosciences 9(12):4969-4977.
- Schmale O, Schneider von Deimling J, Gülzow W, Nausch G, Waniek J, Rehder G. 2010. Distribution of methane in the water column of the Baltic Sea. Geophysical Research Letters 37(12).
- Schmidt TM, DeLong E, Pace N. 1991. Analysis of a marine picoplankton community by 16S rRNA gene cloning and sequencing. Journal of bacteriology 173(14):4371-4378.
- Scholz F, McManus J, Sommer S. 2013. The manganese and iron shuttle in a modern euxinic basin and implications for molybdenum cycling at euxinic ocean margins. Chemical Geology 355:56-68.
- Selje N, Simon M. 2003. Composition and dynamics of particle-associated and free-living bacterial communities in the Weser estuary, Germany. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 30(3):221-237.
- Shmida A, Wilson MV. 1985. Biological determinants of species diversity. Journal of biogeography:1-20.

- Sloan WT, Lunn M, Woodcock S, Head IM, Nee S, Curtis TP. 2006. Quantifying the roles of immigration and chance in shaping prokaryote community structure. Environmental microbiology 8(4):732-740.
- Smith DC, Simon M, Alldredge AL, Azam F. 1992. Intense hydrolytic enzyme activity on marine aggregates and implications for rapid particle dissolution. Nature 359(6391):139-142.
- Smith DJ, Timonen HJ, Jaffe DA, Griffin DW, Birmele MN, Perry KD, Ward PD, Roberts MS. 2013. Intercontinental dispersal of bacteria and archaea by transpacific winds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79(4):1134-1139.
- Sogin ML, Morrison HG, Huber JA, Welch DM, Huse SM, Neal PR, Arrieta JM, Herndl GJ. 2006. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(32):12115-12120.
- Staley JT, Konopka A. 1985. Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Annual Reviews in Microbiology 39(1):321-346.
- Steindler L, Schwalbach MS, Smith DP, Chan F, Giovannoni SJ. 2011. Energy starved Candidatus Pelagibacter ubique substitutes light-mediated ATP production for endogenous carbon respiration. PLoS One 6(5):e19725.
- Stepanauskas R, Moran MA, Bergamaschi BA, Hollibaugh JT. 2003. Covariance of bacterioplankton composition and environmental variables in a temperate delta system. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 31(1):85-98.
- Stigebrandt A. 2001. Physical oceanography of the Baltic Sea. A systems analysis of the Baltic Sea: Springer. p 19-74.
- Stramma L, Johnson GC, Sprintall J, Mohrholz V. 2008. Expanding oxygenminimum zones in the tropical oceans. science 320(5876):655-658.
- Šimek K, Pernthaler J, Weinbauer MG, Hornák K, Dolan JR, Nedoma J, Mašín M, Amann R. 2001. Changes in bacterial community composition and dynamics and viral mortality rates associated with enhanced flagellate grazing in a mesoeutrophic reservoir. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67(6):2723-2733.
- Zaikova E, Walsh DA, Stilwell CP, Mohn WW, Tortell PD, Hallam SJ. 2010. Microbial community dynamics in a seasonally anoxic fjord: Saanich Inlet, British Columbia. Environmental microbiology 12(1):172-191.
- Zakharova YR, Galachyants YP, Kurilkina MI, Likhoshvay AV, Petrova DP, Shishlyannikov SM, Ravin NV, Mardanov AV, Beletsky AV, Likhoshway YV. 2013. The structure of microbial community and degradation of diatoms in the deep near-bottom layer of Lake Baikal. PloS one 8(4):e59977.
- Tebo BM, Bargar JR, Clement BG, Dick GJ, Murray KJ, Parker D, Verity R, Webb SM. 2004. Biogenic manganese oxides: properties and mechanisms of formation. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 32:287-328.

- Teeling H, Fuchs BM, Becher D, Klockow C, Gardebrecht A, Bennke CM, Kassabgy M, Huang S, Mann AJ, Waldmann J. 2012. Substrate-controlled succession of marine bacterioplankton populations induced by a phytoplankton bloom. Science 336(6081):608-611.
- Thureborn P, Lundin D, Plathan J, Poole AM, Sjöberg B-M, Sjöling S. 2013. A metagenomics transect into the deepest point of the Baltic Sea reveals clear stratification of microbial functional capacities. PloS one 8(9):e74983.
- Troussellier M, Schafer H, Batailler N, Bernard L, Courties C, Lebaron P, Muyzer G, Servais P, Vives-Rego J. 2002. Bacterial activity and genetic richness along an estuarine gradient (Rhone River plume, France). Aquatic Microbial Ecology 28(1):13-24.
- Trouwborst RE, Clement BG, Tebo BM, Glazer BT, Luther GW. 2006. Soluble Mn (III) in suboxic zones. Science 313(5795):1955-1957.
- Ulloa O, Wright JJ, Belmar L, Hallam SJ. 2013. Pelagic oxygen minimum zone microbial communities. The Prokaryotes: Springer. p 113-122.
- Vahtera E, Conley DJ, Gustafsson BG, Kuosa H, Pitkänen H, Savchuk OP, Tamminen T, Viitasalo M, Voss M, Wasmund N. 2007. Internal ecosystem feedbacks enhance nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria blooms and complicate management in the Baltic Sea. AMBIO: A journal of the Human Environment 36(2):186-194.
- Wang Q, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM, Cole JR. 2007. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Applied and environmental microbiology 73(16):5261-5267.
- Weber KA, Achenbach LA, Coates JD. 2006. Microorganisms pumping iron: anaerobic microbial iron oxidation and reduction. Nature Reviews Microbiology 4(10):752-764.
- Whitman WB, Coleman DC, Wiebe WJ. 1998. Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 95(12):6578-6583.
- Vieites JM, Guazzaroni M-E, Beloqui A, Golyshin PN, Ferrer M. 2009. Metagenomics approaches in systems microbiology. FEMS microbiology reviews 33(1):236-255.
- Woebken D, Fuchs BM, Kuypers MM, Amann R. 2007. Potential interactions of particle-associated anammox bacteria with bacterial and archaeal partners in the Namibian upwelling system. Applied and environmental microbiology 73(14):4648-4657.
- Woese CR, Fox GE. 1977. Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: the primary kingdoms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 74(11):5088-5090.

Woese CR. 1987. Bacterial evolution. Microbiological reviews 51(2):221.

Voget S, Wemheuer B, Brinkhoff T, Vollmers J, Dietrich S, Giebel H-A, Beardsley C, Sardemann C, Bakenhus I, Billerbeck S. 2015. Adaptation of an abundant Roseobacter RCA organism to pelagic systems revealed by genomic and transcriptomic analyses. The ISME journal 9(2):371-384.

- Woodcock S, Van Der Gast CJ, Bell T, Lunn M, Curtis TP, Head IM, Sloan WT. 2007. Neutral assembly of bacterial communities. FEMS microbiology ecology 62(2):171-180.
- Wright JJ, Konwar KM, Hallam SJ. 2012. Microbial ecology of expanding oxygen minimum zones. Nature Reviews Microbiology 10(6):381-394.
- Östman Ö, Drakare S, Kritzberg ES, Langenheder S, Logue JB, Lindström ES. 2010. Regional invariance among microbial communities. Ecology letters 13(1):118-127.

PUBLICATIONS

Paper I

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Metsis, M. (2014). Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). *Journal of Marine Systems*, 129, 127 - 134.

Journal of Marine Systems 129 (2014) 127-134

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Marine Systems

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jmarsys



Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea)



Peeter Laas ^{a,*}, Jaak Simm ^b, Inga Lips ^a, Madis Metsis ^c

^a Marine Systems Institute at Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia Rd. 15A, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

^b Centre for Biology of Integrated Systems at Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia Rd. 15A, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

^c Institute of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Tallinn University, Narva Rd. 25, 10120 Tallinn, Estonia

institute of Martematics and Natural Sciences, fulling Onversity, Natva Ra. 25, 10120 fulling, Estoni

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 December 2011 Received in revised form 17 July 2013 Accepted 22 July 2013 Available online 6 August 2013

Keywords: The Gulf of Finland The Baltic Sea Bacterioplankton 16S rDNA 454 sequencing Community structure

ABSTRACT

The microbial communities in the Baltic Sea are extremely diverse and highly dynamic and undergoing shifts in dominant phylotypes in response to spatial and temporal environmental gradients. We present the first study of wintertime bacterioplankton with a high-throughput sequencing approach. Using barcoded pyrosequencing of the 16S rRNA gene we investigated the bacterial diversity and spatial distribution of winter picoplankton communities in the Gulf of Finland.

We analyzed ten samples and identified 609 OTUs (operational taxanomic units), mostly members of Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Cyanobacteria. Most abundant OTUs of the dataset were identified as Sulfurimonas and Pelagibacter, which dominated the near-bottom and surface layers, respectively. Surface communities yielded about the same species richness estimates than a previous study conducted in same area during springtime.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The world's oceans are filled with enormous quantities of microbes (Whitman et al., 1998). Microbes are key components of the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems and global biogeochemical processes (Azam et al., 1983; Falkowski et al., 2008). Culture-independent community analysis methods have dawned a new era in microbial ecology by enabling identification of the not-yet-cultured majority of microbes. The bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) has been observed to possess great variability on a global and even millimeter scale (e.g., Long and Azam, 2001; Pommier et al., 2007). Proliferation of highthroughput sequencing technologies continues to expand our understanding of microbial diversity and community structure, mostly via deep sequencing and comparative analysis of the 16S rRNA gene, which has revealed the vast diversity of rare microbes in different marine environments (Andersson et al., 2010; Galand et al., 2009; Gilbert et al., 2009; Kirchman et al., 2010; Sogin et al., 2006).

The Baltic Sea is one of the largest brackish water basins in the world. It is under considerable anthropogenic pressure as it serves as a drainage area for over 85 million people in 14 different countries. The Baltic Sea is characterized by long retention time (>25 years) and horizontal and vertical salinity gradients (Stigebrandt, 2001). The Gulf of Finland is the easternmost sub-basin of the Baltic Sea. It is directly connected, without a sill, to the Baltic Proper at its western end and to the Neva River's mouth at its eastern end. The salinity increases from east to west. It is about 2–6 in the surface water and about 5–9 in the deep water (Kullenberg, 1981). The strong stratification in the central Gulf of Finland due to the seasonal thermocline and permanent halocline hinders mixing in the water column (Alenius et al., 1998). This, combined with eutrophication driven high primary production, leads to oxygen depletion in the near bottom layers. Environmental gradients are reflected in spatial variability of the bacterioplankton assemblage due to the influence of a complex matrix of biotic and abiotic environmental variables (Fortunato et al., 2012).

Salinity is one of the major environmental factors influencing microbial communities in estuaries (Crump et al., 2004; Fortunato et al., 2012; Lozupone and Knight, 2007; Troussellier et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2006) and in brackish water environments like the Baltic Sea (Herlemann et al., 2011). Salinity is also a main selective environmental parameter shaping the Baltic Sea ice bacterial community structure (Kaartokallio et al., 2005), which mainly consists of representatives of *Alpha-*, *Beta-*, *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* (also known as *Cytophaga-Flavobacteria-Bacteroides*) phyla, that differ markedly from wintertime microbial communities of underlying water (Kaartokallio et al., 2005, 2008; Petri and Imhoff, 2001).

Pelagic BCC in the Baltic Sea is characterized by a unique combination of typical freshwater phylogenetic groups (mostly representatives of *Actinobacteria*, *Betaproteobacteria*, *Verrucomicrobia*) together with a lack of typical marine groups and a presence of autochthonous brackish microbial populations (Andersson et al., 2010; Hagström et al., 2000;

^{*} Corresponding author at: Marine Systems Institute, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15A, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia. Tel: + 372 6204307; fax: + 372 6204301. *E-mail address*: peeter, laa@msitu.ee (P. Laas).

^{0924-7963/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2013.07.016

Herlemann et al., 2011; Kisand et al., 2005; Riemann et al., 2008). In the central Baltic Sea about a third of the 454 sequence reads were observed to be related to bacterial phyla characteristic to freshwater ecosystems (Andersson et al., 2010). Recently, the high spatial dynamics of Baltic Sea BCC is demonstrated by pyrosequencing of the 16S rRNA gene (Herlemann et al., 2011; Koskinen et al., 2011). Interestingly, the bacterial diversity is not changing significantly along the Baltic Sea salinity gradient (Herlemann et al., 2011), whereas reduced diversity of higher eukaryotic organisms can be observed in intermediate salinity ranges (reviewed by Telesh and Khlebovich, 2010). In temperate basins the microbial communities underlie a seasonal succession. In the Baltic Sea high seasonal dynamics of BCC were demonstrated with cultivation, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis, clone libraries and pyrosequencing methods (Andersson et al., 2010; Pinhassi and Hagström, 2000; Riemann et al., 2008), excluding winter months.

Temperature is an important factor influencing bacterial abundance, production and specific growth rate (Shiah and Ducklow, 1994; White et al., 1991). Andersson et al. (2010) used deep sequencing to study eight samples collected over an annual cycle (May to October of 2003 and May of 2004) and observed contrasting temporal dynamics with a total of 4624 OTUs (operational taxonomic units) identified, out of which, less than 2% were present in all samples. Global predictions of bacterial diversity peaks are at high latitudes in winter (Ladau et al., 2013). The aim of this study was to examine spatial variability and diversity of wintertime BCC in the Gulf of Finland using next-generation sequencing method. Based on earlier studies, we presumed that winter BCC would be considerately different from spring and autumn microbial communities.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Sample collection and extraction of community DNA

Water sampling aboard the RV Salme was performed on 8–9 December 2010 from three stations. Samples were collected from the central part of the Gulf of Finland (stations NS6 (59° 50,29' N, 24° 48,63' E) and NS8 (59° 51,36'N, 25° 47,38'E)) and from the entrance area of the Gulf of Finland (station NS1 (59° 26,84' N, 22° 57,69'; Fig. 1)). The length of transect was about 170 km. Samples were collected from three depths: at 5 m, 40 m (only in station NS8) and 8–13 m above the seafloor (Table 1). A rosette sampler (M1018, General Oceanics) equipped with 8 Niskin water samplers (volume 1.7 l) was



Fig. 1. Map of the sampling stations in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea.

used for sampling. For background information the depth profiles of conductivity and temperature were obtained with a SBE19plus CTD probe (conductivity-temperature-depth probe, Sea-Bird Electronics), chlorophyll *a* fluorescence with WETStar fluorometer (WETLabs), dissolved oxygen with SBE 43 probe (Sea-Bird Electronics), and turbidity with ECO-NTU Turbidity Meter (WETLabs). Chemical analyses were carried out by the Estonian Marine Institute (Tartu University) according to EVS-EN standard methods.

Water samples for microbial community extraction were collected into sterile bottles (Nalgene) and immediately filtered on 0.22 µm filters (Millipore, Millex-GP50) after preliminary filtration through 2.0 µm prefilters (Millipore, Millex-AP 50). The scheme of filtration system (except improvement by using Whatman syringe filters) is demonstrated in Supplementary Fig. 1. The sample volume varied between 0.5 and 1.0 l. Filters were kept frozen at -20 °C until community DNA was extracted with a PowerSoil® DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc.). Few modifications were made to the protocol: syringe filters were incubated with the lyses buffer in the casing at 60 °C for 30 min and then eluate was removed.

2.2. Amplification of bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences

The bacterial 16S rRNA gene V1-V2 hypervariable regions were amplified in two polymerase chain reactions (PCR). In the first reaction universal bacterial primers BSF8 and BSR357 (in italics: McKenna et al., 2008) were complemented with 8 nt barcode (marked as nnnnnnn; Hamady et al., 2008) and partial adapter sequences (underlined): F8 5' TTGGCAGTCTCAGnnnnnnnAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG 3' and R357 5' GTCTCCGACTCAGnnnnnnnCTGCTGCCTYCCGTA 3'. PCR was performed with Smart-Taq Hot Red 2 PCR Mix (Naxo, Estonia), 1 µl of extracted DNA, 0,2 µM each primer, using the following cycling parameters: 15 minute denaturation followed by 3 cycles (30 s at 95 $^\circ\text{C}$, 30 s at 50 °C, 60 s at 72 °C), 28 cycles (30 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 65 °C, 60 s at 72 °C) and a final extension at 72 °C for 7 min. To achieve full length sequencing adapters, second PCR amplification was performed (A 5'-CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTCAG-3' and B 5'-CCTATCCCCTGTG TGCCTTGGCAGTCTCAG-3'). The reaction was run with Smart-Taq Hot Red $2 \times$ PCR Mix, 1 µl of $10 \times$ diluted amplicon, 0.2 µM each primer; using the following cycling parameters: 15 minute denaturation followed by 5 cycles (30 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 62 °C, 60 s at 72 °C), 20 cycles (30 s at 95 °C, 60 s at 72 °C) and a final extension at 72 °C for 10 min. PCR reactions were run in a thermal cycler 2720 (Applied Biosystems). Each PCR product was gel purified from a 1.5% agarose gel. DNA was isolated using the QIAquick® Gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Inc.). DNA concentrations were measured with a Qubit fluorometer (Invitrogen Corporation). 454 pyrosequencing (Margulies et al., 2005) was performed on a Roche GS Junior System (Biotap LLC, Estonia, Tallinn).

2.3. Bioinformatics

Reads with low quality and shorter than 150 bp (base pairs) were removed from the dataset. OTUs were defined using the average neighborclustering algorithm of MOTHUR 1.19.1 (Schloss et al., 2009) with 97% similarity threshold. Reference sequences were selected from the SILVA ribosomal RNA database (Pruesse et al., 2007). The PyroNoise algorithm was used to discard homopolymer-derived errors (Quince et al., 2011) and UCHIME to remove chimeric DNA sequences caused by PCR errors (Edgar et al., 2011). Taxonomic assignments were processed by the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) naïve Bayesian Classifier (Wang et al., 2007) and BLAST (Altschul et al., 1997) searched against a local NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) nucleotide database (released on the 29th of January 2011, http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). Sequences matching eukaryotic DNA were discarded from the dataset. Statistical analyses were carried out with program R version 2.14.0 (http://www.r-project.org), ACE (Abundance-based Coverage Estimation; Chao and Lee, 1992) and Chao1 (Chao, 1984)

Table 1	
Variation of environmental parameters in different static	ns and depths.

Station	Sample depth (m)	Total depth (m)	Temperature (°C)	Salinity	Oxygen (mg l ⁻¹)	Chl a (mg m ⁻³)	NH4 ⁺ (μM)	$\frac{NO_2}{MO_3}$ (μM)	N _{tot} . (μΜ)	РО4 ^{3—} (µМ)	P _{tot} . (µM)	SiO ₄ (µM)
NS1	5	90	3.3	6.3	12.6	3.5	0.3	3.3	22.8	1.0	0.9	12.1
NS6	5	74	3.0	6.0	12.5	3.7	0.3	2.8	16.8	0.7	1.1	14.8
NS8	5	82	2.6	5.6	12.5	4.4	0.5	5.2	23.8	1.1	1.4	17.8
NS8	40	82	4.9	6.5	9.4	2.4	0.3	5.2	22.5	1.3	1.6	18.0
NS1	77	90	5.8	10.2	0.96	1.75	5.4	2.7	20.3	3.4	3.9	35.2
NS6	66	74	5.6	8.7	4.4	1.9	5.0	1.8	20.9	2.4	2.8	28.2
NS8	74	82	5.5	9.0	2.7	1.98	3.8	2.0	16.9	2.2	2.6	29.2

richness estimates were calculated using VEGAN package (Oksanen et al., 2009). The sequences have been deposited to GenBank with accession numbers: KC971255–KC972610.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Physicochemical characteristics of the water column

According to the CTD profiles (Fig. 2) the water temperature ranged from 2.6 - 4 °C in the upper layer and 5–6 °C in the near-bottom layer. Halocline was present approximately at 40–65 m depth in different stations dividing the surface mixed layer with salinities of 5.6–7 and deep water with salinities up to 10.2. The halocline was more pronounced at station NS1. The upper layer above halocline was oxygen-saturated (oxygen concentrations between 11.3 and 12.6 mg l⁻¹), but at all the

stations the oxygen concentrations were remarkably lower at the near-bottom layer (2.3–7.2 mg l⁻¹). At the deepest station (NS1) the near bottom environment was hypoxic with the oxygen concentration of 0.5 mg l⁻¹. The dissolved inorganic nutrient concentrations varied markedly between the oxygen rich and depleted zones of the water column and less between stations (Table 1), except significantly higher nitrate–nitrite concentrations were measured at 5 m depth at station NS8 compared with the same depth of the other stations. Ammonia, phosphate and silicate silicon dioxide exhibited higher and nitrate–nitrite lower concentrations in the oxygen-depleted parts of the water column.

3.2. Bacterioplankton community diversity

1

A total of 30,371 partial rRNA sequences were obtained. The mean length of used sequences was 271 bp (after removing primers). Total



Fig. 2. Salinity, temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen and chlorophyll *a* profiles for stations NS1 (dashed), NS6 (solid) and NS8 (dotted). The near-bottom samples were collected at 77 m (NS1), 66 m (NS6) and 74 m (NS8) depth. Surface samples were collected at 5 m depth from all the stations. 40 m sample was collected only from station NS8.

of 1356 unique OTUs were identified with 97% similarity threshold. After removing the OTUs with only one sequence (which could have resulted from sequencing errors) the number of total OTUs dropped to 609. 34 OTUs were shared between all the samples and 177 and 76 OTUs were shared in surface samples and near-bottom samples, respectively. The sequences were matched against NCBI nucleotide database using BLAST (Altschul et al., 1997). Of 649 OTUs, 33% had more than 99% similarity to sequences in the database, whereas 22% had less than 95% similarity, and may represent novel bacterial genera or higher taxa. 8% of OTUs could be identified only as Bacteria, when using RDP naïve Bayesian Classifier (50% confidence threshold; Wang et al., 2007). This is a relatively high percentage compared to previous studies of pelagic bacterioplankton in the Baltic Sea area, so we classified these sequences alternatively with SINA webserver tool (Pruesse et al., 2012). In the case of 45% of these sequences the classification was improved, which rendered the 'unclassified Bacteria' fraction into size that would be presumed by high-throughput 454 sequencing of pelagic bacterioplankton in the Baltic Sea. The SINA webserver tool was also used to check the classification of relatively abundant OTUs of our dataset and the results were nearly identical with output of RDP naïve Bavesian Classifier.

The number of OTUs retrieved from each sample, as well as Chao1 and ACE species richness estimates are reported in Table 2. Species richness estimates were strongly affected by the number of sequences analyzed, as discussed elsewhere (Schloss and Handelsman, 2005), Our results indicate that species richness in surface water communities (Chao1 mean = 773, SD = 301) was not significantly (p = 0.19, two tailed *t*-test) higher than in previously analyzed spring pelagic surface water communities in station LL7, LL12 at the same area and TPDEEP (Chao1 mean = 478, SD = 73; Koskinen et al., 2011), here we have to consider that filamentous and aggregated bacterial cells larger than 2.0 µm were likely excluded from samples by prefiltration used. Comparing samples obtained with similar filtration system and same stations in spring and summer of 2011 (Chao1 mean = 250, SD = 96Laas et al., unpublished) the difference was more pronounced (p < 0.01, two tailed t-test). Although the number of OTUs per sample was lower than in some of the previous studies of pelagic bacterioplankton of the Baltic Sea (Andersson et al., 2010; Herlemann et al., 2011), we have to consider that rarefaction curves outlined from each sample did reach a curvilinear phase in most cases (Supplementary Fig. 2), but the sequencing effort was not sufficient for the rarefaction curves to reach an asymptote. This indicates that higher diversity could have been observed if sample volume and amplicon size had been increased. Even though wintertime bacterioplankton is characterized by lower cell counts (e.g., Shiah and Ducklow, 1994), in a recent study species distribution modeling of bacteria in global marine surface waters indicates that diversity actually peaks globally in the temperate

Table 2

Number of retrieved sequences, operational taxonomic units and calculated species richness estimates.

Sample ID	Number of sequences	Including singletons	Excluding singletons	Chao1	s.e.	ACE	s.e.
NS1_5m_A	3207	308	183	488	45	476	12
NS1_5m_B	3816	406	206	794	81	746	16
NS6_5m_A	3458	412	221	705	60	699	16
NS6_5m_B	7382	597	284	1273	114	1221	21
NS8_5m	3017	326	163	607	64	604	15
NS8_40m	2301	280	151	456	44	477	13
NS1_77m_A	1996	162	64	388	74	383	12
NS1_77m_B	1501	196	83	379	52	414	13
NS6_66m	2810	360	133	1051	157	951	19
NS8_74m	1557	236	103	423	47	479	14

s.e. - standard error.

A/B - differentiate subsamples from same site.

ACE (abundance-based coverage estimation; Chao and Lee, 1992).

Chao1 (Chao, 1984).

latitudes in the winter (Ladau et al., 2013). This pattern is contrasting to marine and terrestrial microorganism diversity, but this trend has been confirmed in bacterioplankton studies conducted in high latitude sampling sites (Ghiglione and Murray, 2012).

3.3. Bacterioplankton community composition

Most bacteria identified in our dataset were representatives of four phyla: Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Cyanobacteria. 9 classes represented about 85% of bacteria identified: Alphaproteobacteria (28.9%) Epsilonproteobacteria (25.9%), Actinobacteria (14.6%), Gammaproteobacteria (3.3%), Betaproteobacteria (5.1%), Flavobacteria (3.2%), Cyanobacteria (2.0%), Deltaproteobacteria (0.7%), Sphingobacteria (1.1%).

The relative abundances of dominant classes and most abundant OTUs (>1% of dataset) at different stations and depths are shown in Figs. 3 and 4, respectively. Principal component analyzes revealed that BCC varied more between depths than the stations (data not shown). To analyze how different phylogenetic groups correlated with individual environmental parameters, the abundance profile of the most abundant classes and OTUs (top 20) were correlated with each of the measured environmental parameters (Figs. 5 and 6). The dendrograms represent clustering of phylogenetic groups and environmental parameters based on similarities in Pearson r-values, which revealed division into roughly two groups, bacteria associated with surface layer or near-bottom layer communities. Surface samples collected at station NS6 exhibited influence of bacterial groups that were dominant in the deeper layers and vice versa. This mixing may have been caused by convective mixing of the water column and restratification in that area. Cross-contamination can be ruled out because parallel samples were taken from the surface layer and same sampling technique was used in all stations.

In the surface layer Alphaproteobacteria constituted about a quarter of all bacteria identified with most dominant representatives belonging to the cosmopolitan SAR11 clade (order Rickettsiales). Ribotypes NSD002, NSD004 and NSD011 were classified as 'Candidatus Pelagibacterb ubique' with very close matches to 'Ca. P. ubique' strains HTCC1062 (NSD002, 87%; NSD011, 100%) and IMCC9063 (NSD004, >98% similarity), the last of which was isolated from the Arctic Ocean. 'Ca. P. ubique' is widely distributed and represents the most abundant microbial species on earth (Carlson et al., 2008; Morris et al., 2002; Rappé and Giovannoni, 2003). The SAR11 clade also shows pronounced winter peaks in relative abundance in the Arctic and Antarctic (Ladau et al., 2013). Partly overlapping populations of SAR11 representatives have been identified throughout the Baltic Sea in summer (Herlemann et al., 2011) and at the same stations in spring and summer (Laas et al., unpublished). This indicates presence of 'Ca. P. ubique' populations throughout seasonal succession. Alphaproteobacterial ribotypes NSD003 and NSD022 were both classified as Rhodobacteraceae, but their prevalence pattern was reversed. NSD003 was more abundant in the surface layer and had highest similarity (97%) to Rhodobacter sp. R7K3Z5 isolated from sewage (Genbank accession (GB): EU604756). The Rhodobacter spp. are metabolically highly diverse and able to perform anoxygenic photosynthesis (Arai et al., 2008; Verméglio and Joliot, 1999). Representatives of Rhodobacteraceae were relatively abundant in spring (Koskinen et al., 2011) and summer (Herlemann et al., 2011), which could mean their year-round presence in BCC of the Baltic Sea. NSD022 had the closest match (98.5%) to representative of genus Parvularcula (GB: HQ326293).

The near-bottom bacterioplankton communities were dominated by *Sulfurimonas* ribotype (OTU) NSD001, which had a high similarity (>99.3%) to *Sulfurimonas* subgroup sequences previously retrieved from Gotland Deep (GB: AJ810529, EF405797, EF405798; Brettar et al., 2006; Grote et al., 2007). This subgroup catalyzes chemolithotrophic denitrification and has been demonstrated to be most dominant CO₂-fixing group in anoxic interfaces of Gotland and Landsort Deeps (Glaubitz et al., 2009; Grote et al., 2008). This suggests that populations dominant in anoxic zones of Gotland Deep are also abundant in other

P. Laas et al. / Journal of Marine Systems 129 (2014) 127-134



Fig. 3. Relative abundance of bacterial classes at different sampling stations and depths. Parallel samples from one site have been averaged.

sub-basins, where temporary oxygen depletion occurs. Genomic analysis of *S. denitrificans* has revealed that it has all genes necessary for complete oxidation of reduced sulfur compounds to sulfate (Sox pathway) and reductive citric acid cycle for carbon fixation (Sievert et al., 2008). Ribotypes NSD044 and NSD047, also classified as *Sulfurimonas*, had high similarities with sequences isolated from locations other than Baltic Sea (Fuchsman et al., 2011; Schmidtova et al., 2009) and were less abundant.

Actinobacteria contributed 19% of the surface community and 10% of the near-bottom bacterial community. Members of Actinobacteria were also demonstrated as an abundant and diverse component of bacterioplankton in the Baltic Proper and Gulf of Bothnia in previous studies (Andersson et al., 2010; Holmfeldt et al., 2009; Riemann et al., 2008). Actinobacteria are mostly associated with freshwater and the increase in abundance is well correlated with the decrease in salinity in the Baltic Sea (Herlemann et al., 2011). In our studies representatives of Actinobacteria also demonstrated a negative correlation with salinity and strongest positive correlation with longitude of all phyla. Relatively abundant ribotypes NSD006, NSD008 and NSD027 were classified as Ilumatobacter sp. of Acidimicrobiales (Matsumoto et al., 2009). Although members of Actinobacteria are mostly heterotrophic, the nearest known relative to Ilumatobacter sp. is Acidimicrobium ferrooxidans, which is capable of oxidation of ferrous iron and autotrophic growth usually in iron-, sulfur- and mineral-sulfide rich environments (Clum et al., 2009). Ribotype NSD026 had an identical match with sequences isolated from a lake in China (GB: EU801245).

Members of *Betaproteobacteria* are mostly associated with freshwater and were represented by orders *Burkholderiales*, *Methylophilales*, *Nitrosomonadales*, with the methylotrophic genus *Methylophilus* (ribotypes NSD010, NSD028) identified as most common genera. This could mean elevated single-carbon metabolism in the microbial community. Ribytype NSD010 had a slightly higher presence in the surface layer, but its relative abundance increased towards the east — less saline waters. So far the presence of *Methylophilus* strains has been reported in the northern Baltic Sea (Kisand and Wikner, 2003).

Representatives of phylum *Bacteroidetes* were reported as being abundant in the Baltic Sea (Andersson et al., 2010; Hagström et al., 2000; Herlemann et al., 2011; Kisand et al., 2005; Pinhassi and Hagström, 2000; Riemann et al., 2008). In our observations, the representatives of phylum *Bacteroidetes* were split between classes *Havobacteria* and *Sphingobacteria* or remained identified on phylum level. Relatively abundant ribotype in surface communities NSD015 remained classified on phylum level, with closest matches to members of genus *Marinoscillum* (of *Sphingobacteriales*, GB: FQ032830) isolated from North Atlantic Ocean. Ribotype NSD017 contributed 3.8% of the sequences in the near-bottom community of station NS1 and could be identified as *Flavobacteriaceae* with identical match to sequences retrieved from pelagic redoxcline of the central Baltic Sea (GB: KC492867, Glaubitz et al., 2013).

Aggregated and filamentous bacteria were caught on pre-filters, so from cyanobacteria only single cell pico-size groups were included in our analyses. The *Cyanobacteria* accounted for on average 3% in the surface layer. Ribotype NSD007 was identified as a freshwater species *Synechococcus* (>99% similarity), a common picocyanobacteria in the Baltic Sea. Ribotype NSD036 remained unclassified, but had the closest similarity (97%) with *Snowella litoralis* associated with lakes (Rajaniemi-Wacklin et al., 2006).

Deltaproteobacteria, mostly represented by the order Desulfobacterales, perform dissimilatory sulfur and sulfate reduction. Their representatives were detected in the near-bottom community samples, which was 132

P. Laas et al. / Journal of Marine Systems 129 (2014) 127–134



Fig. 4. Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with highest relative abundance (>1% of total dataset) and their classification. GpIX is a genus of Cyanobacteria Family IL Parallel samples from one site have been averaged. Taxonomic asignments by the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) naïve Bayesian Classifier (Wang et al., 2007) were added. Lower than 100% classification confidence is given in parentheses.

probably caused by diffusion of sediment microbiota. The most notable difference with results by Koskinen et al. (2011) is the low relative abundance of *Gammaproteobacteria* overall, but specially *Pseudomonas*, which constituted 45% of their dataset, while only a negligible part of ours. *Gammaproteobacteria* have been also demonstrated to account for considerable percentage of sea ice bacteria in the Baltic Sea (Kaartokallio et al., 2008). Almost absent were OTUs related to *Verrucomicrobia*, while during summer their abundance has been demonstrated to be considerable in the BCC (Andersson et al., 2010; Herlemann et al., 2011).

3.4. Conclusions

The wintertime BCC in the Gulf of Finland was dominated by representatives of *Proteobacteria*, *Actinobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes*, with 'Candidatus Pelagibacter', *Sulfurimonas*, *Ilumatobacter* and *Methylophilus* as the most abundant genera. The seasonal redoxline in the gulf expands the distribution of bacteria permanently abundant under the redoxcline of the central Baltic Sea, mostly *Sulfurimonas* strains. This impacts important biochemical processes, like dark CO_2 -fixation, denitrification and H_2S -oxydation. The redoxcline is also a main factor why changes of BCC are more contrasting vertically in the water column than horizontally between the stations.

There were certain phylogenetic groups that were observed by previous studies during different seasons, but also notable differences, as was expected. Interestingly, only about a fifth of the sequences belonged to bacterial groups usually affiliated with freshwater environments. One cause of this was a high relative abundance of alphaproteobacterial SAR11 cluster representatives in the surface layer.

Based on our limited dataset, we cannot suggest that the diversity of bacterioplankton in the Gulf of Finland peaks regularly during wintertime, as expected from the results of Ladau and colleagues. Nevertheless, comparisons with our new data (unpublished) and previous studies indicate, that the wintertime BCC has at least the same level of species diversity compared to other seasons. The rarefaction curves didn't reach an asymptote and significantly a higher number of sequences per sample (deep-sequencing approach) should be used to verify this hypothesis.



Fig. 5. Correlations between environmental parameters and classes of bacteria. Colors indicate r-values of Pearson correlations between environmental parameters (columns) and classes of bacteria (rows). The dendrogram represents clustering based on similarities in r-values.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2013.07.016.

Acknowledgments

The samples were obtained during the environmental monitoring cruise of Nord Stream pipeline construction ordered and funded by the Estonian Ministry of the Environment (contract number: 4-1.1/180,



Fig. 6. Correlations between environmental parameters and top 20 most abundant individual operational taxonomic units (OTUs). Colors indicate r-values of Pearson correlations between environmental parameters (columns) and OTUs (rows). The dendrogram represents clustering based on similarities in r-values. Taxonomic assignments by the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) naïve Bayesian Classifier (Wang et al., 2007) were added. Lower than 100% classification confidence is given in parentbeses. 16.07.2010). The present work was financially supported by the Estonian Science Foundation (grant no. 8930, monthly stipend for the first author). Use of the pyrosequencing pipeline was made possible by Biotap LLC. We thank the crew of RV Salme for their excellent assistance and also Prof. Urmas Lips for CTD data and comments. We acknowledge the contributions from Anne Talvari, Lina Pajusalu and Sergei Stjopin for the chemical analysis of the water samples.

References

Alenius, P., Myrberg, K., Nekrasov, A., 1998. Physical oceanography of the Gulf of Finland: a review. Boreal Environ. Res. 3 (2), 97–125.

- Altschul, S.F., Madden, T.L., Schaffer, A.A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W., et al., 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res. 25, 3389–3402.
- Andersson, A.F., Riemann, L., Bertilsson, S., 2010. Pyrosequencing reveals contrasting seasonal dynamics of taxa within Baltic Sea bacterioplankton communities. ISME J. 4, 171–181.
- Arai, H., Roh, J.H., Kaplan, S., 2008. Transcriptome dynamics during the transition from anaerobic photosynthesis to aerobic respiration in rhodobacter sphaeroides 2.4.1. J. Bacteriol. 190 (1), 286–299.
- Azam, F., Fenchel, T., Field, J.G., Gray, J.S., Meyer-Reil, L.A., Thingstad, F., 1983. The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 10, 257–263.
- Brettar, I., Labrenz, M., Flavier, S., Bötel, J., Kuosa, H., Christen, R., Höfle, M.G., 2006. Identification of a *Thiomicrospira denitrificans*-like epsilonproteobacterium as a catalyst for autotrophic denitrification in the central Baltic Sea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 1364–1372.
- Carlson, C.A., Morris, R., Parsons, R., Treusch, A.H., Giovannoni, S.J., Vergin, K., 2008. Seasonal dynamics of SAR11 populations in the euphotic and mesopelagic zones of the northwestern Sargasso Sea. ISME J. 3, 283–295.
- Chao, A., 1984. Nonparametric estimation of the number of classes in a population. Scand. J. Stat. 11, 265–270.
- Chao, A., Lee, S., 1992. Estimating the number of classes via sample coverage. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 87, 210–217.
- Clum, A., Nolan, M., Lang, E., Glavina Del Rio, T., Tice, H., Copeland, A., Cheng, J.-F., Lucas, S., Chen, F., Bruce, D., et al., 2009. Complete genome sequence of *Acidimicrobium* ferroavidans type strain (ICP). Stand. Genomic Sci. 1, 38–45.
- Crump, B.C., Hopkinson, C.S., Sogin, M.L., Hobbie, J.E., 2004. Microbial biogeography along an estuarine salinity gradient: combined influences of bacterial growth and residence time. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 1494–1505.
- Edgar, R.C., Haas, B.J., Clemente, J.C., Quince, C., Knight, R., 2011. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics 27, 2194–2200.
- Falkowski, P.G., Fenchel, T., Delong, E.F., 2008. The microbial engines that drive Earth's biogeochemical cycles. Science 320, 1034–1039.
- Fortunato, C.S., Herfort, L., Zuber, P., Baptista, A.M., Crump, B.C., 2012. Spatial variability overwhelms seasonal patterns in bacterioplankton communities across a river to ocean gradient. ISME J. 6, 554–563.
- Fuchsman, CA., Kirkpatrick, J.B., Brazelton, W.J., Murray, J.W., Staley, J.T., 2011. Metabolic strategies of free-living and aggregate-associated bacterial communities inferred from biologic and chemical profiles in the Black Sea suboxic zone. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 78 (Issue 3), 586–603.
- Galand, P.E., Casamayor, E.O., Kirchman, D.L., Lovejoy, C., 2009. Ecology of the rare microbial biosphere of the Arctic Ocean. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 22427–22432.
- Ghiglione, J.F., Murray, A., 2012. Pronounced summer to winter differences and higher wintertime richness in coastal sub-Antarctic and Antarctic marine bacterioplankton. Environ. Microbiol. 14, 617–629.
- Gilbert, J.A., Field, D., Swift, P., Newbold, L., Oliver, A., Smyth, T., et al., 2009. The seasonal structure of microbial communities in the Western English Channel. Environ. Microbiol. 11, 3132–3139.
- Glaubitz, S., Lüders, T., Abraham, W.-R., Jost, G., Jürgens, K., Labrenz, M., 2009. ¹³C-isotope analyses reveal that chemolithoautotrophic gamma- and epsilonproteobacteria feed a microbial food web in a pelagic redoxcline of the central Baltic Sea. Environ. Microbiol. 11, 326–337.
- Glaubitz, S., Kiesslich, K., Meeske, C., Labrenz, M., Jürgens, K., 2013. SUP05 dominates the gammaproteobacterial sulfur oxidizer assemblages in pelagic redoxclines of the central Baltic and Black Sea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 2767–2776.Grote, J., Labrenz, M., Pfeiffer, B., Jost, G., Jürgens, K., 2007. Quantitative distributions of
- Grote, J., Labrenz, M., Pfeiffer, B., Jost, G., Jürgens, K., 2007. Quantitative distributions of *Epsilonproteobacteria* and a Sulfurimonas subgroup in pelagic redoxclines of the central Baltic Sea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 7155–7161.
- Grote, J., Jost, G., Labrenz, M., Herndl, G.J., Jürgens, K., 2008. Epsilonproteobacteria represent the major portion of chemoautotrophic bacteria in sulfidic waters of pelagic redoxclines of the Baltic and Black Seas. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 7546–7551.
- Hagström, Å., Pinhassi, J., Zweifel, U.L., 2000. Biogeographical diversity among marine bacterioplankton. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 21, 231–244.
- Hamady, M., Walker, J.J., Harris, J.K., Gold, N.J., Knight, R., 2008. Error-correcting barcoded primers for pyrosequencing hundreds of samples in multiplex. Nat. Methods 5, 235–237.
- Herlemann, D.P.R., Labrenz, M., Jürgens, K., Bertilsson, S., Waniek, J.J., Andersson, A.F., 2011. Transitions in bacterial communities along the 2000 km salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea. ISME J. 5 (10), 1571–1579.

- Holmfeldt, K., Dziallas, C., Titelman, J., Pohlmann, K., Grossart, H.-P., Riemann, L., 2009. Regulation of diverse and abundant freehwater Actinobacteria along environmental gradients in the brackish northern Baltic Sea. Environ. Microbiol. 11, 2042–2054.
- Kaartokallio, H., Laamanen, M., Sivonen, K., 2005. Responses of Baltic Sea ice and openwater natural bacterial communities to salinity change. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 4364–4371.
- Kaartokallio, H., Tuomainen, J., Kuosa, H., Kuparinen, J., Martikainen, P., Servomaa, K., 2008. Succession of sea-ice bacterial communities in the Baltic Sea fast ice. Polar Biol. 31, P83–793.
- Kirchman, D.L., Cottrell, M.T., Lovejoy, C., 2010. The structure of bacterial communities in the western Arctic Ocean as revealed by pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA genes. Environ. Microbiol. 12, 1132–1143.
- Kisand, V., Wikner, J., 2003. Combining culture-dependent and -independent methodologies for estimation of richness of estuarine bacterioplankton consuming riverine dissolved organic matter. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 3607–3616.
- Kisand, V., Andersson, N., Wikner, J., 2005. Bacterial freshwater species successfully immigrate to the brackish water environment in the northern Baltic. Limnol. Oceanogr. 50, 945–956.
- Koskinen, K., Hultman, J., Paulin, L., Auvinen, P., Kankaanpää, H., 2011. Spatially differing bacterial communities in water columns of the northern Baltic Sea. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 75, 99–110.
- Kullenberg, G., 1981. Physical oceanography. In: Voipio, A. (Ed.), The Baltic Sea, Chap 3. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 135–145.
- Ladau, J., Sharpton, T.J., Finucane, M.M., Jospin, G., Kembel, S.W., O'Dwyer, J., Koeppel, A.F., Green, J.L., Pollard, K.S., 2013. Global marine bacterial diversity peaks at high latitudes in winter. ISME J. 7 (9), 1669–1677.
- Long, R.A., Azam, F., 2001. Microscale patchiness of bacterioplankton assemblage richness in seawater. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 26, 103–113.
- Lozupone, C.A., Knight, R., 2007. Global patterns in bacterial diversity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 11436–11440.
- Margulies, M., Egholm, M., Altman, W.E., Attiya, S., Bader, J.S., Bemben, LA., et al., 2005. Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. Nature 437, 376–380.
- Matsumoto, A., Kasai, H., Matsuo, Y., Omura, S., Shizuri, Y., Takahashi, Y., 2009. *llumatobacter fluminis* gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel actinobacterium isolated from the sediment of an estuary. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 55, 201–205.
- McKenna, P., Hoffmann, C., Minkah, N., Aye, P.P., Lackner, A., et al., 2008. The macaque gut microbiome in health, lentiviral infection, and chronic enterocolitis. PLoS Pathog. 4 (2), e20.
- Morris, R.M., Rappé, M.S., Connon, S.A., Vergin, K.L., Siebold, W.A., Carlson, C.A., Giovannoni, S.J., 2002. SAR11 clade dominates ocean surface bacterioplankton communities. Nature 420, 806–810.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Wagner, H., 2009. Vegan: community ecology package. R package version 1.15-4.
- Petri, R., Imhoff, J.F., 2001. Genetic analysis of sea-ice bacterial communities of the Western Baltic Sea using an improved double gradient method. Polar Biol. 24, 252–257.
- Pinhassi, J., Hagström, Å., 2000. Seasonal succession in marine bacterioplankton. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 21, 245–256.
- Pommier, T., Canbäck, B., Riemann, L., Boström, K.H., Simu, K., Lundberg, P., et al., 2007. Global patterns of diversity and community structure in marine bacterioplankton. Mol. Ecol. 16, 867–880.
- Pruesse, E., Quast, C., Knittel, K., Fuchs, B.M., Ludwig, W., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O., 2007. SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosonal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. Nucleic Acids Res. 35, 7188–7196.

- Pruesse, E., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O., 2012. SINA: accurate high-throughput multiple sequence alignment of ribosomal RNA genes. Bioinformatics 28, 1823–1829.
- Quince, C., Lanzén, A., Davenport, R.J., Turnbaugh, P.J., 2011. Removing noise from pyrosequenced amplicons. BMC Bioinforma. 12, 38.
- Rajaniemi-Wacklin, P., Rantala, A., Mugnai, M.A., Turicchia, S., Ventura, S., Komarkova, J., Lepisto, L., Sivonen, K. 2006. Correspondence between phylogeny and morphology of Snowella spp. and Woronichinia naegeliana, cyanobacteria commonly occurring in lakes. J. Phycol. 42 (1), 226–232.
- Rappé, M.S., Giovannoni, S.J., 2003. The uncultured microbial majority. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 57, 369–394.
- Riemann, L., Leitet, C., Pommier, T., Simu, K., Holmfeldt, K., Larsson, U., Hagström, Å., 2008. The native bacterioplankton community in the central Baltic Sea is influenced by freshwater bacterial species. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 503–515.
- Schloss, P.D., Handelsman, J., 2005. Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 1501–1506.
- Schloss, P.D., Westcott, S.L., Ryabin, T., et al., 2009. Introducing mothur: open-source, platform-independent, community supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7537–7541.
- Schmidtova, J., Hallam, S.J., Baldwin, 2009. Phylogenetic diversity of transition and anoxic zone bacterial communities within a near-shore anoxic basin: Nitinat Lake. Environ. Microbiol. 11. 3233–3251.
- Shiah, F.K., Ducklow, H.W., 1994. Temperature regulation of heterotrophic bacterioplankton abundance, production, and specific growth rate in Chesapeake Bay. Limnol. Oceanogr. 39, 1243–1258.
- Sievert, S.M., Scott, K.M., Klotz, M.G., Chain, P.S., Hauser, L.J., Hemp, J., Hügler, M., Land, M., Lapidus, A., Larimer, F.W., Lucas, S., Malfatti, S.A., Meyer, F., Paulsen, I.T., Ren, Q., Simon, J., Genomics Class, U.S.F., 2008. The genome of the epsilonproteobacterial chemolithoautotroph *Sulfurimonas denitrificans*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 1145–1156.
- Sogin, M.L., Morrison, H.G., Huber, J.A., Mark Welch, D., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., et al., 2006. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored 'rare biosphere'. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 12115–12120.
- Stigebrandt, A., 2001. Physical oceanography of the Baltic Sea. In: Wulff, F., Rahm, L., Larsson, P. (Eds.), A Systems Analysis of the Baltic Sea. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 19–74.
- Telesh, I.V., Khlebovich, V.V., 2010. Principal processes within the estuarine salinity gradient: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 61, 4–6. Troussellier, M., Schäfer, H., Batailler, N., Bernard, L., Courties, C., Lebaron, P., Muyzer, G.,
- Troussellier, M., Schäfer, H., Batailler, N., Bernard, L., Courties, C., Lebaron, P., Muyzer, G., Servais, P., Vives-Rego, J., 2002. Bacterial activity and genetic richness along an estuarine gradient (Rhone River plume, France). Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 28, 13–24.
- Verméglio, A., Joliot, P., 1999. The photosynthetic apparatus of Rhodobacter sphaeroides. Trends Microbiol. 435 7 (1), 435–441. Wang, Q., Garrity, G.M., Tiedie, J.M., Cole, J.R. 2007. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid as-
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G.M., Tiedje, J.M., Cole, J.R., 2007. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 5261–5267.
- White, P.A., Kalff, J., Rasmussen, J.B., Gasol, J.M., 1991. The effect of temperature and algal biomass on bacterial production and specific growth rate in freshwater and marine habitats. Microb. Ecol. 21, 99–118.
- Whitman, W.B., Coleman, D.C., Wiebe, W.J., 1998. Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 6578–6583.
- Wu, Q.L., Zwart, G., Schauer, M., Kamst-van Agterveld, M.P., Hahn, M.W., 2006. Bacterioplankton community composition along a salinity gradient of sixteen high mountain lakes located on the Tibetan Plateau, China. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 5478–5485.

Paper II

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Lips, U., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Redoxspecialized bacterioplankton metacommunity in a temperate estuary. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0122304



Citation: Laas P, Simm J, Lips I, Lips U, Kisand V, Metsis M (2015) Redox-Specialized Bacterioplankton Metacommunity in a Temperate Estuary. PLoS ONE 10(4): e0122304. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304

Academic Editor: Ahmed Moustafa, American University in Cairo, EGYPT

Received: September 10, 2014

Accepted: February 19, 2015

Published: April 10, 2015

Copyright: © 2015 Laas et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: GenBank database (accession numbers KM489611 - KM491167)

Funding: This study was funded by the Institutional research funding IUT (IUT19-6) of the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research and by the Estonian Science Foundation grants no. 8930 and 9023. Jaak Simm was also funded by Research Council KU Leuven (GOA/10/09 MaNet, CoE PFV/ 10/016 SymBioSys) and PhD/Postdoc grants from Flemish Government (IOF, Hercules Stitching, iMinds Medical Information Technologies SBO 2014), by Intel, Janssen Pharmaceutica and by the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT). The funders had no

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Redox-Specialized Bacterioplankton Metacommunity in a Temperate Estuary

Peeter Laas¹*, Jaak Simm^{2,3,4}, Inga Lips¹, Urmas Lips¹, Veljo Kisand⁵, Madis Metsis⁶

1 Marine Systems Institute at Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia, 2 Department of Electrical Engineering (ESAT), STADIUS Center for Dynamical Systems, Signal Processing, and Data Analytics, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, 3 iMinds Medical IT, Leuven, Belgium, 4 Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia, 5 Institute of Technology at University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia, 6 Institute of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Tallinn University, Tallinn, Estonia

* peeter.laas@msi.ttu.ee

Abstract

This study explored the spatiotemporal dynamics of the bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (easternmost sub-basin of the Baltic Sea) based on phylogenetic analysis of 16S rDNA sequences acquired from community samples via pyrosequencing. Investigations of bacterioplankton in hydrographically complex systems provide good insight into the strategies by which microbes deal with spatiotemporal hydrographic gradients, as demonstrated by our research. Many ribotypes were closely affiliated with seguences isolated from environments with similar steep physiochemical gradients and/or seasonal changes, including seasonally anoxic estuaries, Hence, one of the main conclusions of this study is that marine ecosystems where oxygen and salinity gradients co-occur can be considered a habitat for a cosmopolitan metacommunity consisting of specialized groups occupying niches universal to such environments throughout the world. These niches revolve around functional capabilities to utilize different electron receptors and donors (including trace metal and single carbon compounds). On the other hand, temporal shifts in the bacterioplankton community composition at the surface layer were mainly connected to the seasonal succession of phytoplankton and the inflow of freshwater species. We also conclude that many relatively abundant populations are indigenous and well-established in the area.

Introduction

The world's oceans are the cradle of life; hence, the evolution of aquatic microorganisms for 3.5 billion years has produced enormous diversity and functional plasticity, only recently assessed by the sequencing of metagenomic DNA (pioneered by [1]). There are many aspects of microbial life that make the ecology of microorganisms different from that of macroorganisms [2], including intercontinental dispersion by winds [3] and the capability to persist in environmentally hostile conditions over a long period of time [4]. Aquatic microbes are essential for life on Earth [5,6] and therefore unveiling the mechanisms underlying the spatiotemporal dynamics

role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

of bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) remains the one of the most important issues in aquatic microbial ecology.

Over the last few decades, advances in sequencing technologies have revolutionized the power of the identification process for microorganisms and thereby revealed tremendous microbial diversity and plasticity in aquatic environments [7]. 16S rRNA gene-based investigations have contributed a massive number of sequences to databases and have revealed a comprehensive uncultured microbial diversity [8,9]. The ease of microbial community profiling has been effectively utilized to determine the biogeographic patterns of the most numerous and cosmopolitan marine bacterioplankton clades and, ultimately, to determine the functional traits that make them so successful [10–12]. More recently, high-throughput sequencing technologies have allowed for increasing the depth of investigation and thereby unveiled a rare biosphere that accounts for most of the observed phylogenetic diversity of bacterioplankton community [13,14]. This acts as a "seed bank" from where new dominant species can emerge when the environmental conditions change [4,15].

Consequently, species-sorting by the local environment has been demonstrated to be one of the main driving processes behind shaping the BCC [16–19]. However, in some cases, the assembly mechanism can be well explained by neutral models [20–23], by mass effects [24,25], or by the combination of several mechanisms [26–28]; the relative importance of these mechanisms may change over time [29].

In addition to unique environmental conditions, similarities to other communities have to be considered in order to identify processes underlying the assembly of local microbial communities [23]. Hence, in this study, we combined environmental factors with phylogenetic affiliations of relatively abundant populations for that purpose. Hence, special attention was paid to associations within between ribotypes, because these interactions can have stronger correlative relationships compared to relationships between bacteria and eukaryotes, or bacteria and abiotic environmental factors [30]. The co-occurrence of networks of dominant bacterial ribotypes isolated from the marine oxygen minimum zone (OMZ) throughout the world has revealed a pattern of cosmopolitan key species filling redox-driven niches [31]. These niches revolve around functional capabilities to utilize different electron receptors and donors [32]. Next important step towards a better understanding of these microbial communities inhabiting OMZ is to define shared or specialized metabolic subsystems in different oceanic provinces [31]. Our results contribute to this effort.

The Baltic Sea is one of the largest brackish basins of the world, characterized by a long residence time. Therefore, it is not just a mixing zone for fresh water and marine species, but a habitat for microbes specialized for brackish water, which has been illustrated by the spread of different bacterial populations throughout the salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea [<u>33–35</u>]. Unlike the diversity of macro-organisms, the BCC does not decline within a salinity gradient [<u>35</u>].

The Gulf of Finland is the easternmost sub-basin of the Baltic Sea. The strong stratification in the central part of the gulf due to the seasonal thermocline and permanent halocline often hinders mixing in the water column [36]. Eutrophication-driven phytoplankton production leads to increased sedimentation of organic matter and hence increased consumption of oxygen for which atmospheric and photosynthetic re-oxygenation cannot compensate [37].

Furthermore, the Gulf of Finland is directly connected to the Baltic Proper, where the anoxic zone is permanent and therefore inhabited by well-established anaerobic ecotypes typical of the Baltic Proper [36,38,39]. During oxygen deficiency, certain microbes are capable of using terminal electron acceptors other than oxygen (e.g. NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} and metal oxides). Epsilonproteobacterial *Sulfurimonas gotlandica* clade GD1 has been demonstrated to be one of the most numerous chemolithoautotrophic bacteria present in the OMZ of the central Baltic Sea [40,41]. This clade has been shown to spread into the anoxic zone of the Gulf of Finland [42]. As a temperate estuary, the Gulf of Finland undergoes many seasonal changes in environmental parameters such as ice coverage, water temperature, solar radiance, inorganic nutrients, etc., which contribute to the recurring succession of phytoplankton. Variation in biotic and abiotic factors also leads to the recurring succession of bacterioplankton in the Baltic Sea [34,43,44].

The goals of present study were to investigate the spatial and temporal dynamics of the BCC of the Gulf of Finland during the spring to summer transition in order to determine the main factors driving the bacterioplankton community assembly. To these ends, we used pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA genes from community DNA samples, which were collected in parallel with monitoring of physicochemical parameters and phytoplankton community composition. Many annually recurring environmental shifts took place during the study period, mainly the formation of a thermocline, the depletion of oxygen in the deeper layers and the shift from the spring to summer phytoplankton community.

Materials and Methods

Ethics statement

No specific permits were required for the described field studies. Our study area is not privately owned or protected in any way. The study did not involve endangered or protected species.

Sample collection and extraction of community DNA

Water sampling was performed aboard the RV Salme in the spring and summer of 2011 on two transects in the central part of the Gulf of Finland (Fig 1). The coordinates of sampling stations are listed in Table 1. Samples were collected from three depths: at 5 m, 40 m and about 5 m above the seafloor; detailed information about each sample is provided in Table 2. A rosette sampler (M1018, General Oceanics) equipped with Niskin water samplers (volume 1.7 l) was used for sampling. For background information, the depth profiles of conductivity and temperature were obtained with a SBE19plus CTD probe (conductivity-temperature-depth probe,



Fig 1. Map of the study area with sampling stations.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.g001

Station	Longitude	Latitude
AP1	24.71337	59.59792
AP2	24.69253	59.61823
AP5	24.62698	59.68858
AP8	24.56268	59.75820
AP11	24.50003	59.82780
AP13	24.45807	59.87580
NS1	22.96157	59.44745
NS4	59.68333	24.18667
NS6	24.81060	59.83822
NS8	25.78967	59.85605

Table 1. Coordinates of the sampling stations.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.t001

Sea-Bird Electronics), chlorophyll *a* fluorescence with WETStar fluorometer (WETLabs) and dissolved oxygen with SBE 43 probe (Sea-Bird Electronics).

The samples for nutrient $(NO_2^- + NO_3^- \text{ and }PO_4^{3-})$ analysis were deep-frozen at -20° C after collection and analyzed at a shore-based laboratory using a Lachat QuikChem 8500 Series 2 automatic nutrient analyzer (Lachat Instruments, Hach Company). The nutrient analyses were performed according to the ISO 15681–1 method for PO_4^{3-} and ISO 13395 method for $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$. The lower detection ranges for PO_4^{3-} and $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$ were 0.02 and 0.03 µmol l^{-1} , respectively.

Water samples for microbial community extraction were collected into sterile bottles (Nalgene) and immediately filtered through 0.2 μ m filters (Whatman, Puradisc FP 30) after preliminary filtration through 5.0 μ m prefilters (Whatman, Puradisc FP 30). The scheme of the filtration system was described by Laas *et al.* (2014) [42]. The sample volume varied between 0.5 and 1.0 liters. Filters were kept frozen at -20°C until community DNA was extracted with a PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc.). A few modifications were made to the protocol: syringe filters were incubated with the lysis buffer in the casing at 60°C for 30 min and then the eluate was removed.

Amplification of bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences

The bacterial 16S rRNA gene V1-V2 hypervariable regions were amplified in two polymerase chain reactions (PCR). For the first reaction, universal bacterial primers BSF8 and BSR357 were complemented with 8 nt barcode and partial adapter sequences (<u>Table 3</u>) [46]. PCR was performed with Smart-Taq Hot Red 2X PCR Mix (Naxo, Estonia), 1 μ l of extracted DNA and 0.2 μ M each primer, using the following cycling parameters: 15 min denaturation followed by three cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 50°C, 60 sec at 72°C), 28 cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 65°C, 60 sec at 72°C) and a final extension at 72°C for 7 min. To achieve full length sequencing adapters, second PCR amplification was performed.

The second reaction was run with Smart-Taq Hot Red 2X PCR Mix (Naxo, Estonia), 1 μ l of 10 X diluted amplicon, 0.2 μ M each primer; using the following cycling parameters: 15 min denaturation followed by five cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 62°C, 60 sec at 72°C), 20 cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 60 sec at 72°C) and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min. PCR reactions were run on a thermal cycler (model 2720, Applied Biosystems). Each PCR product was gel purified on a 1.5% agarose gel. DNA was isolated using the QIAquick Gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Inc.). DNA concentrations were measured with a Qubit fluorometer (Invitrogen). Sequencing was performed on a Roche GS FLX next generation sequencing platform (IMGM Laboratories).

Code	Date	Station	Depth (m)	Volume (ml)	Oxygen (mg/L)	Temperature (°C)	ChLa (mg m ⁻³)	Salinity	NO2/NO3 (µmol/L)	PO4 (µmol/L)
WA_000034	21.04.2011	AP2	5	750	16.0	0.8	5.8	6.4	0.1	0.8
WA_000035	21.04.2011	AP2	40	600	14.7	0.1	1.8	6.8	5.8	1.2
WA_000036	21.04.2011	AP2	95	750	1.7	4.9	0.2	9.5	4.8	2.5
WB_000038K	21.04.2011	AP5	40	900	13.8	0.5	0.4	6.9	6.0	1.1
WA_000039	21.04.2011	AP5	83	700	1.4	5.1	0.2	9.7	4.7	2.9
WA_000040	21.04.2011	AP8	5	700	15.5	0.9	6.8	6.5	0.1	0.7
WB_000040K	21.04.2011	AP8	5	700	15.5	0.9	6.8	6.5	0.1	0.7
WB_000041K	21.04.2011	AP8	40	850	15.3	0.1	0.6	6.7	3.9	0.8
WB_000042K	21.04.2011	AP8	76	900	4.7	4.0	0.2	8.7	4.3	1.8
WB_000043K	4.05.2011	AP2	5	800	13.9	1.6	8.6	6.1	1.2	0.6
WA_000044	4.05.2011	AP2	41	950	9.3	1.5	0.6	7.2	4.5	1.2
WA_000049	4.05.2011	AP8	5	500	15.0	2.4	4.5	6.3	0.0	0.7
WA_000054	4.05.2011	AP13	5	750	14.7	3.1	5.7	6.2	0.3	0.6
WA_000057	10.05.2011	NS1	40	1000	14.5	1.2	3.1	7.0	NA	NA
WA_000058	10.05.2011	NS1	80	950	0.1	5.7	0.2	10.4	NA	NA
WA_000059	10.05.2011	NS4	5	650	16.0	3.2	4.2	6.1	NA	NA
WB_000060	10.05.2011	NS4	40	1000	14.1	1.3	2.2	6.9	NA	NA
WB_000061	10.05.2011	NS4	63	950	5.9	3.4	0.9	8.5	NA	NA
WB_000062	10.05.2011	NS6	5	750	15.8	5.5	4.4	5.9	NA	NA
WB_000063	10.05.2011	NS6	40	1000	12.8	0.5	1.7	6.7	NA	NA
WB_000064	10.05.2011	NS6	70	1000	2.9	4.5	0.5	9.2	NA	NA
WA_000065	10.05.2011	NS8	5	800	15.1	0.6	12.5	4.8	NA	NA
WA_000066	10.05.2011	NS8	40	850	9.3	1.9	1.5	7.0	NA	NA
WB_000068	3.06.2011	NS6	5	750	12.3	7.9	1.1	5.9	NA	NA
WB_000069	3.06.2011	NS6	40	850	11.2	0.8	0.7	6.8	NA	NA
WB_000070	3.06.2011	NS6	72	1000	2.5	3.7	0.4	8.7	NA	NA
WA_000072	3.06.2011	NS8	40	950	10.6	1.3	0.6	6.9	NA	NA
WB_000073	3.06.2011	NS8	80	1000	2.0	4.3	0.3	8.9	NA	NA
WA_000082	3.06.2011	NS4	5	750	11.3	9.5	1.0	6.3	NA	NA
WB_000085	3.06.2011	NS1	5	800	11.6	9.4	0.5	6.6	NA	NA
WB_000086	3.06.2011	NS1	40	950	10.9	1.1	0.2	7.0	NA	NA
WB_000087	3.06.2011	NS1	84	1000	0.5	5.1	0.2	9.7	NA	NA
WB_000090	10.06.2011	AP2	40	800	11.6	2.2	0.2	7.0	1.1	0.6
WB_000091	10.06.2011	AP2	90	800	0.2	5.0	0.2	9.6	1.3	2.6
WB_000093	10.06.2011	AP5	40	850	12.8	2.8	0.2	6.9	0.4	0.3
WB_000095	10.06.2011	AP8	5	550	10.7	12.8	1.0	6.4	0.0	0.2
WB_000098	10.06.2011	AP11	5	600	10.9	12.6	1.2	6.4	NA	NA
WB_000100	10.06.2011	AP13	5	775	12.1	10.6	1.1	6.1	0.0	0.3
WB_000101	10.06.2011	AP13	31	900	12.2	4.0	0.5	6.4	0.3	0.6
WB_000102	14.07.2011	AP1	5	625	10.0	16.9	1.2	6.3	NA	NA
WB_000103	14.07.2011	AP2	5	850	10.0	17.1	1.9	6.2	0.0	0.2
WB_000106	14.07.2011	AP5	5	600	10.4	17.7	1.9	5.6	0.0	0.2

Table 2. The physico-chemical properties of the sampling sites. NA-not analyzed.

(Continued)

PLOS ONE

Table 0 (Continued)

Table 2. (Continue	ea)									
Code	Date	Station	Depth (m)	Volume (ml)	Oxygen (mg/L)	Temperature (°C)	ChLa (mg m ⁻³)	Salinity	NO2/NO3 (µmol/L)	PO4 (µmol/L)
WB_000107	14.07.2011	AP5	40	725	12.5	3.3	0.2	6.9	1.0	0.8
WA_000108	14.07.2011	AP5	84	850	0.2	5.0	0.2	9.7	0.2	4.4
WB_000109	14.07.2011	AP8	5	500	10.5	18.7	5.1	6.0	0.0	0.3
WB_000110	14.07.2011	AP8	40	800	12.6	4.0	0.2	6.8	0.6	0.9
WB_000111	14.07.2011	AP8	74	900	2.7	3.9	0.2	8.8	5.3	3.5
WB_000112	14.07.2011	AP11	5	675	10.1	18.5	4.0	6.2	NA	NA

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.t002

Bioinformatics and statistics

Reads with low quality and those shorter than 150 bp (basepairs) were removed from the dataset. The PyroNoise algorithm was used to discard homopolymer-derived errors [47] and UCHIME to remove chimeric DNA sequences caused by PCR errors [48]. OTUs (Operational Taxonomic Units) were defined using the average neighbor-clustering algorithm of MOTHUR 1.19.1 [49] with a 97% similarity threshold. Reference sequences were selected from the SILVA ribosomal RNA database [50]. Taxonomic assignments were processed by the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) naïve Bayesian Classifier [51]. For database affiliations RDP Seqmatch [52] and BLAST [53] search algorithms were used against RDP and a NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) nucleotide databases, respectively. Chloroplast and mitochondrial sequences were discarded from the dataset. Statistical analyses were carried out with the R program version 2.14.0 (http://www.r-project.org), ACE (Abundance-based Coverage Estimation) [54] and Chao1 [55] richness estimates; multivariate statistics were calculated using the VEGAN package [56]. The similarity matrices and clustering were generated using the gplots package [57]. The sequences have been deposited into GenBank (accession numbers from KM489611 to KM491167).

Results

Environmental parameters structuring the bacterial community

The sampling took place from April to July in 2011 and the bacterial 16S rRNA gene libraries were generated from three sampling depths: (i) surface water at 5 m, (ii) the intermediate layer

Table 3.	Primers	used in	this	study	v.

Primer name	Sequence 5'- 3'	Citation
F8	TTGGCAGTCTCAGnnnnnnAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG*	[45]
R357	GTCTCCGACTCAGnnnnnnnCTGCTGCCTYCCGTA*	[45]
Adapter A	CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTCAG	**
Adapter B	CCTATCCCCTGTGTGCCTTGGCAGTCTCAG	**

*-nnnnnnn is the barcode

**-standard adapter for 454 Titanium chemistry

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.t003
PLOS ONE



doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.g002

at 40 m and (iii) the near-bottom layer a few meters above the seafloor; depth varied between stations (63–95 m, Table 2). These depths were chosen because, in summer, the gulf is stratified into three layers. Four hydrographic profiles are visualized in Fig 2 to provide overview of changes of environmental parameters in the water column throughout the sampling period.

The 5 m and 40 m horizons always remained above the permanent halocline and at those depths the salinity varied in the range of 4.8–6.6 g kg⁻¹ and 6.7–7.2 g kg⁻¹, respectively. Salinity decreased from west to east, with the lowest value recorded in the easternmost surface sample. The near-bottom layer samples were collected at the halocline or below it and the salinity ranged from 8.5–10.4 g kg⁻¹. The temperature varied little in the near-bottom layer (3.7–5.0°C in April and 0.1–4.0°C in July), but at the 5 m depth, warming was observed from 0.8–0.9°C in April to 17.1–18.7°C in July. The most remarkable change in temperature occurred between May and June, when a well-pronounced thermocline started to form at 10–25 m.

Oxygen conditions were hypoxic or anoxic in deeper sampling layer (> 63 m) throughout the sampling period. Oxygen concentrations at the 5 m depth were significantly (p < 0.01, Student's t-test) lower during the summer (10.0–12.3 mg l⁻¹) compared with the spring (13.9–16.0 mg l⁻¹). At 40 m depth, the overall tendency remained similar to the upper layer, but on two occasions in May, the oxygen concentrations were below 9.5 mg l⁻¹.

Chlorophyll *a* concentrations were highest in April ($4.2-12.5 \text{ mg m}^{-3}, \underline{\text{Table 2}}$), when phytoplankton was dominated by *Diatomphyceae* (data not shown). Also, concentrations of

inorganic nutrients at 5 m depth we higher during the spring months compared with June or July. Nitrites and nitrates remained at concentration levels from the detection limit to 1.2 μ mol l⁻¹ and phosphates varied between 0.6–0.8 μ mol l⁻¹. In June-July, the concentrations of nitrites and nitrates remained below the detection limit and phytoplankton was dominated by diazo-trophic *Nostocophyceae* (data not shown). The concentration of phosphates was also lower in the surface layer during the summer months (Table 2).

Bacterioplankton community diversity

A total of 73,494 partial rRNA gene sequences and 48 different samples were used in this analysis, on average 2,161 sequences per sample. The minimum number of sequences per sample was set to 350. In <u>Table 2</u>, the number of observed OTUs is accompanied with the Chao1 and ACE species richness estimates for each sample. Overall, the number of OTUs was significantly higher in the near-bottom layer (on average 144, SD = 34) than at 5 m and 40 m (98, SD = 44 and 90, SD = 43; respectively). Based on the rarefaction curves outlined from samples (<u>S1 Fig</u>), we assume that deeper sequencing (more sequences per sample) would have resulted in significantly higher estimates. Therefore, in this study, we could not study rare species and therefore concentrated on abundant members of the bacterioplankton community.

Bacterioplankton community composition

A total of 29 different bacterial classes were found. More than 85% of identified OTUs belonged to eight classes: *Alphaproteobacteria* (31.2%), *Actinobacteria* (17.8%), *Betaproteobacteria* (8.9%), *Cyanobacteria* (9.3%), *Epsilonproteobacteria* (5.8%), *Gammaproteobacteria* (2.5%), *Flavobacteria* (8.7%) and *Sphingobacteria* (1.6%). About 1/10 (11.6%) of the sequences remained unclassified at the bacterial class level. A total of 1,557 OTUs (97% cutoff) were obtained, out of which 839 were single-read OTUs. The most numerous OTUs with their database affiliations are listed in <u>Table 4</u>.

A descriptive multivariate statistical method, i.e. detrended correspondence analysis (DCA), was used to describe the overall OTU abundance and thereafter a vector-fitting procedure was applied to determine which environmental variables significantly related to BCC patterns (Fig 3, Table 5). As a result, oxygen, depth and salinity were distinguished as the most important co-varying environmental factors (r² and p values are presented in Table 5). Temperature, sampling time and Chl α could be identified as being less significant to the DCA space (in declining order). The geographic location (longitude and latitude) was rendered non-significant. The DCA also indicates how measured environmental parameters co-varied. To further investigate the dynamics of BCC, Pearson correlation analysis was carried out based on the relative abundance of OTUs, which was used to construct a similarity matrix (Fig 4). Organized according to clustering of the similarity matrix, all community profiles are visualized on the class level in Fig 5 for an overview and the OTU level (97% similarity) in Fig 6 to provide detailed insight into the relative abundance of dominant ribotypes. On a broader scale, the communities were divided into three groups: (i) surface communities during the summer months that were dominated by the unicellular cyanobacterium Synechococcus (OTU BSNS2840); (ii) hypoxic/anoxic near-bottom communities that contained a large fraction of chemolithotrophic Sulfurimonas (OTU BSNS3177); and (iii) a larger group with all remaining communities with notable subdivisions among them.

To examine how the BCC was related to environmental factors, each measured environmental parameter was correlated to the relative abundance of the dominant bacterial classes (<u>Fig 7</u>) of OTUs (<u>Fig 8</u>). These heatmaps illustrate how occurrence patterns of classes differ in relation to environmental conditions and that on OTU level there are subdivisions within these

PLOS ONE

Table 4. Database affiliations of the dominant OTUs (>300 sequences in the entire dataset).

OUT classification	OTU code	Isolation source (RDP)	Accession nr. Genbank (RDP)	%	Isolation source (BLAST)	Accession nr. Genbank (BLAST)	%
Bacteroidetes(100)	BSNS3145	deep-sea octacoral	DQ395498	90.9	coastal ocean	KC336890	99
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3157	lake epilimnion (Jimi Hendrix Bog Lake	EU117758	100	Gulf of Gdansk (Baltic Sea), 1 m	KF596574	100
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3107	lake epilimnion	EU117608	100	river water	GU641290	100
Flavobacteriaceae(100)	BSNS3079	marine biome, fjord, coastal water	FR686324	99.6	coastal ocean	KC336902	100
Rhodobacteraceae (100)	BSNS3149	culture collection: ATCC:17025	CP000661	97	marine bulk water	JX015552	100
Flavobacteriaceae(100)	BSNS3078	Lake Zurich, Spring Bloom 2009	HE574367	92.1	seawater, 2 m depth	FR648023	99
Bacteroidetes(100)	BSNS3163	coastal water	GU230419	94.8	Baltic Sea, 3m depth, Landsort deep St. BY31	EF627875	99
Polaribacter(100)	BSNS3072	Arctic sea water	EU330381	NC*	Arctic Sea water	FJ196065	99
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3110	lake epilimnion	EU117955	99.6	off-seep, ice-free (Alaska)	JN626833	99
Microbacteriaceae(100)	BSNS2531	lake water, West Lobe at 13 m	DQ015847	98.4	Arctic Ocean	JN976695	100
Flavobacteriaceae(100)	BSNS2870	oil-contaminated seawater	JQ712124	94.6	genomic DNA	AF388893	99
Comamonadaceae(100)	BSNS3044	mangrove	DQ234161	99.6	coastal ocean	KC336502	100
Pelagibacter(100)	BSNS3084	Chesapeake Bay, 8 m	EU800103	99.2	Gulf of Gdansk (Baltic Sea), 1 m	KF596598	99
Pelagibacter(100)	BSNS3076	deep-sea octacoral	DQ395535	100	300m depth water sample	JX530818	100
Pelagibacter(100)	BSNS3171	Chesapeake Bay, 25 m	EU801724	98.8	Qinghai Lake	HM127540	99
Bacteria(100)	BSNS3058	marine biome, fjord, coastal water	FR683807	96.2	surface water in the Northern Bering Sea	GQ452877	100
llumatobacter(100)	BSNS3154	Chesapeake Bay, 25 m	EU802230	100	Gulf of Gdansk (Baltic Sea), 1 m	KF596602	100
Flavobacteriales(99)	BSNS2920	Chesapeake Bay, 25 m	EU802220	97.6	genomic DNA	AF388893	99
llumatobacter(100)	BSNS2659	Delaware Bay, 8 m	EU800747	99.6	water of common carp culture pond	JQ305072	100
Gplla(100)	BSNS2840	Synechococcus sp. isolate	AY151241	100	the Gulf of Finland (The Baltic Sea)	FR820441	100
Rhodothermaceae(100)	BSNS3172	deep-sea sediments	AB015587	95.5	Crambe crambe (sponge)	GU799618	98
Bacteria(100)	BSNS3174	marine sediment	FJ813551	93.6	municipal activated sludge wastewater treatment bioreactor	HQ509575	93
Rhodobacteraceae (100)	BSNS3179	ocean water from the Yellow Sea	HM057611	98.1	Crambe crambe (sponge)	GU799618	98
Alphaproteobacteria (100)	BSNS3143	strain of Reyranella massiliensis	EF394922	100	drinking water	KF515019	100
Gammaproteobacteria (100)	BSNS3168	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	JX974825	98.7	marine sample	JQ859404	99
Flavobacteriaceae(100)	BSNS3178	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492867	100	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492867	99
Methylobacter(100)	BSNS3164	cultured strain	AF152597	100	groundwater discharge zone sediment	KC922589	100
llumatobacter(100)	BSNS3169	hydrothermal vent waters	HM446118	99.6	Lubomirskia baicalensis (freshwater sponge)	JQ272709	100
Methylophilus(97)	BSNS3170	Kerguelen Plateau in the Southern Ocean, 120 m	EU005833	98.2	ocean surface water	JQ253996	99

(Continued)

Table 4. (Continued)

OUT classification	OTU code	Isolation source (RDP)	Accession nr. Genbank (RDP)	%	Isolation source (BLAST)	Accession nr. Genbank (BLAST)	%
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3032	deep-sea octacoral	DQ396268	99.6	Saanich Inlet, 10 m depth	GQ346797	99
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3133	bottom water in the northern Bering Sea	GQ850562	99.6	Saanich Inlet, 10 m depth	GQ346797	99
Actinomycetales(100)	BSNS3120	deep-sea octacoral	DQ396268	99.2	whole surface water from Chesapeake Bay	EF471727	100
Bacteroidetes(100)	BSNS3126	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492874	100	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492874	99
Sulfurimonas(100)	BSNS3177	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492833	99.6	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth	KC492833	100
Solirubrobacterales (100)	BSNS3175	soil sample above gas and oil field	GU056099	98.4	Baltic Sea brackish sediment, depth 0–1 cm	FN423884	99
Corynebacterineae (100)	BSNS3016	Lake Pavin (meromictic lake)	GU472705	96.9	the Gulf of Finland (The Baltic Sea) sediment	FR820412	100

Best matches found with the RDP Seqmatch tool and BLAST against the NCBI nucleotide database are listed and accompanied by the corresponding isolation source.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.t004

groups. Interactions between microbes were as important as other environmental factors. Therefore, similar correlation analyses were carried out between dominant ribotypes (Fig 9). The clustering achieved in this way is slightly different and provides additional information. The efficiency of this approach is demonstrated by the fact that OTUs with related database matches (isolation source, etc.) clustered together. Therefore, relatively abundant ribotypes with the closest affiliations are given in the same order in Table 4.

Discussion

Connection between locally established bacterioplankton community and global redox-specific metacommunity

We used 16S rRNA gene-based community profiling to identify spatiotemporal patterns of bacterial picoplankton (including 0.22 to 5 μ m fraction) in the Gulf of Finland. As discussed in detail below, the collected data demonstrate that the dynamics of the BCC in the Gulf of Finland exhibits striking parallels with other OMZ that are also characterized by salinity gradients and a temperate climate, like Chesapeake Bay and the Saanich Inlet [25,58]. This suggests that, in addition to the dynamics of different electron acceptors and donors, salinity also plays an important role.

In community ecology, there is an increasingly popular concept of metacommunities, defined as a set of local communities that are linked by the dispersal of multiple interacting species [59]. Considering the interconnectedness of aquatic ecosystems, we propose that bacterioplankton communities in the OMZ can be considered as a globally distributed redoxspecialized metacommunity. In such a framework, OMZs occurring in freshwater and marine water mixing zones should form a salinity-dependent subsystem of this metacommunity. Due high selectivity by salinity- and redox-driven niche partitioning in these systems, species-sorting becomes the driving force behind community assembly in these systems.

The overall phylogenetic makeup of the bacterioplankton community observed on the bacterial class level resembled those routinely found in Baltic Sea pelagic waters using culture



DCA1



doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.g003

Table 5. Results of the detrended correspondence analysis of the bacterioplankton community composition.

	DCA1 (11.1%)	DCA2 (9.5%)	r ²	Pr(>r)
Oxygen	-0.95981	0.28064	0.4942	0.000999
Depth	0.97438	-0.22492	0.7527	0.000999
Temperature	-0.67420	-0.73855	0.2839	0.002997
Chlorophyll a	-0.91184	0.41055	0.1008	0.079920
Salinity	0.99312	-0.11714	0.7100	0.000999
Longitude	-0.75817	-0.65205	0.0015	0.964036
Latitude	-0.60613	0.79537	0.0483	0.316683
Week	-0.19239	-0.98132	0.1388	0.028971

P values based on 1000 permutations.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.t005



Fig 4. Pair-wise similarity matrix of the bacterial community based on relative abundances of OTUs. The dendrogram represents clustering based on pair-wise similarities in r-values (Pearson). Three different sampling depths are color-coded green (5 m), blue (30–40 m) and red (near-bottom).



unclassified ribotypes (A) that are accompanied with environmental parameters (B). The dendrogram is adopted from Fig 3.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.g005





independent methods, although an underrepresented fraction of *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia* was noted [<u>34,39,42,44,60</u>].

Moreover, many relatively abundant OTUs are closely affiliated with sequences previously isolated from the Baltic Sea (<u>Table 4</u>), as expected due to the long residence time of the Baltic Sea and annually reoccurring patterns of bacterioplankton succession [44]. Two OTUs that managed in some cases to contribute to over 50% of the BCC (Fig 6) can be considered permanent and well-adapted local populations. One of these OTUs, BSNS2840, had an identical match to a sequence isolated from laminae of the Gulf of Finland sediments dating back to the Late Litorina Sea [61]. Hence, this population may have been present in the area for over 3000 years. It was classified as a member of the cyanobacterial clade GpIIa (*Synechococcus* by database affiliation) and it contributed up to 88.7% of the BCC in the surface layer in June, making it the most abundant picocyanobacterium of the dataset (Fig 6). OTU BSNS2840 was also numerous in the winter picoplankton community in the same sampling area [42].

The prevalence of *Cyanobacteria* during summer is typical of the seasonal succession of phytoplankton in the area and is caused by multiple environmental conditions, most notably the increase in temperature and the depletion of nitrates in the surface layer after the spring bloom (<u>Table 2</u>), which gives a distinct advantage to diazotrophic cyanobacteria [62]. The





variability of the fraction contributed by Cyanobacteria within samples that were collected during same cruise indicates patchy nature of the bloom. In addition, it is important to point out that Synechococcus has been shown to occupy the anoxic and dark zone in the central Baltic Sea [38,63] and Chesapeake Bay [25]. The underlying mechanisms behind this phenomenon remain unexplored to our knowledge. The most abundant OTU in the hypoxic/suboxic layer, BSNS3177, was classified as Sulfurimonas (genus of Epsilonproteobacteria). One characteristic feature of chemolithoautotrophic bacteria in the Baltic Sea is that the majority of cells belong to the Sulfurimonas GD17 group [64], which oxidizes H₂S with NO³⁻. The prevalence of single domant strain of epsilonproteobacterium is also reflected in our results. Ribotype BSNS3177 contributed to a large fraction of the BCC in the hypoxic/suboxic near-bottom layer at the westernmost stations and at AP2 and AP5 in mid-summer (Fig 6). This suggests dispersion from the Baltic Proper to the Gulf of Finland, as proposed by our previous study [42]. Moreover, the Sulfurimonas strain co-occurred with OTU BSNS3126 (Fig 9), classified as Bacteroidetes, and both were affiliated with sequences isolated earlier from the anoxic zone of central Baltic Sea (Table 4) [65]. Linkage to the same isolation source was also demonstrated by the co-occurring pair of ribotypes BSNS3168 and BSNS3178, classified as representatives of Gammaproteobacteria (affiliated with the SUP05 clade) and Flavobacteriaceae, respectively. These correlations probably represent cooperation activities.



Fig 8. Correlations between environmental parameters and OTUs (>300 sequences in whole dataset). Colors indicate the r-values of Pearson correlations. The dendrograms represent complete linkage clustering of the samples based on the similarities in r-values.

The *Epsilon*- and *Gammaproteobacteria* have been identified as major chemolithoautotrophic groups in the central Baltic Sea [40,41,64–67] and also globally in other marine OMZs [31,68]. The GD17 group is capable of a chemotactic response to nitrate [69]. The chemotactic swimming strategies of marine bacteria are especially significant in patchy nutrient seascapes [70], and in OMZs, the corresponding genes have been shown to be over-represented [39,71].

Heterotrophic *Alphaproteobacteria* dominated in the upper oxygenated layer of water. In addition, *Candidatus* Pelagibacter (ribotypes BSNS3076, BSNS3084 and BSNS3171 accounted for 15.9%) was the most abundant genus in the whole dataset. *Candidatus* Pelagibacter belongs to the SAR11 clade, which is the most abundant type of organism in the world's oceans [12,72,73] and has been found to be numerous in the Baltic Sea as well [35,42]. Another prevalent alphaproteobacterial OTU in oxygenated waters, BSNS3149, was classified as *Rhodobacteraceae* (order *Rhodobacterales*). It had an identical match with a sequence isolated from a coastal North Sea diatom bloom [74]. Both groups, *Rhodobacterales* and SAR11, contribute to the conversion of dimethylsulfoniopropionate to dimethylsulfide [75]. Interestingly, both groups have been found to be numerous in OMZs in both oxic and anoxic layers, but their metabolic adaptations for anaerobic growth remain to be uncharacterized [31].

PLOS ONE



Fig 9. Co-localization analysis between the most abundant ribotypes, which are accompanied by classifications. Colors indicate the r-values of Pearson correlations. The dendrogram represents complete linkage clustering of the samples based on the similarities in r-values.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122304.g009

Importance of methane and trace metal gradients

Methane is mainly generated in the sediment from which it transfers into the water column. A methane gradient with decreasing concentrations toward the water surface is usually observed in the Baltic Sea [76]. Microbial oxidation of methane in the water column represents an important sink of methane. Different electron acceptors can be used for methane oxidation (sulfate, nitrate, nitrite, iron and manganese), but using oxygen produces a considerably larger energy yield [77].

As a consequence, the hotspot for microbial methane oxidation activity in central Baltic Sea is at the upper part of the redoxcline [78]. Interestingly, the corresponding group consists of only type I methanotrophic bacteria [79,80]. Our results suggest that the same group is also represented in the Gulf of Finland with gammaproteobacterial OTU BSNS3164

(*Methylobacter*) as the most abundant representative. It is important to consider that our samples were collected above and under the redoxcline. In addition, OTU BSNS3143 corresponded via databases to *Methylosinus trichosporium*, a type II methane-oxidizing alphaproteobacterium previously found in surface sediments of the Gotland Deep [81]. Considerably more relevant was betaproteobacterial OTU BSNS3170, classified as *Methylophilus*, an obligate methylotroph common to the Baltic Sea [38,42,82]. All these three groups were more abundant at the 40 m depth (Fig 6).

Redox-sensitive trace metals (e.g. iron and manganese) provide another energy source for microbes and can serve as electron donors above the redoxcline. When oxygenated, insoluble compounds form aggregates that will sink below the redoxcline and can be used as electron acceptors [83–85]. Our results suggest that members of *Actinomycetales* (order of *Actinobacteria*) may inhabit this niche, because several relatively abundant OTUs (BSNS2659, BSNS3154 and BSNS3169) were classified as *Ilumatobacter*. All known and described members of *Acidimicrobiaceae* are capable of iron oxidation [86]. The found OTUs exhibited different patterns of distribution indicating separate strategies. For example, OTU BSNS2659 was more abundant at 5 m in July. However, two other *Ilumatobacteria* and three unclassified *Actinobacteria* (OTUs BSNS3032, BSNS3120, BSNS3133) occurred mainly at 40 m and in the near-bottom layers, supporting the iron-oxidation hypothesis. Interestingly, almost all of these OTUs (except OTU BSNS3169) had nearly identical matches to brackish and temporarily anoxic estuaries (Table 4).

Spring bloom associated community influenced by freshwater clades

The Gulf of Finland has a relatively large input of freshwater compared to the Baltic Proper and southern basins. This impacts the BCC through the salinity distribution of the gulf and the influx of populations originating from freshwater sources [33–35,44]. Consequently, some relatively abundant OTUs were highly similar to sequences obtained from rivers and lakes (Table 4). Overall, the prevalence of phylogenetic groups considered to be characteristic of freshwater ecosystems, like *Actinobacteria* and *Betaproteobacteria*, exhibited a positive correlation with longitude (Fig 7), i.e. increasing in abundance towards less saline parts of the gulf. This concurs with previous reports of BCC dynamics along the salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea [35].

Annually recurring phytoplankton spring blooms in the Gulf of Finland are co-dominated by diatoms and dinoflagellates and exhibit high spatiotemporal variability [87]. The alternating dominance of bottom-up and top-down interactions result in a succession of heterotrophic bacterial groups with different growth strategies throughout the phytoplankton bloom [74,88]. Although our sampling period covered only part of the spring bloom, groups representing different strategies could be distinguished.

Bacterial lineages considered fast growing "opportunistic" types that utilize dissolved organic matter (DOM) like *Betaproteobacteria* and *Flavobacteria* [88–90] were accompanied by more slow-growing and grazing-resistant members of the AcI lineage of *Actinobacteria* [88,91,92]. Most of the OTUs connected to the spring bloom were clustered together by the correlation analysis (upper 12 OTUs in Fig 7), including the discussed unclassified *Rhodobacteraceae* that were affiliated with the diatom bloom.

Members of *Flavobacteria* are often overrepresented in the spring BCC of the Baltic Sea and are major contributors to the degradation of high molecular weight carbon [<u>39,82,93</u>]. OTUs BSNS2870, BSNS3078 (both classified as *Flavobacteriaceae*) and BSNS3163 (unclassified *Bacteroidetes*) were closely related to sequences previously isolated from the Baltic Sea (<u>Table 4</u>). We identified several OTUs classified as *Polaribacter* (member of *Flavobacteria*), with OTU

BSNS3072 as the only relatively abundant representative. This group contributes to the degradation of phytoplankton-derived organic matter via high expression of sulfatases [74].

Overall, Betaproteobacteria had the strongest correlation with Chl a concentrations, especially unclassified Comamonadaceae (BSNS3044) which stood out on the OTU level (Figs 6 and 7, respectively). Members of Comamonadaceae have been previously identified in spring bacterioplankton communities on several occasions [39,82]. Moreover, mesocosm experiments have shown a negative impact of higher temperature on this psychrotolerant lineage (Lindh et al., 2012).

We identified three relatively abundant members of Actinobacteria (OTUs BSNS3107, BSNS3110 and BSNS3157) that were closely related to the freshwater AcI lineage characterized by small cell sizes. The presence of small bacteria can be considered a clear indication of grazing pressure by bacterivorous nanoflagellates. Metagenomic profiling of pelagic and benthic bacteria during the spring (Landsort Deep) reveled that genes for the degradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (like cellulose and chitin) belong mainly to Actinobacteria and more specifically to Mycobacterium [39]. These genes were mainly found in the sediments, and because they are affiliated with aerobic groups, the authors considered sedimentation most likely. In our dataset, OTU BSNS3016, classified as Corynebacterineae and closely affiliated with Mycobacterium, comprised 8.7% of the total sequences isolated at a depth of 40 m in the beginning of June; therefore, our results support the sedimentation hypothesis.

Conclusions

The availability of electron acceptors is a critical determinant of the marine ecosystem structure, and we conclude that oxygen concentration is a major environmental factor impacting the BCC in the near-bottom layer of the Gulf of Finland. We conclude that chemolithotrophic groups dispersing from the central Baltic Sea become dominant members of the BCC in the suboxic/anoxic layer when it is formed. Some members of Actinobacteria inhabit the layer above the redoxcline and most probably contributing to the oxidation of ferrous iron. Our results also led to the conclusion that the Gulf of Finland has likely a more diverse composition of methanotrophic bacteria than the central Baltic Sea. The BCC at the surface layer was strongly impacted by phytoplankton seasonal succession, as many abundant OTUs in April and May could be associated with the spring phytoplankton bloom. In addition, in the beginning of summer, inorganic nutrient depletion and rising temperatures led to the proliferation of picocyanobacteria. We determined one dominant lineage of Synechococcus, which due affiliation contributes to the conclusion that some well-established phylogenetic lineages have persisted in the area for over 3000 years. Furthermore, our results support the emerging pattern of related microbes occupying the OMZs throughout the world and suggests that core of the bacterioplankton community of the Gulf of Finland is part of that a redox-specialized bacterial network, which by definition can be considered a metacommunity.

Supporting Information

S1 Fig. Rarefaction curves outlined from each sample representing the relation between the number of sequences and the number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) identified with 97% similarity threshold. Different depths are marked with letters: 5 m (a), 40 m (b) and near-bottom layer (c).

(PNG)

Acknowledgments

We would to like thank the crew of RV Salme for their excellent assistance during the sampling campaigns.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: PL IL MM. Performed the experiments: PL IL. Analyzed the data: PL JS IL VK MM. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: IL UL MM. Wrote the paper: PL IL UL VK MM.

References

- Venter JC, Remington K, Heidelberg JF, Halpern AL, Rusch D, Eisen JA, et al. Environmental genome shotgun sequencing of the Sargasso Sea. Science. 2004; 304: 66–74 PMID: <u>15001713</u>
- Prosser JI, Bohannan BJM, Curtis TP, Ellis RJ, Firestone MK, Freckleton RP, et al. The role of ecological theory in microbial ecology. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2007; 5: 384–392. PMID: <u>17435792</u>
- Smith DJ, Timonen HJ, Jaffe DA, Griffin DW, Birmele MN, Perry KD, et al. Intercontinental dispersal of bacteria and archaea in transpacific winds. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2013; 79: 1134–1139. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1128/AEM.03029-12</u> PMID: <u>23220959</u>
- Lennon JT, Jones SE. Microbial seed banks: ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. Nat Rev Microbiol 2011; 9: 119–130. doi: <u>10.1038/nrmicro2504</u> PMID: <u>21233850</u>
- Whitman F, Fenchel T, Field JG, Gray JS, Meyer-Reil LA, Thingstad F. The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 1983; 10: 257–263.
- Falkowski PG, Fenchel T, Delong EF. The microbial engines that drive Earth's biogeochemical cycles. Science. 2008; 320, 1034–1039. doi: <u>10.1126/science.1153213</u> PMID: <u>18497287</u>
- Whitman WB, Coleman DC, Wiebe WJ. Prokaryotes: The unseen majority. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1998; 95: 6578–6583. PMID: <u>9618454</u>
- Kemp PF, Aller JY. Estimating prokaryotic diversity: When are 16S rDNA libraries large enough? Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods. 2004; 2: 114–125.
- Rappé MS, Giovannoni SJ. The uncultured microbial majority. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2003; 57: 369–394. PMID: <u>14527284</u>
- Pommier T, Canbäck B, Riemann L, Boström KH, Simu K, Lundberg P, et al. Global patterns of diversity and community structure in marine bacterioplankton. Mol Ecol. 2007; 16: 867–880. PMID: <u>17284217</u>
- Ladau J, Sharpton TJ, Finucane MM, Jospin G, Kembel SW, O'Dwyer J, et al. Global marine bacterial diversity peaks at high latitudes in winter. ISME J. 2013; 7: 1669–1677. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2013.37</u> PMID: <u>23514781</u>
- Brown MV, Ostrowski M, Grzymski JJ, Lauro FM. A trait based perspective on the biogeography of common and abundant marine bacterioplankton clades. Mar Genomics. 2014; 15: 17–28. doi: <u>10.1016/j.margen.2014.03.002</u> PMID: <u>24662471</u>
- Sogin ML, Morrison HG, Huber JA, Mark Welch D, Huse SM, Neal PR, Arrieta JM, Herndl GJ, et al. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored 'rare biosphere'. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2006; 103: 12115–12120. PMID: <u>16880384</u>
- 14. Galand PE, Casamayor EO, Kirchman DL, Lovejoy C. Ecology of the rare microbial biosphere of the Arctic Ocean. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009; 106: 22427–22432. doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.0908284106</u> PMID: <u>20018741</u>
- Sjöstedt J, Koch-Schmidt P, Pontarp M, Canbäck B, Tunlid A, Lundberg P, et al. Recruitment of members from the rare biosphere of marine bacterioplankton communities after an environmental disturbance. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012; 78: 1361–1369. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM.05542-11</u> PMID: <u>22194288</u>
- Jones SE, McMahon KD. Species-sorting may explain an apparent minimal effect of immigration on freshwater bacterial community dynamics. Environ Microbiol. 2009; 11: 905–913. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01814.x</u> PMID: <u>19040451</u>
- Logue JB, Lindström ES. Species sorting affects bacterioplankton community composition as determined by 16S rDNA and 16S rRNA fingerprints. ISME J. 2010; 4: 729–738. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2009.</u> <u>156</u> PMID: <u>20130658</u>
- Lindström ES, Langenheder S. Local and regional factors influencing bacterial community assembly. Environ Microbiol Rep. 2012; 4: 1–9. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1758-2229.2011.00257.x</u> PMID: <u>23757223</u>

- Logares R, Lindström ES, Langenheder S, Logue JB, Peterson H, et al. Biogeography of bacterial communities exposed to progressive long-term environmental change. ISME J. 2013; 7, 937–948. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1038/ismej.2012.168</u> PMID: <u>23254515</u>
- 20. Hubbell SP. The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 2001.
- Sloan WT, Lunn M, Woodcock S, Head IM, Nee S, Curtis TP. Quantifying the roles of immigration and chance in shaping prokaryote community structure. Environ Microbiol. 2006; 8: 732–740. PMID: 16584484
- Woodcock S, van der Gast CJ, Bell T, Lunn M, Curtis TP, Head IM et al. Neutral assembly of bacterial communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2007; 62: 171–180. PMID: <u>17937674</u>
- Östman O, Drakare S, Kritzberg ES, Langenheder S, Logue JB, Lindström ES. Regional invariance among microbial communities. Ecol Lett. 2010; 13: 118–127. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01413.x</u> PMID: <u>19968693</u>
- 24. Lindström ES, Forslund M, Algesten G, Bergström AK. External control of bacterial community structure in lakes. Limnol Oceanogr. 2006; 51: 339–342.
- Crump BC, Peranteau C, Beckingham B, Cornwell JC. Respiratory succession and community succession of bacterioplankton in seasonally anoxic estuarine waters. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007; 73: 6802–6810. PMID: 17766441
- Ofiteru ID, Lunn M, Curtis TP, Wells GF, Criddle CS, Francis CA, et al. Combined niche and neutral effects in a microbial wastewater treatment community. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010; 107 15345– 15350. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000604107 PMID: 20705897
- Eiler A, Hayakawa DH, Rappé MS. Non-random assembly of bacterioplankton communities in the subtropical north pacific ocean. Front Microbiol. 2011; 2: 140. doi: <u>10.3389/fmicb.2011.00140</u> PMID: 21747815
- Langenheder S, Székely AJ, (2011). Species sorting and neutral processes are both important during the initial assembly of bacterial communities. ISME J. 2011; 5: 1086–1094. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2010</u>. 207 PMID: 21270841
- 29. Langenheder S, Berga M, Örjan Ö, Székely AJ. Temporal variation of β-diversity and assembly mechanisms in a bacterial metacommunity. ISME J. 2012; 6: 1107–1114. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2011.177</u> PMID: 22158394
- 30. Gilbert JA, Steele JA, Caporaso JG, Steinbrück L, Reeder J, Temperton B, et al. Defining seasonal marine microbial community dynamics. ISME J. 2012; 6: 298–308. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2011.107</u> PMID: <u>21850055</u>
- Wright JJ, Konwar KM, Hallam SJ. Microbial ecology of expanding oxygen minimum zones. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012; 10: 381–394. doi: <u>10.1038/nrmicro2778</u> PMID: <u>22580367</u>
- Ulloa O, Canfield DE, DeLong EF, Letelier RM, Stewart FJ. Perspective: microbial oceanography of anoxic oxygen minimum zones. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012; 109: 15996–16003. doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.</u> <u>1205009109</u> PMID: <u>22967509</u>
- 33. Kisand V, Andersson N, Wikner J. Bacterial freshwater species successfully immigrate to the brackish water environment in the northern Baltic. Limnol Oceanogr. 2005; 50: 945–956.
- Riemann L, Leitet C, Pommier T, Simu K, Holmfeldt K, Larsson U, et al. The native bacterioplankton community in the central Baltic Sea is influenced by freshwater bacterial species. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2008; 74: 503–515. PMID: <u>18039821</u>
- Herlemann DPR, Labrenz M, Jürgens K, Bertilsson S, Waniek JJ, Andersson AF. Transitions in bacterial communities along the 2000 km salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea. ISME J. 2011; 5: 1571–1579. doi: <u>10.1038/ismei.2011.41</u> PMID: <u>21472016</u>
- Alenius P, Myrberg K, Nekrasov A. Physical oceanography of the Gulf of Finland: a review. Boreal Envir Res. 1998; 3: 97–125.
- Pitkänen H, Lehtoranta J, Peltonen H. The Gulf of Finland. Ecol of Balt Coast Wat Ecol Stud. 2008; 197: 285–308.
- Labrenz M, Jost G, Jürgens K. Distribution of abundant prokaryotic organisms in the water column of the central Baltic Sea with an oxic-anoxic interface. Aquat Microb Ecol. 2007; 46: 177–190.
- Thureborn P, Lundin D, Plathan J, Poole AM, Sjöberg S-M, Sjöling S. A Metagenomics Transect into the Deepest Point of the Baltic Sea Reveals Clear Stratification of Microbial Functional Capacities. PLoS One. 2013: 8. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0074983</u>
- 40. Grote J, Jost G, Labrenz M., Herndl GJ, Jürgens K. *Epsilonproteobacteria* represent the major portion of chemoautotrophic bacteria in sulfidic waters of pelagic redoxclines of the Baltic and Black Seas. Appl Environ Microb. 2008; 74: 7546–7551. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01186-08 PMID: 18952879

- Glaubitz S, Lüders T, Abraham W-R, Jost G, Jürgens K, Labrenz M. ¹³C-isotope analyses reveal that chemolithoautotrophic *Gamma*- and *Epsilonproteobacteria* feed a microbial food web in a pelagic redoxcline of the central Baltic Sea. Environ Microbiol. 2009; 11: 326–337. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1462-2920.</u> 2008.01770.x PMID: <u>18793316</u>
- 42. Laas P, Simm J, Lips I, Metsis M. Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). J Marine Syst. 2014; 129: 127–134.
- 43. Pinhassi J, Hagström Å. Seasonal succession in marine bacterioplankton. Aquat Microb Ecol. 2000; 21: 245–256.
- Andersson AF, Riemann L, Bertilsson S. Pyrosequencing reveals contrasting seasonal dynamics of taxa within Baltic Sea bacterioplankton communities. ISME J. 2010; 4, 171–181. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.</u> 2009.108 PMID: <u>19829318</u>
- 45. McKenna P, Hoffmann C, Minkah N, Aye PP, Lackner A, Liu Z, et al. The macaque gut microbiome in health, lentiviral infection, and chronic enterocolitis. PLoS Pathog. 2008. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.ppat.</u> 0040020
- 46. Hamady M, Walker JJ, Harris JK, Gold NJ, Knight R. Error-correcting barcoded primers for pyrosequencing hundreds of samples in multiplex. Nat Methods. 2008; 5: 235–237. doi: <u>10.1038/nmeth.1184</u> PMID: <u>18264105</u>
- Quince C, Lanzén A, Davenport RJ, Turnbaugh PJ. Removing noise from pyrosequenced amplicons. BMC Bioinf. 2011; 12:38. doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2105-12-38</u>
- Edgar RC, Haas BJ, Clemente JC, Quince C, Knight R. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics. 2011; 27: 2194–2200. doi: <u>10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381</u> PMID: <u>21700674</u>
- Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, Hall JR, Hartmann M, Hollister EB, et al. Introducing mothur: opensource, platform-independent, communitysupported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Appl Environ Microb. 2009; 75: 7537–7541. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM.01541-09</u> PMID: <u>19801464</u>
- Pruesse E, Quast C, Knittel K, Fuchs BM, Ludwig W, Peplies J, et al. SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007; 35: 7188–7196. PMID: <u>17947321</u>
- Wang Q, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM, Cole JR. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl Environ Microb. 2007; 73: 5261–5267. PMID: <u>17586664</u>
- Cole JR, Chai B, Farris RJ, Wang Q, Kulam SA, McGarrell DM, et al. The Ribosomal Database project (RDP-II): sequences and tools for high-throughput rRNA analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005; 33: 294– 296.
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schaffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, et al. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res. 1997; 25: 3389–3402. PMID: <u>9254694</u>
- Chao A, Lee S. Estimating the number of classes via sample coverage. J Am Statist Assoc. 1992; 87: 210–217.
- Chao A. Nonparametric estimation of the number of classes in a population. Scand J Stat. 1984; 11: 265–270.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, et al. Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 1.15–4. 2009.
- Warnes GR. Gplots: Various R Programming Tools for Plotting Data. 2011. Available: <u>http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/gplots/index.html</u>.
- Zaikova E, Walsh DA, Stilwell CP, Mohn WW, Tortell PD, Hallam SJ (2010). Microbial community dynamics in a seasonally anoxic fjord: Saanich Inlet, British Columbia. Environ Microbiol. 2010; 12: 172– 191. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02058.x</u> PMID: <u>19788414</u>
- 59. Leibold MA, Holyoak M, Mouquet N, Amarasekare P, Chase JM, Hoopes MF, et al. The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecology Letters. 2004; 7: 601–613
- Koskinen K, Hultman J, Paulin L, Auvinen P, Kankaanpää H. Spatially differing bacterial communities in water columns of the northern Baltic Sea. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2011; 75: 99–110. doi: <u>10.1111/j.</u> <u>1574-6941.2010.00987.x</u> PMID: 21059177
- 61. Lyra C, Sinkko H, Rantanen M, Paulin L, Kotilainen A. Sediment bacterial communities reflect the history of a sea basin. PLoS One. 2013. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0054326</u>
- Funkey CP, Conley DJ, Reuss NS, Humborg C, Jilbert T, Slomp CP. Hypoxia Sustains Cyanobacteria Blooms in the Baltic Sea. Environ Sci Technol. 2014; 48: 2598–2602. doi: <u>10.1021/es404395a</u> PMID: <u>24512281</u>

- Detmer AE, Giesenhagen HC, Trenkel VM, Venne HAD, Jochem FJ. Phototrophic and heterotrophic pico-plankton and nanoplankton in anoxic depths of the central baltic sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 1993; 99: 197–203.
- Grote J, Labrenz M, Pfeiffer B, Jost G, Jürgens K. Quantitative distributions of *Epsilonproteobacteria* and a *Sulfurimonas* subgroup in pelagic redoxclines of the central Baltic Sea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007; 73: 7155–7161. PMID: <u>17921285</u>
- Glaubitz S, Kiesslich K, Meeske C, Labrenz M, Jürgens K. SUP05 dominates the gammaproteobacterial sulfur oxidizer assemblages in pelagic redoxclines of the central Baltic and Black Sea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM.03777-12</u>
- Brettar I, Labrenz M, Flavier S, Bötel J, Kuosa H, Christen R, et al. Identification of a *Thiomicrospira* denitrificans-like epsilonproteobacterium as a catalyst for autotrophic denitrification in the central Baltic Sea. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006; 72: 1364–1372. PMID: 16461688
- Glaubitz S, Labrenz M, Jost G, Jürgens K. Diversity of active chemolithoautotrophic prokaryotes in the sulfidic zone of a Black Sea pelagic redoxcline as determined by rRNA-based stable isotope probing. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 2010; 74: 32–41. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00944.x</u> PMID: <u>20649907</u>
- Campbell BJ, Engel AS, Porter ML, Takai K. The versatile ε-proteobacteria: key players in sulfidic habitats. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2006; 4: 458–468. PMID: <u>16652138</u>
- 69. Grote J, Schott T, Bruckner CG, Glöckner FO, Jost G, Teeling H, etal. Genome and physiology of a model *Epsilonproteobacterium* responsible for sulfide detoxification in marine oxygen depletion zones. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012; 109: 506–5010. doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.1111262109</u> PMID: <u>22203982</u>
- 70. Stocker R, Seymour J, Samadani A, Hunt D, Polz M. Rapid chemotactic response enables marine bacteria to exploit ephemeral microscale nutrient patches. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008; 105: 4209–4214. doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.0709765105</u> PMID: <u>18337491</u>
- Ganesh S, Parris DJ, DeLong EF, Stewart FJ. Metagenomic analysis of size-fractionated picoplankton in a marine oxygen minimum zone. ISME J. 2014; 8: 187–211. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2013.144</u> PMID: 24030599
- Morris RM, Rappé MS, Connon SA, Vergin KL, Siebold WA, Carlson CA, et al. SAR11 clade dominates ocean surface bacterioplankton communities. Nature. 2002; 420: 806–810. PMID: <u>12490947</u>
- 73. Brown M, Lauro F, DeMaere M, Muir L, Wilkins D, Thomas T, etal. Global biogeography of SAR11 marine bacteria. Mol Syst Biol. 2012; 8: 595. doi: 10.1038/msb.2012.28 PMID: 22806143
- Teeling H, Fuchs BM, Becher D, Klockow DC, Gardebrecht A, Bennke CM et al. Substrate-controlled succession of marine bacterioplankton populations induced by a phytoplankton bloom. Science. 2012; 336: 608–611. doi: 10.1126/science.1218344 PMID: 22556258
- Howard EC, Henriksen JR, Buchan A, Reisch CR, Burgmann H, Welsh R, et al. Bacterial taxa that limit sulfur flux from the ocean. Science. 2006; 314: 649–652. PMID: <u>17068264</u>
- Schmale O, Schneider v DJ, Gulzow W., Nausch G., Waniek JJ, Rehder G (2010). The distribution of methane in the water column of the Baltic Sea. Geophys Res Lett. 2010. doi: <u>10.1029/2010GL043115</u>
- 77. Reeburgh WS. Ocean methane biogeochemistry. Chem. Rev. 2007; 107: 486–513. PMID: 17261072
- Jakobs G, Rehder G, Jost G, Kießlich K, Labrenz M, Schmale O. Comparative studies of pelagic microbial methane oxidation within the redox zones of the Gotland Deep and Landsort Deep (central Baltic Sea), Biogeosciences. 2013; 10: 7863–7875.
- Schmale O, Blumenberg M, Kießlich K, Jakobs G, Berndmeyer C, Labrenz M, et al. Aerobic methanotrophy within the pelagic redoxzone of the Gotland Deep (central Baltic Sea). Biogeosciences. 2013; 9: 4969–4977.
- Berndmeyer C, Thiel V, Schmale O, Blumenberg M. Biomarkers for aerobic methanotrophy in the water column of the stratified Gotland Deep (Baltic Sea), Org. Geochem. 2013; 55: 103–111.
- Heyer J, Galchenko VF, Dunfield PF. Molecular phylogeny of type II methane-oxidizing bacteria isolated from various environments. Microbiology. 2002; 148: 2831–2846. PMID: <u>12213929</u>
- Kisand V, Wikner J. Combining culture-dependent and-independent methodologies for estimation of richness of estuarine bacterioplankton consuming riverine dissolved organic matter. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2003; 69: 3607–3616. PMID: <u>12788769</u>
- Tebo BM, Bargar JR, Clement BG, Dick GJ, Murray KJ, Parker D, et al. Biogenic manganese oxides: Properties and mechanisms of formation. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences. 2004; 32: 287–328
- Trouwborst RE, Brian GC, Tebo BM, Glazer BT, Luther GW III. Soluble Mn(III) in suboxic zones. Science. 2006; 313: 1955–1957. PMID: <u>17008530</u>

- Yakushev EV, Pollehne F, Jost G, Kuznetsov I, Schneider B, Umlauf L. Analysis of the water column oxic/anoxic interface in the Black and Baltic seas with a numerical model. Marine Chemistry. 2007; 107: 388–410.
- 86. Itoh T, Yamanoi K. Kudo T, Ohkuma M, Takashina T. Aciditerrimonas ferrireducens gen. nov., sp. nov., an iron-reducing thermoacidophilic actinobacterium isolated from a solfataric field. Int J Syst Evol Microb. 2011; 61: 1281–1285. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.023044-0 PMID: 20639230
- Lips I, Rünk N, Kikas V, Meerits A, Lips U. High-resolution dynamics of spring bloom in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. Journal of Marine Systems. 2014; 129: 135–149.
- Eckert EM, Salcher MM, Posch T, Eugster B, Pernthaler J. Rapid successions affect microbial N-acetyl-glucosamine uptake patterns during a lacustrine spring phytoplankton bloom. Environ Microbiol. 2012; 14: 794–806. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02639.x</u> PMID: <u>22082109</u>
- 89. Šimek K, Armengol J, Comerma M, Garcia JC, Kojecka P, Nedoma J, et al. Changes in the epilimnetic bacterial community composition, production, and protist-induced mortality along the longitudinal axis of a highly eutrophic reservoir. Microb Ecol. 2001; 42: 359–371. PMID: <u>12024261</u>
- 90. Jones SE, Newton RJ, McMahon KD. Evidence for structuring of bacterial community composition by organic carbon source in temperate lakes. Environ Microbiol. 2009; 11: 2463–2472. doi: <u>10.1111/j.</u> <u>1462-2920.2009.01977.x</u> PMID: <u>19558514</u>
- Pernthaler J, Posc T, Šimek K, Vrba J, Pernthaler A, Glöckner FO, et al. Predator-specific enrichment of Actinobacteria from a cosmopolitan freshwater clade in mixed continuous culture. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2001; 67: 2145–2155. PMID: <u>11319094</u>
- Jezbera J, Hornák K, Šimek K. Prey selectivity of bacterivorous protists in different size fractions of reservoir water amended with nutrients. Environ Microbiol. 2006; 8: 1330–1339. PMID: <u>16872397</u>
- Pinhassi J, Azam F, Hemphälä J, Long RA, Martinez J, Zweifel UL, et al. Coupling between bacterioplankton species composition, population dynamics, and organic matter degradation. Aquat Microb Ecol. 1999; 17: 13–26.

Paper III

Laas, P, Šatova, E., Lips, I., Lips, U., Simm, J., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Near-bottom hypoxia impacts dynamics of bacterioplankton assemblage throughout water column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). *PLoS ONE*, 11(5): e0156147.



Citation: Laas P, Šatova E, Lips I, Lips U, Simm J, Kisand V, et al. (2016) Near-Bottom Hypoxia Impacts Dynamics of Bacterioplankton Assemblage throughout Water Column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). PLoS ONE 11(5): e0156147. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156147

Editor: Jean-François Humbert, INRA, FRANCE

Received: December 8, 2015

Accepted: May 10, 2016

Published: May 23, 2016

Copyright: © 2016 Laas et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All sequences are uploaded to the GenBank and are available under accession numbers KT855220 - KT860044.

Funding: The present work was supported by institutional research funding IUT (IUT19-6) of the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research and by the Estonian Science Foundation grants no. 8930 and 9023. Jaak Simm is funded by Research Council KU Leuven (GOA/10/09 MaNet, CoE PFV/10/016 SymBioSys) and PhD/Postdoc grants from Flemish Government (IOF, Hercules Stitching, iMinds Medical Information Technologies SBO 2014), by Intel, Janssen Pharmaceutica and the Institute for the

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Near-Bottom Hypoxia Impacts Dynamics of Bacterioplankton Assemblage throughout Water Column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea)

Peeter Laas¹*, Elina Šatova², Inga Lips¹, Urmas Lips¹, Jaak Simm^{2¤}, Veljo Kisand³, Madis Metsis⁴

 Marine Systems Institute at Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia Rd. 15A, 12618, Tallinn, Estonia,
Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618, Tallinn, Estonia, 3 Institute of Technology at University of Tartu, Nooruse 1, 50411, Tartu, Estonia, 4 Institute of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Tallinn University, Narva Rd. 25, 10120, Tallinn, Estonia

¤ Current address: Department of Electrical Engineering (ESAT), STADIUS Center for Dynamical Systems, Signal Processing, and Data Analytics, KU Leuven, Kasteelpark Arenberg 10, box 2446, 3001, Leuven, Belgium

* peeter.laas@msi.ttu.ee

Abstract

Over the past century the spread of hypoxia in the Baltic Sea has been drastic, reaching its 'arm' into the easternmost sub-basin, the Gulf of Finland. The hydrographic and climatological properties of the gulf offer a broad suite of discrete niches for microbial communities. The current study explores spatiotemporal dynamics of bacterioplankton community in the Gulf of Finland using massively parallel sequencing of 16S rRNA fragments obtained by amplifying community DNA from spring to autumn period. The presence of redoxcline and drastic seasonal changes make spatiotemporal dynamics of bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) and abundances in such estuary remarkably complex. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that analyses spatiotemporal dynamics of BCC in relation to phytoplankton bloom throughout the water column (and redoxcline), not only at the surface layer. We conclude that capability to survive (or benefit from) shifts between oxic and hypoxic conditions is vital adaptation for bacteria to thrive in such environments. Our results contribute to the understanding of emerging patterns in BCCs that occupy hydrographically similar estuaries dispersed all over the world, and we suggest the presence of a global redox- and salinity-driven metacommunity. These results have important implications for understanding long-term ecological and biogeochemical impacts of hypoxia expansion in the Baltic Sea (and similar ecosystems), as well as global biogeography of bacteria specialized inhabiting similar ecosystems.

PLOS ONE

Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: Jaak Simm received funding from commercial sources: Intel and Janssen Pharmaceutica. There are no patents, products in development, or marketed products to declare. This does not alter the authors' adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

Introduction

Two of the most significant issues facing coastal zone management are habitat loss and alteration due to anthropogenic pollution fuelled by eutrophication, which in the case of the Baltic Sea is amended with vicious positive feedback loop caused by oxygen depletion leading to increased phosphate release from sediments [1]. Oxygen minimum zones have been expanding on a global scale during the geologically recent deglaciation [2]. There has been about 10-fold increase of hypoxia in the Baltic Sea during past 115 years [3]. Depletion of oxygen alters ecosystem energy flow from macrobenthic organisms to microbes [4]. It is estimated that due to hypoxia about 30% of total secondary production is lost in the area [5], and these losses are expected to increase with the expansion of the oxygen-depleted area.

Estuaries represent the interface between marine and freshwater habitats hosting unique and mixed communities of microorganisms. Spatiotemporal studies of variability of bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) in coastal margins have shown that the spatial variability can extend over seasonal changes, given a sharp gradient of environmental factor (e.g. salinity, oxygen) [6, 7]. A recent study of spatiotemporal dynamics of artificially oxygenated fjord (Byfjord, Sweden) that has comparable trophic conditions with the Baltic Sea demonstrated that the amount of oxygen available shaped the bacterial communities, regardless of the depths or the season they were collected in [7].

The presence of redox zone, and thereby different chemical gradients of electron donors and acceptors in variable limiting conditions results in redox-driven niche partitioning. Such geographically distant oxygen minimum zones can be inhabited by related bacterial lineages [8, 9]. A previous spatiotemporal investigation in the Gulf of Finland showed that the main factor shaping the BCC is not only the redox-driven niche partitioning, but 'key species' are indeed closely affiliated with bacterial sequences isolated from other similar oxygen depleted ecosystems.

Vertical and/or horizontal surveys of the Baltic Sea have demonstrated that various environmental gradients have a profound impact on BCC [10–19] and cause zonation of functional capabilities [20, 21]. However in temperate climates dramatic seasonal shifts and annually repeating patterns in the BCC should not be overlooked [22–27]. Though, datasets restricted to single dimensions, such as time series from single station survey, can be hard to analyse in order to distinguish between arbitrary shifts in water masses and actual biological succession in bacterioplankton communities driven by changes in environmental condition [24]. The present investigation was undertaken to breach this limitation.

Here we present a study that compares BCC in multiple dimensions: two spatial scales (vertical and horizontal variation) and time. For this purpose massively parallel sequencing of amplified 16S rRNA gene fragment libraries was performed. Samples were collected from two transects in the Gulf of Finland from spring to autumn in 2012. The goal of the present investigation is to characterize spatiotemporal patterns of microbial community composition in hydrographically complex Gulf of Finland that is also the sub-basin to where the oxygen depleted zone is expanding from the Baltic Proper.

Materials and Methods

Ethics statement

No specific permits were required for the described field studies. The location is not privatelyowned or protected in any way. The field studies did not involve endangered or protected species.

Study area and sample collection

Water sampling aboard the R/V Salme was performed on two transects in the central part of the Gulf of Finland from April to October of 2012 (Fig 1). The cross-gulf AP-transect was sampled to characterize south-north salinity gradient maintained by a cyclonic circulation pattern in the gulf. This residual circulation consists of an outflow of fresher waters (originating from the main river discharge at the eastern end of the gulf) in the northern part and an inflow of saltier waters from the Northern Baltic Proper along the southern coast [28]. Vertical stratification of the water column and water exchange with the Northern Baltic Proper are characterized by high variability both in long-term [29] and in monthly scales [30]. The measurements along the Keri-transect were conducted to sample the deepest site in the central gulf where anoxic bottoms could occur with relatively high probability. Samples were collected from three to five depths, depending on the transect (S1 Table). A rosette sampler (M1018, General Oceanics, Inc.) equipped with Niskin water samplers (volume 1.7 l) was used for sampling. For background information the vertical profiles of temperature and dissolved oxygen were obtained with an OS320plus CTD probe (conductivity, temperature, depth probe with oxygen sensor, Idronaut s.r.l) while chlorophyll *a* fluorescence was registered with a Seapoint chlorophyll *a* fluorescence

Sample Processing

Water samples for microbial community DNA extraction were collected into sterile bottles (Nalgene, Thermo Scientific Inc.) and immediately filtered on 0.2 μ m filters (Puradisc FP 30; Whatman, Inc.) after preliminary filtration through 5.0 μ m prefilters (Puradisc FP 30; Whatman, Inc.). The design of filtration system is presented in [17]. The sample volume varied between 0.5 and 1.0 liters. Filters were kept frozen at—20°C until community DNA was extracted with a PowerSoil[®] DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc.). Few modifications were made to the protocol: syringe filters were incubated with the lysis buffer in the casing at 60°C for 30 minutes and then eluate was removed. Water samples for flow cytometry were fixed with paraformaldehyde (PFA, 1% final concentration). Cell counts were obtained with Accuri C6 flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) after being stained with SYBR Green I DNA dye for 15 minutes at room temperature [31].

Amplification of bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences

The bacterial 16S rRNA gene V1-V2 hypervariable regions were amplified in polymerase chain reactions (PCR) using universal bacterial primers BSF8 and BSR357 complemented with 8 nt index and Illumina adapter sequences [32, 33]. PCR was performed with Smart-Taq Hot Red 2X PCR Mix (Naxo, Estonia), 1 μ l of extracted DNA, 0.2 μ M of each primer, using the following cycling parameters: 15 minutes denaturation at 95°C followed by 3 cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 50°C, 60 sec at 72°C), 28 cycles (30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 65°C, 60 sec at 72°C) and a final extension at 72°C for 7 minutes. PCR reactions were run in a Thermal cycler 2720 (Applied Biosystems). Oligonucleotides were removed from pooled PCR product library using the QIAquick[®] PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Inc.). Single end sequencing of V2 hypervariable region was performed on Illumina MiSeq next generation sequencing platform using the v3 kit (a service provided by The Estonian Genome Center Core Facility).

Bioinformatics

Reads with low quality (Q<30) and shorter than 225 bp (basepairs) were removed from the dataset. Operational taxonomic unit (OTU) was defined using the average neighbor-clustering algorithm of MOTHUR 1.34.4 [34] with 97% similarity threshold. Reference sequences were



Fig 1. Map of central Gulf of Finland supplemented with AP- and KERI-transects, stations are color-coded red and blue, respectively. The timeline of the 2012 sampling cruises is provided with corresponding color-codes. Four samples were also collected on 8th November of 2011. The tan to bright green colours give an indication of the topography of the study area.

PLOS ONE

selected from the SILVA ribosomal RNA database release 102 [35]. The UCHIME algorithm was used to remove chimeric DNA sequences caused by PCR errors [36]. Taxonomic assignments were processed by the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) naïve Bayesian Classifier [37] and BLAST [38] searched against a NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) nucleotide database (release 206, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). Sequences matching eukary-otic DNA were discarded from the dataset. Statistical analyses were carried out with program R version 3.1.2 (http://www.r-project.org), ACE (Abundance-based Coverage Estimation) [39] and Chao1 [40] richness estimates were calculated using VEGAN package [41]. The same package was used to carry out the non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analyses. Week number was used as an independent variable for time. For data visualizations ggplot2 package was used [42]. All sequences are uploaded to the GenBank and are available under accession numbers KT855220–KT860044.

Results

Physicochemical factors

The study covered the central region of the Gulf of Finland and was carried out on two transects (Fig 1). These transects provided both vertical and horizontal spatial coverage of the area. Dramatic shifts in environmental parameters took place over the sampling period (Fig.2). The halocline at 60–80 m depth is quasi-permanent in the gulf because of the freshwater inflow from rivers in the surface layer and water exchange with Baltic Proper in the near-bottom layer. Samples collected from 5 m horizon had an average salinity of 5.58 g kg⁻¹(n = 63, SD = 0.25) and on the other hand, > 60 m layer had an average salinity of 8.70 g kg⁻¹ (n = 70, SD = 0.68). The dissolved O₂ concentration had negative co-variation with salinity and corresponding average values for O₂ were 11.3 (SD = 2.2) and 1.8 mg L⁻¹ (SD = 1.4, MIN = 0.0). The temperature remained quite stable in the near-bottom layer, with on average 4.6°C (SD = 0.45), but the surface layer temperatures varied in a large extent ranging from just under 1°C in the beginning of April and reaching up to 18°C in July. The thermocline became more pronounced in June. Three phytoplankton blooms typically occur in the Baltic Sea: spring, summer and autumn blooms; in decreasing order by biomass [43]. Consequently, the highest chlorophyll *a* concentrations in the surface layer were recorded during spring (almost up to 15 mg m⁻³), followed by summer and autumn values.

Picoplankton cell counts

Highest cell count numbers were recorded at the surface layer (< 25m, n = 34; S1 Fig) reaching up to 3.6 x 10⁶ cells ml⁻¹ (mean = 1.9 x 10⁶, SD = 0.7 x 10⁶), and as expected the cell abundance had significant correlation with temperature (r = 0.60, p < 0.001; Pearson). At the intermediate layer (25–65 m, n = 68) usually lowest cell counts were observed (mean = 3.93 x 10⁵ cells ml⁻¹, SD = 2.6 x 10⁵, n = 37) and at the hypoxic/suboxic near-bottom layer (>65 m, n = 35) the picoplankton abundance increased compared to overlaying water, with on average 0.79 x 10⁶ cells ml⁻¹ (SD = 4.12 x 10⁵). The double-stranded DNA staining technique used does not provide discrimination between *Bacteria* and *Archaea*, therefore, obtained results reflect overall prokaryotic picoplankton abundances.

Observed and estimated bacterioplankton diversity

After quality-filtering and removal of chimeric and eukaryotic sequences, a total of 955,023 16S rRNA gene hypervariable region V2 reads were used in this analyses. These sequences were divided between 181 different samples, with on average 5,310 (SD = 3,070, MIN = 1,840, MAX = 23,720) sequences per sample. A total of 4,692 OTUs (97% similarity cut-off) were obtained, out of which 2,840 were singletons (single-read OTUs). Chao1 and ACE species richness estimates for each sample are listed in <u>S2 Table</u>. There were only small differences between the estimates. Chao1 species richness estimates were recorded highest at the near-bottom layer, with on average 394 OTUs (SD = 168, n = 61). At the intermediate layer the estimates were slightly lower, with on average 344 OTUs (SD = 125, n = 62); and at the surface layer the average estimated diversity was lowest (mean = 299, n = 58), however the variability was highest (SD = 329). The Chao1 species richness estimates were significantly higher at the near-bottom layer than at the surface and intermediate layers (t-test, p < 0.1 in both cases). There was no statistical difference between the two upper layers (t-test, p = 0.33).

Dynamics of BCC

Eleven bacterial classes accounted for 86.4% of overall BCC and spatiotemporal patterns of these classes help to decrypt the dynamics of the community structure on a broader scale (Fig <u>3</u>). *Alphaproteobacteria* contributed the largest fraction of the dataset, mainly occupying the upper oxygenated water (on average 51.1% of BCC above 65 m; Fig <u>3</u>). Their dominance at the surface layer was only challenged by *Cyanobacteria* during summer bloom (reaching 53.7% of BCC; Fig <u>3</u>). On the other hand, there were also bacterial classes that occurred mainly in



Fig 2. Water column profiles of stations AP5 and Keri3. Temperature (°C, magenta), oxygen (mg/L, red) and chlorophyll a (mg/m³, green) are on upper x-axis. Salinity (g/kg, blue) is on bottom x-axis. The sampling date is marked as following: YYYY-MM-DD.

hypoxic/suboxic near bottom layer, constituting of mostly *Epsilonproteobacteria*, but also of *Delta-, Gammaproteobacteria*, and one class level group that could be classified only on phylum level (unclassified *Bacteriodetes*). Below 65 m these groups contributed on average 31.7%, 19.4%, 6.9% and 0.6% of BCC; respectively. The relative abundance of *Gammaproteobacteria* peaked in April (21.7% of BCC; Fig 3).

Actinobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, and Flavobacteria were found throughout the water column (Fig 3). These bacterial classes contributed on average 12.9%, 6.6% and 5.8 of BCC; respectively. However, their occurrence revealed distinct spatiotemporal dynamics. *Betaproteobacteria* and *Flavobacteria* contributed to a larger fraction in spring, increasing in relative abundance in the intermediate as well hypoxic near-bottom layer (Fig 3). The fraction of *Actinobacteria* became more predominant in late summer and peaked in autumn (up to 36.4% of BCC), although its relative abundance also peaked at the end of May at intermediate and near-bottom layers (Fig 3). TM7 genera *incertae sedis* appeared only in autumn samples, with a maximum relative abundance of 3.7% (Fig 3).

At the species level, the bacterioplankton community structure was much more complex, despite the fact that sequence distribution between OTUs was uneven. Sorted by their relative abundance, the top 17 OTUs accounted for more than 1% of the total dataset each, adding up to 76% of the total dataset and are henceforth referred to as 'relatively abundant OTUs' (Table 1, Fig 4). The following 56 OTUs in relative abundance were in the range of 0.1–1% (totalling up 16%; <u>S2 Fig</u>) and can be considered as 'common' [24]. Last 4619 OTUs contributed less than 0.1% (i.e. 'relatively rare'). Moreover, when abundance cut-off for relatively rare taxa was set to 0.01%, then still 4440 OTUs met the criteria, leaving 179 OTUs in the range 0.01–0.1%. However, considering occurrence in relation to the whole dataset discriminates against opportunistic 'pulse' populations that can be relatively abundant in limited time-space and therefore ecologically relevant. There were 101 OTUs that contributed a minimum of 1%





Table 1. Relatively abundant OTUs, their taxonomic affiliation according to the RDP classifier, their closest neighbours in the GenBank database
with isolation source.

ΟΤυ	Classification (classification confidence—%)	Genbank accession	Similarity score	Isolation source
OTU1	'Candidatus Pelagibacter' (100)	EU801724	0.987	Chesapeake Bay, MD
OTU2	Sulfurimonas (100)	KC492833	0.987	Baltic Sea redoxcline, 119 m depth
OTU4	Rhodobacteraceae (100)	JX015552	0.987	marine bulk water (the North Sea)
OTU5	GpIIa (100)	AY151238	0.991	isolate
OTU6	<i>'Candidatus</i> Pelagibacter' (100)	EU799240	1.000	Newport Harbour, RI
OTU7	llumatobacter (100)	HM446118	0.987	West Thumb 98 (Yellowstone Park)
OTU12	Micrococcineae (75)	DQ316352	0.992	freshwater
OTU14	Bacteria (100)	EU801283	0.992	Chesapeake Bay, MD
OTU15	llumatobacter (100)	EU800762	0.996	Delaware Bay, NJ
OTU16	Comamonadaceae (100)	FR685984	0.995	marine biome, fjord, coastal water
OTU17	Rhodobacteraceae (100)	HQ153846	0.983	shallow hydrothermal vent (depth of 189.1 m
OTU18	Flavobacteriaceae (100)	AM279175	0.983	marine water (Gymnodimium catenatum)
OTU19	Bacteroidetes (100)	JX015752	0.995	marine bulk water (the North Sea)
OTU20	Methylobacter (100)	AF152597	0.991	isolate
OTU21	Methylophilus (82)	AJ400352	0.987	North Sea
OTU26	'Candidatus Pelagibacter' (100)	EU800094	0.996	"Delaware Bay, NJ
OTU29	Bacteroidetes (100)	GQ259245	0.942	surface water (the Arctic ocean)

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156147.t001



Fig 4. Occurrence patterns of relatively abundant OTUs (top 17). OTUs are ordered by their colocalization.

of BCC in at least one of the samples. Lowering the threshold to 0.1%, this number quadrupled and resulted in 413 OTUs.

Variability of BCC in relation to environmental conditions was analysed using detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) with added linear fitting of environmental parameters onto the ordination (<u>S3 Fig</u>). The DCA was chosen for all of samples and OTUs because it helps to overcome the 'arch effect' that accompanies correspondence analyses. The relevance of salinity, depth, and oxygen were statistically highest, yielding r² values of 0.773, 0.742 and 0.630 (P<0.001 in each case), respectively. These three parameters were followed by temperature ($r^2 = 0.289$, P<0.001).

Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis of relatively abundant and common OTUs was carried out (based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix) and supplemented with the linear fitting of environmental parameters onto the ordination (Fig 5). As a result, three general



Fig 5. NMDS plot of abundant and common OTUs fitted with environmental parameters (stress score: 0.125). The added black lines divide OTUs into three major groups, which are marked with letters for discussion.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156147.g005

groups can be distinguished: OTUs that were mainly found in surface layer in summer and autumn (group A); spring phytoplankton bloom-associated OTUs, including populations that became more prevalent in deeper layers after the bloom had ended (group B); and OTUs that were mostly found in hypoxic waters (group C in Fig 5). Therefore, seasonal succession (with important impact of changing temperature); and a covarying trio of salinity, pressure and oxygen could be established as main factors influencing the occurrence of these OTUs.

Most dominant populations in the 'hypoxic group' were members of *Epsilonproteobacteria*: OTU2, OTU30, OTU67, OTU97 (classified as *Sulfurimonas*) and OTU42 (classified as *Arcobacter*). OTU2 contributed up to 71% of BCC and had 99% sequence similarity to the representative of *Sulfurimonas* GD1/GD17 subgroup, which has been shown to be key chemolithoautotrophic taxa in the Gotland Deep [44, 45].

The major bulk of *Alphaproteobacteria* was contributed by OTUs classified as "*Candidatus* Pelagibacter" (OTU1, OTU6, OTU26, and OTU83). OTU1 and OTU6 remained transiently abundant with minor variations in time (Fig 4, S2 Fig). OTU26 was more prominent at surface layer towards the autumn (Fig 4) and clustered together with relatively abundant actinobacterial OTUs: OTU12 (*Micrococcineae*), OTU15 (*Ilumatobacter*) and OTU14 (closest database affiliation to *Micrococcineae*; Table 1). Some of these OTUs exhibited similar presence in samples collected autumn in 2011 and 2012 (Fig 4, S2 Fig).

Unicellular cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* (OTU5) and co-occurring OTU85 (*Rhodobac-teraceae*) formed a separate cluster (Fig 5), and a significant and strong relationship between OTUs and temperature suggests that temperature had a strong impact on their occurrence. OTU95 (*Flavobacteriaceae*) and OTU39 (classified as *Alcaligenaceae*) appeared during the peak of *Synechococcus* relative abundance, only in deeper layers (S2 Fig). During summer bloom *Synechococcus* displayed a patchy distribution at the surface layer above the thermocline as its relative abundance varied along AP-transect; members of "*Candidatus* Pelagibacter" remained dominant in the intermediate layer, and representatives of *Sulfurimonas* contributed the largest fraction at the hypoxic near-bottom layer (Fig 6).

Relatively abundant and common OTUs associated with the spring phytoplankton bloom could also be distinguished as a separate co-localizing cluster in the middle bottom of NMDS plot (Fig.5). This positioning is explained by negative correlations with time and their spread throughout the water column, which resulted in weak correlations with dissolved oxygen concentrations. These OTUs contributed a large fraction of BCC above the halocline during the



Fig 6. Cross-section of AP-transect on 2012-07-04 supplemented with relative abundances of top 17 OTUs.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156147.g006



Fig 7. Time series of Chlorophyll *a* at station AP5. Pie charts indicate the relative abundance of OTUs that were associated with the spring phytoplankton bloom. Note that the second surface community (2012-04-23, 5 m depth) was recorded at station AP2 not AP5.

PLOS ONE

spring bloom and remained abundant at intermediate layer till mid-summer ($\underline{\operatorname{Fig}}$). The most relevant bacterial populations by their relative abundance were classified as *Rhodobacteraceae* (OTU4), *Comamonadaceae* (OTU6) and *Bacteroidetes* (OTU19 and OTU29). The fraction of these OTUs also increased in the near-bottom hypoxic layer as the spring bloom progressed ($\underline{\operatorname{Fig}}$). Interestingly, betaproteobacterial OTU16 (*Comamonadaceae*) reached its maximum abundance in hypoxic conditions in the beginning of summer ($\underline{\operatorname{Fig}}$). During that period also OTU7 (*Ilumatobacter*) and OTU17 (*Rhodobacteraceae*) became more predominant in the hypoxic layer (reaching 10.3% and 17.8% of BCC, respectively), but the opposite trend was displayed by OTU2 ($\underline{\operatorname{Fig}}$). OTU21 (*Methylophilus*) was present at deeper layers throughout the sampling period; however, it contributed a larger fraction during the spring bloom and had its maximum abundance occurred at 5 m depth at the beginning of April ($\underline{\operatorname{Fig}}$).

Discussion

High-throughput marker gene sequencing has opened a new gateway to investigate aquatic microbial communities. The present study explores the abundances of picoplankton and BCC of the Gulf of Finland in three dimensions: horizontally from south to north, vertically from the surface to near-bottom layer, and temporally from spring to autumn. Similar investigations are quite rare as most temporal studies lack spatial dimension and vice versa. The focus of this study is on spatiotemporal patterns and phylogenetic relationships of OTUs that are relatively abundant or common. However, our results and previous investigations of BCC of the Baltic Sea [12, 15–17, 22, 24] also reflect the presence of the 'rare biosphere', which is represented by the long tail pattern found in rank-abundance curves of bacterial species [46-48]. That long tail is composed mostly of dormant cells and can produce a pulse of ecosystem activity by resuscitation [49], acting as a reservoir of genetic and functional diversity [50]. The presence of the 'rare biosphere' is also reflected from our present results, as well as from previous investigations of BCC of the Baltic Sea using next-generation sequencing platforms [12, 15-17, 22, 24]. However, the focus of this study is on spatiotemporal patterns and phylogenetic relationships of OTUs that are relatively abundant or common. The switch point between the 'tail' and the common or abundant bacterial populations is, of course, subjective, and 0.1% of the total dataset was selected for this analysis [51].

Spatiotemporal niche partitioning of the BCC

The approach used, massively parallel sequencing of the amplified 16S rRNA gene fragment libraries, enabled culture-independent and detailed view in the dynamics of bacterioplankton community. Spatiotemporal surveys of BCC in ecosystems with sharp environmental gradients (like river mouths, hypoxic estuaries or coastal regions) have demonstrated that spatial variation overpowers seasonal succession [6, 7, 16]. Our results reflect the same trend, but also demonstrate in fine detail the seasonal succession throughout the water column. There were 17 relatively abundant OTUs. However four dominant OTUs (OTU1—*"Candidatus* Pelagibacter", OTU2—*Sulfurimonas*, OTU4 –*Rhodobacteraceae* and OTU5—*Synechococcus*) could be considered as core populations of bacterioplankton in the Gulf of Finland.

There is no sill between the Gulf of Finland and Baltic Proper, hence the deep inflow to the gulf takes place just below the co-occurring oxy- and halocline [28]. Consequently, taxa characteristic of the sulfidic zone of the central Baltic Sea are dispersed into the Gulf of Finland [15–17]. Our results of agree well with findings from these studies. Nitrate-reducing and sulphide-oxidizing *Sulfurimonas gotlandica* (98.7% similarity to OTU2) is capable of motility and chemotaxis; hence, it is typically more abundant near the oxycline [52, 53]. In contrast, sulfate-reducing *Deltaproteobacteria* are more prominent in deeper anoxic layers (below 140 m) [54]. As a consequence, *Deltaproteobacteria* contribute small and *Sulfurimonas* make up large fraction of the bacterial community in the near-bottom layer of the Gulf of Finland (Fig 3). The sulphur reducers in the gulf are mainly found in the sediments [55].

Alphaproteobacterial SAR11 clade (candidate order "*Pelagibacterales*") and also Roseobacter group constitute high proportions of the marine bacterioplankton globally and in the geographically close North Sea [55–58]. Both of these groups were made up OTUs that can be considered core populations for the area. The Baltic Sea is known to harbour several phylogenetic lineages of the "*Pelagibacterales*" that exhibit niche partitioning along the salinity gradient [12, 54]. Results from the present and previous studies indicate that this group is a transiently abundant heterotrophic group in the surface layer (S2 Fig, Fig 6) [16, 17]. Members of SAR11 clade and order *Rhodobacterales* are mostly involved in the transport and metabolism of lowmolecular-weight organic compounds [58–60]. The latter includes degradation of phytoplankton-produced dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) to dimethylsulfide (DMS) [61]. It is highly probable that these groups facilitate these processes also in the Gulf of Finland, especially given that OTU4 had its highest occurrence during the spring phytoplankton bloom.

The coordinated and cooperative activities of bloom-associated 'specialists' are critical in the biogeochemical cycles of the ecosystem for determining the fate of the organic biomass. Various members of *Actinobacteria*, *Betaproteobacteria*, *Bacteroidetes* and *Verrucomicrobia* have been demonstrated to be responsible for the degradation of high-molecular-weight organic compounds in the Baltic Sea [21, 62, 63] and in the North Sea [58, 64]. In general, temporal dynamics of these groups at the surface layer are in line with previous investigations [22, 24]; for example, representatives of *Bacteroidetes* were more abundant during spring and early summer, and members of *Actinobacteria* were prevalent in late summer and autumn (Fig 4). However, to the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first that provides simultaneous insight into dynamics of BCC below surface layer in this region (Fig 7, S2 Fig).

Annually recurring spring phytoplankton blooms in the Gulf of Finland consist mainly of diatoms and dinoflagellates [65]. During spring bloom, a large fraction of annual primary production is carried out [43] and therefore these bloom-associated bacterial populations hold great ecological significance. Our results demonstrate shifts in BCC during the bloom (Fig.7) and likely sedimentation of some OTUs to the deeper layers. The fraction of bloom-associated populations steadily increased at near-bottom hypoxic layer probably due to attachment to

decaying phytoplankton cells or other settling particles (Fig 7). It is important to keep in mind that bacteria attached to particles or aggregates larger than 5.0 μ m were excluded from the dataset due to prefiltration. However, certain bacterial lineages are known to switch between free-living and particle-attached lifestyle and also some of the particle-associated groups can get detached during the filtration process. These possibilities have to be considered, especially because there is a clear influx of populations into the deeper layers that in previous data points were prevalent in the surface layer.

At the beginning of the spring bloom, OTU4 (Roseobacter group) betaproteobacterial OTU21 (*Methylophilus*) and three members of *Bacteroidetes* (OTU18, OTU19, and OTU29) constituted a considerable fraction of BCC. The presence of OTU21 shifted rapidly from the surface to deeper layers (Fig 7). Representatives of the *Methylophilaceae* family (*Betaproteobacteria*) have recently been identified as dominant DMS-degrading populations in Tocil Lake sediment and soil collected from *Brassica oleraceae* field [66]. This finding suggests that two relatively abundant and common OTUs that were classified as *Methylophilus* could also be metabolizing DMS, especially considering that OTU21 had its closest affiliation to sequence isolated from samples from the North Sea after an algal bloom (Fig 7).

The spatiotemporal patterns of bloom-associated bacterial populations provide valuable insight into mechanisms of community assembly in relation to the phytoplankton community and the fate of organic matter produced by phytoplankton. One important aspect of the current study is to shed light on phytoplankton bloom related shifts in BCC that take place in deeper hypoxic layers. To start off, the relative abundance of representatives of *Bacteroidetes* decreased at the surface layer as the bloom progressed, but at 40 m depth, some OTUs remained present until the beginning of summer (Fig Z). However, by the end of the spring bloom OTU18 (*Flavobacteraceae*) contributed a large fraction of BCC at the near-bottom hypoxic layer at the end of May (Fig Z). This could occur due detachment from lysing phytoplankton cells. However, the occurrence of unclassified *Flavobacteraceae* in oxygen depleted water was also observed during the spring phytoplankton bloom in Byfjord; in the following year, when oxygen conditions improved, the abundance of that group was drastically reduced [Z]. This gives an indication that degradation of organic matter in hypoxic conditions provides a specific niche, especially considering that some of the members of *Bacteroidetes* were mostly found in the oxygen depleted near-bottom layer (OTU63 and OTU73; Fig 5).

Similarly, betaproteobacterial OTU16 (*Comamonadaceae*) appeared at surface layer in the end of the spring bloom and peaked in abundance after sedimentation at hypoxic layer in the beginning of summer. Members of *Comamonadaceae* have shown to be involved in denitrification and to be active in the hypoxic zone [67, 68]. In addition, OTU7 (*Ilumatobacter*) became more abundant in the hypoxic layer during the spring bloom; the same group was associated with diatom degradation in the near-bottom layer of Lake Baikal [69].

The spatiotemporal patterns of these populations provide valuable insight into mechanisms of community assembly. The presence of certain bloom-associated populations is affected not only by phytoplankton community but also by the presence of a hypoxic zone. The fact that the abundance of some of the OTUs increased in the hypoxic zone suggests that they are probably capable of switching the terminal electron acceptor, and therefore the oxygen depleted zone provides a particular niche for them. These results point toward combined effects of substrate- and redox-driven niche partitioning on the BCC.

In addition to substrates provided by phytoplankton, there are compounds produced by bacteria in the sediments, like methane [70], which as powerful greenhouse gas bears global significance. The abundance and activity of methane-oxidizing bacteria in the water column are crucial regulators of methane emission to the atmosphere. Our results demonstrate a vertical distribution of different potentially methanotrophic bacteria. The most dominant of which were classified as *Methylobacter*, like OTU20, which was mainly found in the hypoxic near-bottom layer, where the methane concentrations are potentially highest [70, 71]. Also, OTU21 and OTU94 were classified as *Methylophilus*, a non-methane-oxidizing bacterial group which usually utilizes other C1 substrates [72]. However, the representatives of *Methylobacter* and *Methylophilus* have been demonstrated to cooperate in methane utilization [73, 74] and experiments with such methane-consuming communities suggested that, in low oxygen concentrations, members of *Methylobacter* dominate over representatives of *Methylophilus* and *vice versa* [74]. Our *in situ* results confirm these previous findings. Overall, our results reflect the importance of C1 substrate utilizing bacterial populations in the gulf as they contribute a significant fraction of BCC throughout the water column (Fig 4).

Emerging pattern of cosmopolitan specialists

It is well established that salinity has a major impact on bacterioplankton community assemblage, gene expression and metabolic activity in aquatic ecosystems, including the Baltic Sea [12, 20, 75]. Over the past decade, there has been accumulating evidence that certain phylogenetic lineages (for example members of SAR11, *Rhodobacterales, Methylophilales, Synechococcus*, SUP05) contribute a significant fraction of BCC in geographically distant, but hydrographically close (brackish and periodically/partially hypoxic) estuaries [7, 16, 76–78]. Moreover, recent genome level comparisons using metagenome-assembled genomes have demonstrated that the Baltic Sea and the Chesapeake Bay harbour not only phylogenetically close members, but exactly the same species [59]. The similarity of communities in distant locations fits the oft-repeated 'everything is everywhere, but the environment selects' concept in ecology [79, 80]. This concept agrees well with the species-sorting paradigm of metacommunity theory [81], by which the geological barriers are rendered irrelevant and local environmental conditions play a central role in the community assembly process. From our previous studies, we have concluded that these communities can be considered as a metacommunity, and now this statement is backed with more evidence [16].

Hugerth *et al.* [59] put the selective emphasis on the salinity range, coining it a 'brackish microbiome', but their analyses included reads obtained only from the sea surface communities. However, the similarities in BCC were observed with estuaries also suffering from oxygen depletion. The results of the present study clearly demonstrate the structuring effect of dissolved oxygen, because some bacterial populations achieve an advantage in the hypoxic zone through very likely using alternative electron acceptors (e.g. denitrification). The notable presence of usually oxic surface bacterial populations also in the hypoxic zones has raised questions of their anoxia-tolerance and capability to use alternative electron acceptors [16, 82]. Functional capability to use alternative electron acceptors gives a distinct advantage to bacteria in such oxygen depleted ecosystems and can provide specific niches as demonstrated by bloom-associated OTUs (Fig 7).

Thereby, rather than putting salinity or redox conditions in the central role in bacterioplankton community assemblage in the Baltic Sea, it should be looked as a combination of the two. Hence, these communities can be considered as metacommunity driven by gradients of redox conditions and salinity. An analogy would be a symphony orchestra on a world tour: it plays the same melodies (ecosystem services), and although some musicians (bacterial populations) may vary between concerts, they play the same instrument (functional niche). In the case of the Baltic Sea, one of these 'unique musicians' is *Sulfurimonas gotlandica*, as sulfuroxidation in most of these other communities is carried out by SUP05 clade members [7, 76– 78, 82].

Conclusions

The present study provided a detailed insight into spatiotemporal patterns of BCC in the Gulf of Finland, a stratified estuary suffering from oxygen depletion in the near bottom layer. Thousands of OTUs were identified in the framework of this study, but most of them belong to the rare biosphere, which can be accessed by 'deep' sequencing. Only around one hundred OTUs could be considered relatively common or abundant. Oxygen availability explained most of the variability of BCC, however, seasonal dynamics were observed both in oxygenated and hypoxic layers. Especially intriguing were the spatiotemporal occurrence patterns of heterotrophs responsible for degradation of the spring phytoplankton bloom-derived organic matter, as a combination of substrate- and redox-driven niche partitioning could be observed. These spatiotemporal niche specializations among bacterioplankton communities are crucial for predicting ecosystem functioning and understanding multilevel effect of oxygen depletion to the Baltic Sea, and in addition, help explain biogeography of certain cosmopolitan species.

Supporting Information

S1 Fig. Picoplankton total cell count numbers supplemented with oxygen concentration (mg/L).

(TIF)

S2 Fig. Occurrence patterns of abundant and common OTUs (top 73). OTUs are ordered by their co-localization.

(TIF)

S3 Fig. Detrended correspondence analysis of the bacterioplankton community composition fitted with environmental parameters. Red crosses represent individual OTUs (n = 4692) and circles represent different samples (n = 181). (TIF)

S1 Table. Sample collection metadata and physicochemical background data. (DOCX)

S2 Table. Species richness estimates. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the crew of RV Salme for their excellent assistance during the sampling campaigns. We are grateful to both reviewers, who provided very helpful and insightful suggestions.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: PL IL MM. Performed the experiments: PL EŠ. Analyzed the data: PL JS UL EŠ. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: IL UL MM. Wrote the paper: PL IL VK UL MM EŠ.

References

 Conley DJ, Björck S, Bonsdorff E, Carstensen J, Destouni G, Gustafsson BG, et al. Hypoxia-Related Processes in the Baltic Sea. Environmental Science & Technology. 2009; 43(10):3412–20. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1021/es802762a</u>

- Moffitt SE, Hill TM, Roopnarine PD, Kennett JP. Response of seafloor ecosystems to abrupt global climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2015; 112(15):4684–9. doi: <u>10.1073/</u> pnas.1417130112
- Carstensen J, Andersen JH, Gustafsson BG, Conley DJ. Deoxygenation of the Baltic Sea during the last century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2014; 111(15):5628–33. doi: <u>10.1073/</u> pnas.1323156111
- Diaz RJ, Rosenberg R. Spreading Dead Zones and Consequences for Marine Ecosystems. Science. 2008; 321(5891):926–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1156401 PMID: 18703733
- Karlson K, Rosenberg R, Bonsdorff E. Temporal and spatial large-scale effects of eutrophication and oxygen deficiency on benthic fauna in Scandinavian and Baltic waters: a review. Oceanography and Marine Biology. 2002; 40:427–89.
- Fortunato CS, Herfort L, Zuber P, Baptista AM, Crump BC. Spatial variability overwhelms seasonal patterns in bacterioplankton communities across a river to ocean gradient. ISME J. 2012; 6(3):554–63. http://www.nature.com/ismei/journal/v6/n3/suppinfo/ismej2011135s1.html. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2011. 135 PMID: 22011718
- Forth M, Liljebladh B, Stigebrandt A, Hall POJ, Treusch AH. Effects of ecological engineered oxygenation on the bacterial community structure in an anoxic fjord in western Sweden. ISME J. 2015; 9 (3):656–69. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2014.172</u> PMID: <u>25238400</u>
- Wright JJ, Konwar KM, Hallam SJ. Microbial ecology of expanding oxygen minimum zones. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2012; 10(6):381–94. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2778 PMID: 22580367
- Ulloa O, Canfield DE, DeLong EF, Letelier RM, Stewart FJ. Microbial oceanography of anoxic oxygen minimum zones. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2012; 109(40):15996–6003.
- Bergen B, Herlemann DP, Labrenz M, Jürgens K. Distribution of the verrucomicrobial clade Spartobacteria along a salinity gradient in the Baltic Sea. Environmental microbiology reports. 2014; 6(6):625–30. PMID: 25756116
- Hagström Ä, Pinhassi J, Zweifel UL. Biogeographical diversity among marine bacterioplankton. Aquatic Microbial Ecology. 2000; 21(3):231–44.
- Herlemann DP, Labrenz M, Jürgens K, Bertilsson S, Waniek JJ, Andersson AF. Transitions in bacterial communities along the 2000 km salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea. The ISME journal. 2011; 5 (10):1571–9. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2011.41</u> PMID: <u>21472016</u>
- Holmfeldt K, Dziallas C, Titelman J, Pohlmann K, Grossart HP, Riemann L. Diversity and abundance of freshwater Actinobacteria along environmental gradients in the brackish northern Baltic Sea. Environmental microbiology. 2009; 11(8):2042–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.01925.x PMID: 19453610
- 14. Kisand V, Andersson N, Wikner J. Bacterial freshwater species successfully immigrate to the brackish water environment in the northern Baltic. Limnology and oceanography. 2005; 50(3):945–56.
- Koskinen K, Hultman J, Paulin L, Auvinen P, Kankaanpää H. Spatially differing bacterial communities in water columns of the northern Baltic Sea. FEMS microbiology ecology. 2011; 75(1):99–110. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00987.x</u> PMID: <u>21059177</u>
- Laas P, Simm J, Lips I, Lips U, Kisand V, Metsis M. Redox-Specialized Bacterioplankton Metacommunity in a Temperate Estuary. PloS one. 2015; 10(4):e0122304. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0122304</u> PMID: <u>25860812</u>
- 17. Laas P, Simm J, Lips I, Metsis M. Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). Journal of Marine Systems. 2014; 129:127–34.
- Salka I, Moulisová V, Koblížek M, Jost G, Jürgens K, Labrenz M. Abundance, depth distribution, and composition of aerobic bacteriochlorophyll a-producing bacteria in four basins of the central Baltic Sea. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2008; 74(14):4398–404. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM.02447-07</u> PMID: 18502937
- Salka I, Wurzbacher C, Garcia SL, Labrenz M, Jürgens K, Grossart HP. Distribution of acl-Actinorhodopsin genes in Baltic Sea salinity gradients indicates adaptation of facultative freshwater photoheterotrophs to brackish waters. Environmental microbiology. 2014; 16(2):586–97. doi: <u>10.1111/1462-2920.</u> <u>12185</u> PMID: <u>23841943</u>
- Dupont CL, Larsson J, Yooseph S, Ininbergs K, Goll J, Asplund-Samuelsson J, et al. Functional tradeoffs underpin salinity-driven divergence in microbial community composition. PLoS One. 2014; 9(2): e89549. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0089549</u> PMID: <u>24586863</u>
- Thureborn P, Lundin D, Plathan J, Poole AM, Sjöberg B-M, Sjöling S. A metagenomics transect into the deepest point of the Baltic Sea reveals clear stratification of microbial functional capacities. PloS one. 2013; 8(9):e74983. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0074983</u> PMID: <u>24086414</u>
- Andersson AF, Riemann L, Bertilsson S. Pyrosequencing reveals contrasting seasonal dynamics of taxa within Baltic Sea bacterioplankton communities. The ISME Journal. 2010; 4(2):171–81. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1038/ismej.2009.108</u> PMID: <u>19829318</u>
- Kaartokallio H, Tuomainen J, Kuosa H, Kuparinen J, Martikainen PJ, Servomaa K. Succession of seaice bacterial communities in the Baltic Sea fast ice. Polar Biology. 2008; 31(7):783–93.
- Lindh MV, Sjöstedt J, Andersson AF, Baltar F, Hugerth LW, Lundin D, et al. Disentangling seasonal bacterioplankton population dynamics by high-frequency sampling. Environmental microbiology. 2015; 17(7):2459–76. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12720 PMID: 25403576
- Pinhassi J, Hagstroem A. Seasonal succession in marine bacterioplankton. Aquatic Microbial Ecology. 2000; 21(3):245–56.
- Piwosz K, Salcher MM, Zeder M, Ameryk A, Pernthaler J. Seasonal dynamics and activity of typical freshwater bacteria in brackish waters of the Gulf of Gdansk. Limnol Oceanogr. 2013; 58(3):000-.
- Riemann L, Leitet C, Pommier T, Simu K, Holmfeldt K, Larsson U, et al. The native bacterioplankton community in the central Baltic Sea is influenced by freshwater bacterial species. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2008; 74(2):503–15. PMID: <u>18039821</u>
- 28. Alenius P, Myrberg K, Nekrasov A. The physical oceanography of the Gulf of Finland: a review. Boreal Environment Research. 1998; 3(2):97–125.
- 29. Liblik T, Lips U. Characteristics and variability of the vertical thermohaline structure in the Gulf of Finland in summer. Boreal environment research. 2011; 16:73–83.
- Elken J, Raudsepp U, Lips U. On the estuarine transport reversal in deep layers of the Gulf of Finland. Journal of Sea Research. 2003; 49(4):267–74. doi: <u>10.1016/S1385-1101(03)00018-2</u>
- Marie D, Partensky F, Jacquet S, Vaulot D. Enumeration and cell cycle analysis of natural populations of marine picoplankton by flow cytometry using the nucleic acid stain SYBR Green I. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 1997; 63(1):186–93. PMID: <u>16535483</u>
- Hamady M, Walker JJ, Harris JK, Gold NJ, Knight R. Error-correcting barcoded primers allow hundreds of samples to be pyrosequenced in multiplex. Nature methods. 2008; 5(3):235. doi: <u>10.1038/nmeth.</u> <u>1184</u> PMID: <u>18264105</u>
- McKenna P, Hoffmann C, Minkah N, Aye PP, Lackner A, Liu Z, et al. The macaque gut microbiome in health, lentiviral infection, and chronic enterocolitis. PLoS Pathog. 2008; 4(2):e20. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.ppat.0040020</u> PMID: <u>18248093</u>
- Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, Hall JR, Hartmann M, Hollister EB, et al. Introducing mothur: opensource, platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2009; 75(23):7537–41. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM</u>. <u>01541-09 PMID: 19801464</u>
- Pruesse E, Quast C, Knittel K, Fuchs BM, Ludwig W, Peplies J, et al. SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. Nucleic acids research. 2007; 35(21):7188–96. PMID: <u>17947321</u>
- Edgar RC, Haas BJ, Clemente JC, Quince C, Knight R. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics. 2011; 27(16):2194–200. doi: <u>10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381</u> PMID: 21700674
- Wang Q, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM, Cole JR. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2007; 73 (16):5261–7. PMID: <u>17586664</u>
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, et al. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic acids research. 1997; 25 (17):3389–402. PMID: <u>9254694</u>
- Chao A, Lee S-M. Estimating the number of classes via sample coverage. Journal of the American statistical Association. 1992; 87(417):210–7.
- Chao A. Nonparametric estimation of the number of classes in a population. Scandinavian Journal of statistics. 1984:265–70.
- 41. Oksanen J, Kindt R, Legendre P, O'Hara B, Stevens MHH, Oksanen MJ, et al. The vegan package. Community ecology package. 2007; 10.
- Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis: Springer Publishing Company, Incorporated; 2009. 216 p.
- Wasmund N, Siegel H. Phytoplankton. State and Evolution of the Baltic Sea, 1952–2005: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2008. p. 441–81.
- 44. Glaubitz S, Labrenz M, Jost G, Jürgens K. Diversity of active chemolithoautotrophic prokaryotes in the sulfidic zone of a Black Sea pelagic redoxcline as determined by rRNA-based stable isotope probing.

FEMS microbiology ecology. 2010; 74(1):32–41. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00944.x</u> PMID: <u>20649907</u>

- Grote J, Jost G, Labrenz M, Herndl GJ, Jürgens K. Epsilonproteobacteria represent the major portion of chemoautotrophic bacteria in sulfidic waters of pelagic redoxclines of the Baltic and Black Seas. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2008; 74(24):7546–51. doi: <u>10.1128/AEM.01186-08</u> PMID: <u>18952879</u>
- Galand PE, Casamayor EO, Kirchman DL, Lovejoy C. Ecology of the rare microbial biosphere of the Arctic Ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009; 106(52):22427–32. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1073/pnas.0908284106</u>
- Gibbons SM, Caporaso JG, Pirrung M, Field D, Knight R, Gilbert JA. Evidence for a persistent microbial seed bank throughout the global ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013; 110 (12):4651–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217767110
- Sogin ML, Morrison HG, Huber JA, Welch DM, Huse SM, Neal PR, et al. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006; 103(32):12115–20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605127103
- Lennon JT, Jones SE. Microbial seed banks: the ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. Nat Rev Micro. 2011; 9(2):119–30. <u>http://www.nature.com/nrmicro/journal/v9/n2/suppinfo/</u> nrmicro2504 S1.html.
- Aanderud Z, Jones S, Fierer N, Lennon JT. Resuscitation of the rare biosphere contributes to pulses of ecosystem activity. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2015; 6. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00024
- Lynch MDJ, Neufeld JD. Ecology and exploration of the rare biosphere. Nat Rev Micro. 2015; 13 (4):217–29. doi: <u>10.1038/nrmicro3400</u>
- Grote J, Schott T, Bruckner CG, Glöckner FO, Jost G, Teeling H, et al. Genome and physiology of a model Epsilonproteobacterium responsible for sulfide detoxification in marine oxygen depletion zones. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2012; 109(2):506–10.
- 53. Labrenz M, Grote J, Mammitzsch K, Boschker HT, Laue M, Jost G, et al. Sulfurimonas gotlandica sp. nov., a chemoautotrophic and psychrotolerant epsilonproteobacterium isolated from a pelagic redoxcline, and an emended description of the genus Sulfurimonas. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2013; 63(11):4141–8.
- Herlemann DP, Woelk J, Labrenz M, Jürgens K. Diversity and abundance of "Pelagibacterales" (-SAR11) in the Baltic Sea salinity gradient. Systematic and applied microbiology. 2014; 37(8):601–4. doi: <u>10.1016/j.syapm.2014.09.002</u> PMID: <u>25444644</u>
- Sinkko H, Lukkari K, Sihvonen LM, Sivonen K, Leivuori M, Rantanen M, et al. Bacteria contribute to sediment nutrient release and reflect progressed eutrophication-driven hypoxia in an organic-rich continental sea. PloS one. 2013; 8(6):e67061. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067061 PMID: 23825619
- Giovannoni SJ, Stingl U. Molecular diversity and ecology of microbial plankton. Nature. 2005; 437 (7057):343–8. PMID: <u>16163344</u>
- Morris RM, Rappé MS, Connon SA, Vergin KL, Siebold WA, Carlson CA, et al. SAR11 clade dominates ocean surface bacterioplankton communities. Nature. 2002; 420(6917):806–10. PMID: <u>12490947</u>
- Teeling H, Fuchs BM, Becher D, Klockow C, Gardebrecht A, Bennke CM, et al. Substrate-controlled succession of marine bacterioplankton populations induced by a phytoplankton bloom. Science. 2012; 336(6081):608–11. doi: 10.1126/science.1218344 PMID: 22556258
- Hugerth LW, Larsson J, Alneberg J, Lindh MV, Legrand C, Pinhassi J, et al. Metagenome-assembled genomes uncover a global brackish microbiome. Genome biology. 2015; 16(1):1–18.
- 60. Voget S, Wemheuer B, Brinkhoff T, Vollmers J, Dietrich S, Giebel H-A, et al. Adaptation of an abundant Roseobacter RCA organism to pelagic systems revealed by genomic and transcriptomic analyses. The ISME journal. 2015; 9(2):371–84. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2014.134</u> PMID: <u>25083934</u>
- Howard EC, Henriksen JR, Buchan A, Reisch CR, Bürgmann H, Welsh R, et al. Bacterial taxa that limit sulfur flux from the ocean. Science. 2006; 314(5799):649–52. PMID: <u>17068264</u>
- Kisand V, Wikner J. Combining culture-dependent and-independent methodologies for estimation of richness of estuarine bacterioplankton consuming riverine dissolved organic matter. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2003; 69(6):3607–16. PMID: <u>12788769</u>
- Pinhassi J, Sala MM, Havskum H, Peters F, Guadayol O, Malits A, et al. Changes in bacterioplankton composition under different phytoplankton regimens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2004; 70(11):6753–66. PMID: <u>15528542</u>
- Klindworth A, Mann AJ, Huang S, Wichels A, Quast C, Waldmann J, et al. Diversity and activity of marine bacterioplankton during a diatom bloom in the North Sea assessed by total RNA and pyrotag sequencing. Marine genomics. 2014; 18:185–92. doi: 10.1016/j.margen.2014.08.007 PMID: 25211053

- Lips I, Rünk N, Kikas V, Meerits A, Lips U. High-resolution dynamics of the spring bloom in the Gulf of Finland of the Baltic Sea. Journal of Marine Systems. 2014; 129:135–49.
- Eyice O, Namura M, Chen Y, Mead A, Samavedam S, Schafer H. SIP metagenomics identifies uncultivated Methylophilaceae as dimethylsulphide degrading bacteria in soil and lake sediment. ISME J. 2015; 9(11):2336–48. doi: <u>10.1038/ismej.2015.37</u> PMID: <u>25822481</u>
- Khan ST, Horiba Y, Yamamoto M, Hiraishi A. Members of the family Comamonadaceae as primary poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate)-degrading denitrifiers in activated sludge as revealed by a polyphasic approach. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2002; 68(7):3206–14. PMID: 12088996
- Li H, Xing P, Wu QL. Characterization of the bacterial community composition in a hypoxic zone induced by Microcystis blooms in Lake Taihu, China. FEMS microbiology ecology. 2012; 79(3):773–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01262.x PMID: 22126440
- Zakharova YR, Galachyants YP, Kurilkina MI, Likhoshvay AV, Petrova DP, Shishlyannikov SM, et al. The structure of microbial community and degradation of diatoms in the deep near-bottom layer of Lake Baikal. PloS one. 2013; 8(4):e59977. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0059977</u> PMID: <u>23560063</u>
- Schmale O, Schneider von Deimling J, Gülzow W, Nausch G, Waniek J, Rehder G. Distribution of methane in the water column of the Baltic Sea. Geophysical Research Letters. 2010; 37(12).
- Schmale O, Blumenberg M, Kießlich K, Jakobs G, Berndmeyer C, Labrenz M, et al. Aerobic methanotrophy within the pelagic redox-zone of the Gotland Deep (central Baltic Sea). Biogeosciences. 2012; 9 (12):4969–77.
- 72. Kalyuzhnaya MG, Khmelenina V, Eshinimaev B, Sorokin D, Fuse H, Lidstrom M, et al. Classification of halo (alkali) philic and halo (alkali) tolerant methanotrophs provisionally assigned to the genera Methylomicrobium and Methylobacter and emended description of the genus Methylomicrobium. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2008; 58(3):591–6.
- 73. Beck DA, Kalyuzhnaya MG, Malfatti S, Tringe SG, del Rio TG, Ivanova N, et al. A metagenomic insight into freshwater methane-utilizing communities and evidence for cooperation between the Methylococcaceae and the Methylophilaceae. PeerJ. 2013; 1:e23. doi: <u>10.7717/peerj.23</u> PMID: <u>23638358</u>
- Hernandez ME, Beck DA, Lidstrom ME, Chistoserdova L. Oxygen availability is a major factor in determining the composition of microbial communities involved in methane oxidation. PeerJ. 2015; 3:e801. doi: 10.7717/peerj.801 PMID: 25755930
- 75. Lindh MV, Figueroa D, Sjöstedt J, Baltar F, Lundin D, Andersson A, et al. Transplant experiments uncover Baltic Sea basin-specific responses in bacterioplankton community composition and metabolic activities. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2015; 6. doi: <u>10.3389/fmicb.2015.00223</u>
- 76. Kan J, Suzuki MT, Wang K, Evans SE, Chen F. High temporal but low spatial heterogeneity of bacterioplankton in the Chesapeake Bay. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2007; 73(21):6776–89. PMID: <u>17827310</u>
- Liu J, Fu B, Yang H, Zhao M, He B, Zhang X-H. Phylogenetic shifts of bacterioplankton community composition along the Pearl Estuary: the potential impact of hypoxia and nutrients. Frontiers in microbiology. 2015; 6.
- 78. Zaikova E, Walsh DA, Stilwell CP, Mohn WW, Tortell PD, Hallam SJ. Microbial community dynamics in a seasonally anoxic fjord: Saanich Inlet, British Columbia. Environmental microbiology. 2010; 12 (1):172–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02058.x PMID: 19788414
- Baas Becking LGM. Geobiologie of inleiding tot de milieukunde. Den Haag: W.P. Van Stockum & Zoon; 1934.
- 80. Beijerinck MW. De infusies en de ontdekking der backteriën. Jaarboek van de Koninklijke Aakademie voor Wetenschappen. Amsterdam: Müller; 1913.
- Leibold MA, Holyoak M, Mouquet N, Amarasekare P, Chase JM, Hoopes MF, et al. The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecology Letters. 2004; 7(7):601–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00608.x
- Crump BC, Peranteau C, Beckingham B, Cornwell JC. Respiratory succession and community succession of bacterioplankton in seasonally anoxic estuarine waters. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2007; 73(21):6802–10. PMID: <u>17766441</u>

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is hard to overstate the gratitude I feel towards my advisor, Dr. Inga Lips; without her given opportunity, inspiration, resources, counselling, and patience; this thesis would have never materialized in its current form. Much guilt also falls upon Prof. Madis Metsis, who agreed to spill his know-how, laboratory space and excellent advice; despite already handling a horde of Ph.D. students when I arrived at his door. I have never gotten to that door, when my former advisor, now co-author and dear colleague, Dr. Veljo Kisand, had not pointed me towards marine science and almost empty "niche" in bacterioplankton research in Estonia. I would also like to thank my co-author, Jaak Simm, who has made me friends with R and helped to troubleshoot many bioinformatics problems. Many thanks go to Dr. Kai Künnis-Beres, who has offered much support and reviewed the dissertation.

I am thankful to colleagues in Marine Systems Institute and other co-authors of papers, who generously have shared their time, expertise and provided helpful suggestions and feedback. The present work was financially supported by the Estonian Science Foundation (grant no. 8930 and 9023), institutional research funding IUT (19-6) of the Estonian Ministry of Education. Some of the samples were obtained during the environmental monitoring cruise of Nord Stream pipeline construction ordered and funded by the Estonian Ministry of the Environment (contract number: 4-1.1/180, 16.07.2010). Biotap LLC. provided resources and usage of their 454 pyrosequencing pipeline. Finally, I would like to thank my wise parents Anu and Kalev; and my beautiful siblings Sigrid and Johannes. I am also grateful to Anna Velts for believing in me and offering me heaven and hell throughout my Ph.D. studies.

ABSTRACT

Spatiotemporal niche-partitioning of bacterioplankton community across environmental gradients in the Baltic Sea

Estuaries and other coastal waterbodies account for most anthropogenic influenced ecosystems in the world. Such ecosystems also encounter similar problems; most of which are mediated or directly caused by micro-organism: eutrophication fuelled oxygen depletion, harmful algal blooms, production of hazardous compounds (e.g. H₂S and CH₄), and infections by faecal-derived pathogens. Hence, understanding the mechanisms of microbial community assemblage and functional roles in these habitats regarding ecosystem management and sustainable development of these areas becomes crucial. The objective of this Ph.D. thesis was to further the progress of the theory of microbial ecology through investigating dynamics of bacterioplankton community composition (BCC) in one of such ecosystems – the easternmost sub-basin of the Baltic Sea, the Gulf of Finland.

Massively parallel tag sequencing of 16S rDNA fragments was used to determine bacterioplankton community structure throughout all seasons, in variable locations and at different depths. The substantial spatiotemporal physicochemical heterogeneity was reflected on the contrasting dynamics of the microbial community. Combined redox-, salinity- and substrate-driven niche partitioning were identified as major factors shaping the BCC. The Gulf of Finland is vertically stratified: the permanent halocline is co-localized with oxycline, the seasonal thermocline is preventing mixing with the nutrient rich intermediate layer. The inflow of hypoxic and more saline Baltic Proper waters in the near bottom layer increase the vertical stratification of the water column and strength of different clines. The most contrasting shifts in the BCC occurred vertically across the oxvcline. Bacterial populations (mainly chemolithoautotrophic Epsilonproteobacteria) capable of using alternative terminal electron acceptors to oxygen becoming predominant in the hypoxic layer.

Some of the relatively abundant taxa had their closest database affiliations isolated from geographically distant estuaries, but with similar physicochemical structuring. The similarities expanded to the overall phylogenetic structuring of BCC in these estuaries. These results contribute to the understanding of emerging pattern in BCCs that occupy hydrographically similar estuaries dispersed all over the world and suggest the presence of a global redox- and salinity-driven metacommunity. We conclude that capability to survive (or benefit from) shifts between oxic and hypoxic conditions is vital adaptation for bacteria to thrive in such environments. The results of the present study have important implications for understanding long-term ecological and biogeochemical impacts of hypoxia expansion in the Baltic Sea (and similar ecosystems), as well global biogeography of bacteria specialized inhabiting similar ecosystems.

RESÜMEE

Bakterplanktoni koosluse ajalis-ruumiline nišijaotus läbi keskkonnagradientide Läänemeres

Estuaarid ja teised rannikumere elupaigad on ühed enim inimtegevuse poolt mõjutatud ökosüsteemid. Neis ökosüsteemides esinevad sarnased, kaudselt või otseselt vee mikroorganismide poolt põhjustatud probleemid, nagu eutrofeerumisest tingitud hapnikuvaegus, kahjulikud vetikaõitsengud, mürgiste või kahjulike ainete (näiteks H₂S and CH₄) ja fekaalse reostusega kaasnevate patogeenide esinemine. Seetõttu on bakterplanktoni koosluse koosseisu kujunemise mehhanismide ja funktsionaalsete rollide mõistmine nimetatud ökosüsteemides oluline, seda eriti ökosüsteemi jätkusuutliku majandamise kontekstis. Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärgiks oli edendada mikroobi ökoloogia alaseid teadmisi ning selgitada bakterplanktoni koosluse nišijaotuse mõjutegureid ühes inimtegevusest tugevalt mõjutatud ökosüsteemis – Soome lahes.

Doktoritöö raames viidi läbi bakterplanktoni koosluse koosseisu ajalis-ruumilise muutlikkuse analüüs kasutades kogu koosluse DNA-st PCR-amplifitseeritud 16S rRNA geeni fragmentide mass-sekveneerimist. Analüüsi teostamiseks koguti proove kõikidel aastaaegadel erinevatest Soome lahe piirkondadest ja sügavustest. Soome lahe füüsikalis-keemiline heterogeensus läbi aja ja ruumi peegeldus ka bakterplanktoni koosluse koosseisu dünaamikas. Redoks-, soolsus ja substraadipõhised nišijaotused osutusid peamisteks teguriteks bakterplanktoni struktuuri mõjutamisel. Soome laht on vertikaalselt kihistunud ning suurimad muutused bakterplanktoni koosluses toimusid läbi koosesineva hapniku ja soolsuse hüppekihi. Põhjalähedases hüpoksilises kihis domineerisid populatsioonid, mis on võimelised hapniku asemel kasutama alternatiivseid terminaalseid elektronide aktseptoreid, peamiselt kemolitoautotroofsed epsilonproteobakterid.

suhteliselt arvukad bakterite populatsioonid omasid lähimaid Mitmed andmebaasi vasteid annotatsioonidega, mis olid isoleeritud sarnase füüsikaliskeemilise taustaga estuaaridest mujal maailmas. Soome lahe bakterplanktoni koosluse laiem võrdlus teiste sarnaste ökosüteemidega tõi esile veelgi enam sarnasusi koosluste fülogeneetilises struktuuris. Saadud tulemused võimaldavad näha teatud ökotüüpide globaalset esinemismustrit, mis omakorda viitab kosmopoliitse soolsuse ja redokstingimuste poolt kujundatud metakoosluste Vertikaalselt kihistunud ökosüsteemis saavad eelise bakterite esinemisele. populatsioonid, kes on võimelised taluma ajutist hapniku puudust või suudavad kasutada alternatiivseid terminaalseid elektronide aktseptoreid. Doktoritöö tulemused aitavad paremini mõista pikaajalisi ökoloogilisi ja biogeokeemilisi mõjusid, mis kaasnevad hüpoksia levikuga Läänemeres (ja sarnastes ökosüsteemides).

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

1. Isikuandmed

Ees- ja perekonnanimi	Peeter Laas
Sünniaeg ja -koht	14. september 1985, Tartu (Eesti)
Kodakondsus	Eesti
E-posti aadress	peeter.laas@msi.ttu.ee

2. Hariduskäik

Õppeasutus (nimetus lõpetamise ajal)	Lõpetamise aeg	Haridus (eriala/kraad)
Tartu Kommertsgümnaasium	2001	Põhiharidus
Hugo Treffneri Gümnaasium	2004	Keskharidus
Tartu Ülikool	2008	Geenitehnoloogia, B.Sc.
Tartu Ülikool	2010	Geenitehnoloogia, M.Sc.

3. Keelteoskus (alg-, kesk- või kõrgtase)

Keel	Tase
Eesti keel	Emakeel
Inglise keel	Kõrgtase
Vene keel	Kesktase
Saksa keel	Algtase

4. Teenistuskäik

Töötamise aeg	Tööandja nimetus	Ametikoht
2009-2010	Tartu Ülikooli Ökoloogia- ja	laborant
	Maateaduste Instituut	
2010-2012	TTÜ Meresüsteemide Instituut	Insener
2013-tänaseni	TTÜ Meresüsteemide Instituut	Nooremteadur

5. Teadustegevus

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Metsis, M. (2014). Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). *Journal of Marine Systems*, 129, 127 - 134.

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Lips, U., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Redoxspecialized bacterioplankton metacommunity in a temperate estuary. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0122304 Laas, P., Šatova, E., Lips, I., Lips, U., Simm, J., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Near-bottom hypoxia impacts dynamics of bacterioplankton assemblage throughout water column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). *PLoS ONE*, 11(5): e0156147.

6. Juhendatud väitekirjad

Elina Šatova, magistritöö "Bakterplanktoni koosluse ajalis-ruumiline muutlikkus läbi vertikaalsete hüppekihtide Soome lahes". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia instituut, 2015.

7. Kursused

17.09-15.10.2010 – praktikant MESOAQUA eksperimendil "Dynamics of microbial food webs and mixotrophy in a light gradient" (Kreeta, Kreeka)

28.05.2013 – BD Accuri C6 koolitus (Lund, Rootsi)

CURRICULUM VITAE

1. Personal data

Name	Peeter Laas
Date and place of birth E-mail address	14 September 1985, Estonia peeter.laas@msi.ttu.ee

2. Education

Educational institution	Graduation	Education
	year	(field of study/degree)
Tartu Secondary School of	2001	Secondary school
Business		_
Hugo Treffner Gymnasium	2004	High school
University of Tartu	2008	Gene technology, BSc
University of Tartu	2010	Gene technology, MSc

3. Language competence/skills (fluent, average, basic skills)

Language	Level
Estonian	Native language
English	Fluent
Russian	Average
German	Basic Skills

4. Professional employment

Period	Organisation	Position
2009-2010	Institute of Ecology and Earth	Lab assistant
	Sciences at UT	
2010-2012	Marine Systems Institute at	Engineer
	TUT	
2013-present	Marine Systems Institute at	Junior Researcher
	TUT	

5. Scientific work

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Metsis, M. (2014). Spatial variability of winter bacterioplankton community composition in the Gulf of Finland (the Baltic Sea). *Journal of Marine Systems*, 129, 127 - 134.

Laas, P., Simm, J., Lips, I., Lips, U., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Redoxspecialized bacterioplankton metacommunity in a temperate estuary. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0122304 Laas, P., Šatova, E., Lips, I., Lips, U., Simm, J., Kisand, V., Metsis, M. (2015). Near-bottom hypoxia impacts dynamics of bacterioplankton assemblage throughout water column of the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). *PLoS ONE*, 11(5): e0156147.

6. Theses supervised

Elina Šatova, Master's Thesis "Spatio-temporal variation of bacterioplankton community composition across vertical clines in the Gulf of Finland". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2015.

7. Special courses

17.09-15.10.2010 – participated as a trainee in MESOAQUA experiment "Dynamics of microbial food webs and mixotrophy in a light gradient" (Crete, Greece)

28.05.2013 – BD Accuri C6 meeting/training (Lund, Rootsi)

DISSERTATIONS DEFENDED AT TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES

1. Olav Kongas. Nonlinear Dynamics in Modeling Cardiac Arrhytmias. 1998.

2. **Kalju Vanatalu**. Optimization of Processes of Microbial Biosynthesis of Isotopically Labeled Biomolecules and Their Complexes. 1999.

3. Ahto Buldas. An Algebraic Approach to the Structure of Graphs. 1999.

4. **Monika Drews**. A Metabolic Study of Insect Cells in Batch and Continuous Culture: Application of Chemostat and Turbidostat to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. 1999.

5. **Eola Valdre**. Endothelial-Specific Regulation of Vessel Formation: Role of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. 2000.

6. Kalju Lott. Doping and Defect Thermodynamic Equilibrium in ZnS. 2000.

7. **Reet Koljak**. Novel Fatty Acid Dioxygenases from the Corals *Plexaura homomalla* and *Gersemia fruticosa*. 2001.

8. Anne Paju. Asymmetric oxidation of Prochiral and Racemic Ketones by Using Sharpless Catalyst. 2001.

9. Marko Vendelin. Cardiac Mechanoenergetics in silico. 2001.

10. **Pearu Peterson**. Multi-Soliton Interactions and the Inverse Problem of Wave Crest. 2001.

11. Anne Menert. Microcalorimetry of Anaerobic Digestion. 2001.

12. **Toomas Tiivel**. The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane in *in vivo* Regulation of Respiration in Normal Heart and Skeletal Muscle Cell. 2002.

13. **Olle Hints**. Ordovician Scolecodonts of Estonia and Neighbouring Areas: Taxonomy, Distribution, Palaeoecology, and Application. 2002.

14. Jaak Nõlvak. Chitinozoan Biostratigrapy in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. 2002.

15. Liivi Kluge. On Algebraic Structure of Pre-Operad. 2002.

16. **Jaanus Lass**. Biosignal Interpretation: Study of Cardiac Arrhytmias and Electromagnetic Field Effects on Human Nervous System. 2002.

17. Janek Peterson. Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Modification of PAMAM Dendrimers. 2002.

18. **Merike Vaher**. Room Temperature Ionic Liquids as Background Electrolyte Additives in Capillary Electrophoresis. 2002.

19. Valdek Mikli. Electron Microscopy and Image Analysis Study of Powdered Hardmetal Materials and Optoelectronic Thin Films. 2003.

20. Mart Viljus. The Microstructure and Properties of Fine-Grained Cermets. 2003.

21. Signe Kask. Identification and Characterization of Dairy-Related *Lactobacillus*. 2003.

22. **Tiiu-Mai Laht**. Influence of Microstructure of the Curd on Enzymatic and Microbiological Processes in Swiss-Type Cheese. 2003.

23. Anne Kuusksalu. 2–5A Synthetase in the Marine Sponge Geodia cydonium. 2003.

24. **Sergei Bereznev**. Solar Cells Based on Polycristalline Copper-Indium Chalcogenides and Conductive Polymers. 2003.

25. Kadri Kriis. Asymmetric Synthesis of C_2 -Symmetric Bimorpholines and Their Application as Chiral Ligands in the Transfer Hydrogenation of Aromatic Ketones. 2004.

26. Jekaterina Reut. Polypyrrole Coatings on Conducting and Insulating Substracts. 2004.

27. Sven Nõmm. Realization and Identification of Discrete-Time Nonlinear Systems. 2004.

28. **Olga Kijatkina**. Deposition of Copper Indium Disulphide Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2004.

29. Gert Tamberg. On Sampling Operators Defined by Rogosinski, Hann and Blackman Windows. 2004.

30. Monika Übner. Interaction of Humic Substances with Metal Cations. 2004.

31. Kaarel Adamberg. Growth Characteristics of Non-Starter Lactic Acid Bacteria from Cheese. 2004.

32. Imre Vallikivi. Lipase-Catalysed Reactions of Prostaglandins. 2004.

33. Merike Peld. Substituted Apatites as Sorbents for Heavy Metals. 2005.

34. **Vitali Syritski**. Study of Synthesis and Redox Switching of Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) by Using *in-situ* Techniques. 2004.

35. Lee Põllumaa. Evaluation of Ecotoxicological Effects Related to Oil Shale Industry. 2004.

36. Riina Aav. Synthesis of 9,11-Secosterols Intermediates. 2005.

37. Andres Braunbrück. Wave Interaction in Weakly Inhomogeneous Materials. 2005.

38. Robert Kitt. Generalised Scale-Invariance in Financial Time Series. 2005.

39. **Juss Pavelson**. Mesoscale Physical Processes and the Related Impact on the Summer Nutrient Fields and Phytoplankton Blooms in the Western Gulf of Finland. 2005.

40. **Olari Ilison**. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Media with Higher Order Dispersive and Nonlinear Effects. 2005.

41. Maksim Säkki. Intermittency and Long-Range Structurization of Heart Rate. 2005.

42. Enli Kiipli. Modelling Seawater Chemistry of the East Baltic Basin in the Late Ordovician–Early Silurian. 2005.

43. **Igor Golovtsov**. Modification of Conductive Properties and Processability of Polyparaphenylene, Polypyrrole and polyaniline. 2005.

44. **Katrin Laos**. Interaction Between Furcellaran and the Globular Proteins (Bovine Serum Albumin β-Lactoglobulin). 2005.

45. **Arvo Mere**. Structural and Electrical Properties of Spray Deposited Copper Indium Disulphide Films for Solar Cells. 2006.

46. **Sille Ehala**. Development and Application of Various On- and Off-Line Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Bioactive Compounds. 2006.

47. **Maria Kulp**. Capillary Electrophoretic Monitoring of Biochemical Reaction Kinetics. 2006.

48. Anu Aaspõllu. Proteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom Affecting Hemostasis. 2006.

49. Lyudmila Chekulayeva. Photosensitized Inactivation of Tumor Cells by Porphyrins and Chlorins. 2006.

50. **Merle Uudsemaa**. Quantum-Chemical Modeling of Solvated First Row Transition Metal Ions. 2006.

51. Tagli Pitsi. Nutrition Situation of Pre-School Children in Estonia from 1995 to 2004. 2006.

52. **Angela Ivask**. Luminescent Recombinant Sensor Bacteria for the Analysis of Bioavailable Heavy Metals. 2006.

53. **Tiina Lõugas**. Study on Physico-Chemical Properties and Some Bioactive Compounds of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). 2006.

54. **Kaja Kasemets**. Effect of Changing Environmental Conditions on the Fermentative Growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisae* S288C: Auxo-accelerostat Study. 2006.

55. **Ildar Nisamedtinov**. Application of ¹³C and Fluorescence Labeling in Metabolic Studies of *Saccharomyces* spp. 2006.

56. Alar Leibak. On Additive Generalisation of Voronoï's Theory of Perfect Forms over Algebraic Number Fields. 2006.

57. Andri Jagomägi. Photoluminescence of Chalcopyrite Tellurides. 2006.

58. **Tõnu Martma**. Application of Carbon Isotopes to the Study of the Ordovician and Silurian of the Baltic. 2006.

59. **Marit Kauk**. Chemical Composition of CuInSe₂ Monograin Powders for Solar Cell Application. 2006.

60. Julia Kois. Electrochemical Deposition of CuInSe₂ Thin Films for Photovoltaic Applications. 2006.

61. Ilona Oja Açık. Sol-Gel Deposition of Titanium Dioxide Films. 2007.

62. **Tiia Anmann**. Integrated and Organized Cellular Bioenergetic Systems in Heart and Brain. 2007.

63. **Katrin Trummal**. Purification, Characterization and Specificity Studies of Metalloproteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom. 2007.

64. **Gennadi Lessin**. Biochemical Definition of Coastal Zone Using Numerical Modeling and Measurement Data. 2007.

65. Enno Pais. Inverse problems to determine non-homogeneous degenerate memory kernels in heat flow. 2007.

66. Maria Borissova. Capillary Electrophoresis on Alkylimidazolium Salts. 2007.

67. Karin Valmsen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Coral *Plexaura homomalla*: Control of Prostaglandin Stereochemistry at Carbon 15 by Cyclooxygenases. 2007.

68. **Kristjan Piirimäe**. Long-Term Changes of Nutrient Fluxes in the Drainage Basin of the Gulf of Finland – Application of the PolFlow Model. 2007.

69. **Tatjana Dedova**. Chemical Spray Pyrolysis Deposition of Zinc Sulfide Thin Films and Zinc Oxide Nanostructured Layers. 2007.

70. Katrin Tomson. Production of Labelled Recombinant Proteins in Fed-Batch Systems in *Escherichia coli*. 2007.

71. Cecilia Sarmiento. Suppressors of RNA Silencing in Plants. 2008.

72. Vilja Mardla. Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation with Combination of Antiplatelet Agents. 2008.

73. **Maie Bachmann**. Effect of Modulated Microwave Radiation on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2008.

74. Dan Hüvonen. Terahertz Spectroscopy of Low-Dimensional Spin Systems. 2008.

75. Ly Villo. Stereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Deoxy Sugar Esters Involving *Candida antarctica* Lipase B. 2008.

76. Johan Anton. Technology of Integrated Photoelasticity for Residual Stress Measurement in Glass Articles of Axisymmetric Shape. 2008.

77. **Olga Volobujeva**. SEM Study of Selenization of Different Thin Metallic Films. 2008.

78. Artur Jõgi. Synthesis of 4'-Substituted 2,3'-dideoxynucleoside Analogues. 2008.

79. **Mario Kadastik**. Doubly Charged Higgs Boson Decays and Implications on Neutrino Physics. 2008.

80. **Fernando Pérez-Caballero**. Carbon Aerogels from 5-Methylresorcinol-Formaldehyde Gels. 2008.

81. **Sirje Vaask**. The Comparability, Reproducibility and Validity of Estonian Food Consumption Surveys. 2008.

82. **Anna Menaker**. Electrosynthesized Conducting Polymers, Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), for Molecular Imprinting. 2009.

83. Lauri Ilison. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Hierarchical Korteweg-de Vries Type Systems. 2009.

84. **Kaia Ernits**. Study of In₂S₃ and ZnS Thin Films Deposited by Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis and Chemical Deposition. 2009.

85. Veljo Sinivee. Portable Spectrometer for Ionizing Radiation "Gammamapper". 2009.

86. **Jüri Virkepu**. On Lagrange Formalism for Lie Theory and Operadic Harmonic Oscillator in Low Dimensions. 2009.

87. Marko Piirsoo. Deciphering Molecular Basis of Schwann Cell Development. 2009.

88. Kati Helmja. Determination of Phenolic Compounds and Their Antioxidative Capability in Plant Extracts. 2010.

89. **Merike Sõmera**. Sobemoviruses: Genomic Organization, Potential for Recombination and Necessity of P1 in Systemic Infection. 2010.

90. **Kristjan Laes**. Preparation and Impedance Spectroscopy of Hybrid Structures Based on CuIn₃Se₅ Photoabsorber. 2010.

91. **Kristin Lippur**. Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,2'-Bimorpholine and its 5,5'-Substituted Derivatives. 2010.

92. Merike Luman. Dialysis Dose and Nutrition Assessment by an Optical Method. 2010.

93. **Mihhail Berezovski**. Numerical Simulation of Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous and Microstructured Materials. 2010.

94. Tamara Aid-Pavlidis. Structure and Regulation of BDNF Gene. 2010.

95. **Olga Bragina**. The Role of Sonic Hedgehog Pathway in Neuro- and Tumorigenesis. 2010.

96. Merle Randrüüt. Wave Propagation in Microstructured Solids: Solitary and Periodic Waves. 2010.

97. **Marju Laars**. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael and Aldol Reactions Mediated by Cyclic Amines. 2010.

98. **Maarja Grossberg**. Optical Properties of Multinary Semiconductor Compounds for Photovoltaic Applications. 2010.

99. **Alla Maloverjan**. Vertebrate Homologues of Drosophila Fused Kinase and Their Role in Sonic Hedgehog Signalling Pathway. 2010.

100. **Priit Pruunsild**. Neuronal Activity-Dependent Transcription Factors and Regulation of Human *BDNF* Gene. 2010.

101. **Tatjana Knjazeva**. New Approaches in Capillary Electrophoresis for Separation and Study of Proteins. 2011.

102. Atanas Katerski. Chemical Composition of Sprayed Copper Indium Disulfide Films for Nanostructured Solar Cells. 2011.

103. **Kristi Timmo.** Formation of Properties of CuInSe₂ and Cu₂ZnSn(S,Se)₄ Monograin Powders Synthesized in Molten KI. 2011.

104. **Kert Tamm**. Wave Propagation and Interaction in Mindlin-Type Microstructured Solids: Numerical Simulation. 2011.

105. Adrian Popp. Ordovician Proetid Trilobites in Baltoscandia and Germany. 2011.

106. **Ove Pärn**. Sea Ice Deformation Events in the Gulf of Finland and This Impact on Shipping. 2011.

107. Germo Väli. Numerical Experiments on Matter Transport in the Baltic Sea. 2011.108. Andrus Seiman. Point-of-Care Analyser Based on Capillary Electrophoresis.2011.

109. **Olga Katargina**. Tick-Borne Pathogens Circulating in Estonia (Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum, Babesia* Species): Their Prevalence and Genetic Characterization. 2011.

110. **Ingrid Sumeri**. The Study of Probiotic Bacteria in Human Gastrointestinal Tract Simulator. 2011.

111. Kairit Zovo. Functional Characterization of Cellular Copper Proteome. 2011.

112. **Natalja Makarytsheva**. Analysis of Organic Species in Sediments and Soil by High Performance Separation Methods. 2011.

113. **Monika Mortimer**. Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on Unicellular Pro- and Eukaryotic Organisms. 2011.

114. **Kersti Tepp**. Molecular System Bioenergetics of Cardiac Cells: Quantitative Analysis of Structure-Function Relationship. 2011.

115. Anna-Liisa Peikolainen. Organic Aerogels Based on 5-Methylresorcinol. 2011.

116. Leeli Amon. Palaeoecological Reconstruction of Late-Glacial Vegetation Dynamics in Eastern Baltic Area: A View Based on Plant Macrofossil Analysis. 2011.

117. Tanel Peets. Dispersion Analysis of Wave Motion in Microstructured Solids. 2011.

118. Liina Kaupmees. Selenization of Molybdenum as Contact Material in Solar Cells. 2011.

119. Allan Olspert. Properties of VPg and Coat Protein of Sobemoviruses. 2011.

120. Kadri Koppel. Food Category Appraisal Using Sensory Methods. 2011.

121. Jelena Gorbatšova. Development of Methods for CE Analysis of Plant Phenolics and Vitamins. 2011.

122. **Karin Viipsi**. Impact of EDTA and Humic Substances on the Removal of Cd and Zn from Aqueous Solutions by Apatite. 2012.

123. **David Schryer**. Metabolic Flux Analysis of Compartmentalized Systems Using Dynamic Isotopologue Modeling. 2012.

124. Ardo Illaste. Analysis of Molecular Movements in Cardiac Myocytes. 2012.

125. **Indrek Reile**. 3-Alkylcyclopentane-1,2-Diones in Asymmetric Oxidation and Alkylation Reactions. 2012.

126. **Tatjana Tamberg**. Some Classes of Finite 2-Groups and Their Endomorphism Semigroups. 2012.

127. **Taavi Liblik**. Variability of Thermohaline Structure in the Gulf of Finland in Summer. 2012.

128. Priidik Lagemaa. Operational Forecasting in Estonian Marine Waters. 2012.

129. Andrei Errapart. Photoelastic Tomography in Linear and Non-linear Approximation. 2012.

130. **Külliki Krabbi**. Biochemical Diagnosis of Classical Galactosemia and Mucopolysaccharidoses in Estonia. 2012.

131. **Kristel Kaseleht**. Identification of Aroma Compounds in Food using SPME-GC/MS and GC-Olfactometry. 2012.

132. **Kristel Kodar**. Immunoglobulin G Glycosylation Profiling in Patients with Gastric Cancer. 2012.

133. **Kai Rosin**. Solar Radiation and Wind as Agents of the Formation of the Radiation Regime in Water Bodies. 2012.

134. Ann Tiiman. Interactions of Alzheimer's Amyloid-Beta Peptides with Zn(II) and Cu(II) Ions. 2012.

135. **Olga Gavrilova**. Application and Elaboration of Accounting Approaches for Sustainable Development. 2012.

136. **Olesja Bondarenko**. Development of Bacterial Biosensors and Human Stem Cell-Based *In Vitro* Assays for the Toxicological Profiling of Synthetic Nanoparticles. 2012.

137. **Katri Muska**. Study of Composition and Thermal Treatments of Quaternary Compounds for Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2012.

138. **Ranno Nahku**. Validation of Critical Factors for the Quantitative Characterization of Bacterial Physiology in Accelerostat Cultures. 2012.

139. **Petri-Jaan Lahtvee**. Quantitative Omics-level Analysis of Growth Rate Dependent Energy Metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. 2012.

140. **Kerti Orumets**. Molecular Mechanisms Controlling Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Baker's Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its Random Mutagenized Glutathione Over-Accumulating Isolate. 2012.

141. Loreida Timberg. Spice-Cured Sprats Ripening, Sensory Parameters Development, and Quality Indicators. 2012.

142. Anna Mihhalevski. Rye Sourdough Fermentation and Bread Stability. 2012.

143. Liisa Arike. Quantitative Proteomics of *Escherichia coli*: From Relative to Absolute Scale. 2012.

144. Kairi Otto. Deposition of In₂S₃ Thin Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2012.

145. **Mari Sepp**. Functions of the Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Transcription Factor TCF4 in Health and Disease. 2012.

146. **Anna Suhhova**. Detection of the Effect of Weak Stressors on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2012.

147. **Aram Kazarjan**. Development and Production of Extruded Food and Feed Products Containing Probiotic Microorganisms. 2012.

148. **Rivo Uiboupin**. Application of Remote Sensing Methods for the Investigation of Spatio-Temporal Variability of Sea Surface Temperature and Chlorophyll Fields in the Gulf of Finland. 2013.

149. Tiina Kriščiunaite. A Study of Milk Coagulability. 2013.

150. **Tuuli Levandi**. Comparative Study of Cereal Varieties by Analytical Separation Methods and Chemometrics. 2013.

151. **Natalja Kabanova**. Development of a Microcalorimetric Method for the Study of Fermentation Processes. 2013.

152. Himani Khanduri. Magnetic Properties of Functional Oxides. 2013.

153. **Julia Smirnova**. Investigation of Properties and Reaction Mechanisms of Redox-Active Proteins by ESI MS. 2013.

154. **Mervi Sepp**. Estimation of Diffusion Restrictions in Cardiomyocytes Using Kinetic Measurements. 2013.

155. Kersti Jääger. Differentiation and Heterogeneity of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. 2013.

156. Victor Alari. Multi-Scale Wind Wave Modeling in the Baltic Sea. 2013.

157. **Taavi Päll**. Studies of CD44 Hyaluronan Binding Domain as Novel Angiogenesis Inhibitor. 2013.

158. Allan Niidu. Synthesis of Cyclopentane and Tetrahydrofuran Derivatives. 2013.

159. Julia Geller. Detection and Genetic Characterization of *Borrelia* Species Circulating in Tick Population in Estonia. 2013.

160. **Irina Stulova**. The Effects of Milk Composition and Treatment on the Growth of Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2013.

161. Jana Holmar. Optical Method for Uric Acid Removal Assessment During Dialysis. 2013.

162. Kerti Ausmees. Synthesis of Heterobicyclo[3.2.0]heptane Derivatives *via* Multicomponent Cascade Reaction. 2013.

163. **Minna Varikmaa**. Structural and Functional Studies of Mitochondrial Respiration Regulation in Muscle Cells. 2013.

164. Indrek Koppel. Transcriptional Mechanisms of BDNF Gene Regulation. 2014.

165. **Kristjan Pilt**. Optical Pulse Wave Signal Analysis for Determination of Early Arterial Ageing in Diabetic Patients. 2014.

166. **Andres Anier**. Estimation of the Complexity of the Electroencephalogram for Brain Monitoring in Intensive Care. 2014.

167. **Toivo Kallaste**. Pyroclastic Sanidine in the Lower Palaeozoic Bentonites – A Tool for Regional Geological Correlations. 2014.

168. **Erki Kärber**. Properties of ZnO-nanorod/In₂S₃/CuInS₂ Solar Cell and the Constituent Layers Deposited by Chemical Spray Method. 2014.

169. **Julia Lehner**. Formation of Cu₂ZnSnS₄ and Cu₂ZnSnSe₄ by Chalcogenisation of Electrochemically Deposited Precursor Layers. 2014.

170. **Peep Pitk**. Protein- and Lipid-rich Solid Slaughterhouse Waste Anaerobic Codigestion: Resource Analysis and Process Optimization. 2014.

171. **Kaspar Valgepea**. Absolute Quantitative Multi-omics Characterization of Specific Growth Rate-dependent Metabolism of *Escherichia coli*. 2014.

172. Artur Noole. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Synthesis of 3,3'-Disubstituted Oxindoles. 2014.

173. **Robert Tsanev**. Identification and Structure-Functional Characterisation of the Gene Transcriptional Repressor Domain of Human Gli Proteins. 2014.

174. **Dmitri Kartofelev**. Nonlinear Sound Generation Mechanisms in Musical Acoustic. 2014.

175. **Sigrid Hade**. GIS Applications in the Studies of the Palaeozoic Graptolite Argillite and Landscape Change. 2014.

176. Agne Velthut-Meikas. Ovarian Follicle as the Environment of Oocyte Maturation: The Role of Granulosa Cells and Follicular Fluid at Pre-Ovulatory Development. 2014.

177. **Kristel Hälvin**. Determination of B-group Vitamins in Food Using an LC-MS Stable Isotope Dilution Assay. 2014.

178. **Mailis Päri**. Characterization of the Oligoadenylate Synthetase Subgroup from Phylum Porifera. 2014.

179. Jekaterina Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing of *TAF4*: A Dynamic Switch between Distinct Cell Functions. 2014.

180. **Jaanus Suurväli**. Regulator of G Protein Signalling 16 (RGS16): Functions in Immunity and Genomic Location in an Ancient MHC-Related Evolutionarily Conserved Synteny Group. 2014.

181. **Ene Viiard**. Diversity and Stability of Lactic Acid Bacteria During Rye Sourdough Propagation. 2014.

182. Kristella Hansen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in Marine Arthropods and Red Algae. 2014.

183. Helike Lõhelaid. Allene Oxide Synthase-lipoxygenase Pathway in Coral Stress Response. 2015.

184. **Normunds Stivrinš**. Postglacial Environmental Conditions, Vegetation Succession and Human Impact in Latvia. 2015.

185. **Mary-Liis Kütt**. Identification and Characterization of Bioactive Peptides with Antimicrobial and Immunoregulating Properties Derived from Bovine Colostrum and Milk. 2015.

186. **Kazbulat Šogenov**. Petrophysical Models of the CO₂ Plume at Prospective Storage Sites in the Baltic Basin. 2015.

187. **Taavi Raadik**. Application of Modulation Spectroscopy Methods in Photovoltaic Materials Research. 2015.

188. **Reio Põder**. Study of Oxygen Vacancy Dynamics in Sc-doped Ceria with NMR Techniques. 2015.

189. **Sven Siir**. Internal Geochemical Stratification of Bentonites (Altered Volcanic Ash Beds) and its Interpretation. 2015.

190. **Kaur Jaanson**. Novel Transgenic Models Based on Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes for Studying BDNF Gene Regulation. 2015.

191. **Niina Karro**. Analysis of ADP Compartmentation in Cardiomyocytes and Its Role in Protection Against Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening. 2015.

192. **Piret Laht**. B-plexins Regulate the Maturation of Neurons Through Microtubule Dynamics. 2015.

193. **Sergei Žari**. Organocatalytic Asymmetric Addition to Unsaturated 1,4-Dicarbonyl Compounds. 2015.

194. **Natalja Buhhalko**. Processes Influencing the Spatio-temporal Dynamics of Nutrients and Phytoplankton in Summer in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. 2015.

195. **Natalia Maticiuc**. Mechanism of Changes in the Properties of Chemically Deposited CdS Thin Films Induced by Thermal Annealing. 2015.

196. Mario Öeren. Computational Study of Cyclohexylhemicucurbiturils. 2015.

197. Mari Kalda. Mechanoenergetics of a Single Cardiomyocyte. 2015.

198. **Ieva Grudzinska**. Diatom Stratigraphy and Relative Sea Level Changes of the Eastern Baltic Sea over the Holocene. 2015.

199. Anna Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing in Health and Disease. 2015.

200. **Jana Kazarjan**. Investigation of Endogenous Antioxidants and Their Synthetic Analogues by Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

201. **Maria Safonova**. SnS Thin Films Deposition by Chemical Solution Method and Characterization. 2016.

202. Jekaterina Mazina. Detection of Psycho- and Bioactive Drugs in Different Sample Matrices by Fluorescence Spectroscopy and Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

203. Karin Rosenstein. Genes Regulated by Estrogen and Progesterone in Human Endometrium. 2016.

204. Aleksei Tretjakov. A Macromolecular Imprinting Approach to Design Synthetic Receptors for Label-Free Biosensing Applications. 2016.

205. **Mati Danilson**. Temperature Dependent Electrical Properties of Kesterite Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2016.

206. **Kaspar Kevvai**. Applications of ¹⁵N-labeled Yeast Hydrolysates in Metabolic Studies of *Lactococcus lactis* and *Saccharomyces Cerevisiae*. 2016.

207. Kadri Aller. Development and Applications of Chemically Defined Media for Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2016.

208. **Gert Preegel**. Cyclopentane-1,2-dione and Cyclopent-2-en-1-one in Asymmetric Organocatalytic Reactions. 2016.

209. Jekaterina Služenikina. Applications of Marine Scatterometer Winds and Quality Aspects of their Assimilation into Numerical Weather Prediction Model HIRLAM. 2016.

210. Erkki Kask. Study of Kesterite Solar Cell Absorbers by Capacitance Spectroscopy Methods. 2016.

211. **Jürgen Arund**. Major Chromophores and Fluorophores in the Spent Dialysate as Cornerstones for Optical Monitoring of Kidney Replacement Therapy. 2016.

212. Andrei Šamarin. Hybrid PET/MR Imaging of Bone Metabolism and Morphology. 2016.

213. **Kairi Kasemets**. Inverse Problems for Parabolic Integro-Differential Equations with Instant and Integral Conditions. 2016.